Sebastian Moster

Applications of the D-Instanton Calculus in Type IIB Orientifold Compactifications



München 2010

Sebastian Moster

Applications of the D-Instanton Calculus in Type IIB Orientifold Compactifications

Dissertation an der Fakultät für Physik der Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München

> vorgelegt von Sebastian Moster aus Landau i. d. Pfalz

München, den 17.03.2010

Erstgutachter: Priv.-Doz. Dr. rer. nat. Ralph Blumenhagen Zweitgutachter: Prof. Dr. rer. nat. Dieter Lüst Tag der mündlichen Prüfung: 22.06.2010

Zusammenfassung

In dieser Dissertation werden Stringkompaktifizierungen im Formalismus der Typ IIB Stringtheorie mit großem Volumen (engl. "LARGE volume models") untersucht. Diese Klasse von Kompaktifizierungen besitzt eine in vielerlei Hinsicht phänomenologisch interessante effektive Niederenergiefeldtheorie. Thema dieser Arbeit ist die Weiterentwicklung dieser Modelle motiviert durch neuere Erkenntnisse im D-Branen-Instantonkalkül der Stringtheorie.

Nach einer kurzen, allgemeinen Einführung in die Stringtheorie und insbesondere in Typ IIB Orbifolds und deren Konsistenzbedingungen in Kapitel 1 und 2 werden in Kapitel 3 die Modelle mit großem Volumen ausführlich vorgestellt und die bisherigen Erkenntnisse zu deren Phänomenologie – wie Skalenhierarchien, Eichkopplungen, Supersymmetriebrechung und kosmologische Fragestellungen – besprochen.

Ein wesentlicher Bestandteil in der Konstruktion der Modelle mit großem Volumen ist das Stabilisieren von Modulifeldern mit Hilfe von nicht-perturbativen Beiträgen zum Superpotential in der effektiven Niederenergiefeldtheorie, die von D-Branen-Instantonen oder Gauginokondensaten hervorgerufen werden. Mit neueren Erkenntnissen im D-Branen-Instantonkalkül wird in Kapitel 4 gezeigt, dass die Modulistabilisierung mit dem bisher angewendeten Mechanismus nicht mit der Existenz von chiralen Fermionen, wie sie im Standardmodell der Elementarteilchenphysik vorkommen, verträglich ist. Es wird ein modifizierter Mechanismus vorgeschlagen, bei dem die Modulifelder durch Hinzunahme von D-Termen stabilisiert werden.

In Kapitel 5 wird durch sog. "Polyinstantonkorrekturen" zur eichkinetischen Funktion ein neues Szenario mit großem Volumen konstruiert, bei dem die Stringskala ohne Feinabstimmung nicht in einem wie in diesen Modellen üblichen intermediären Bereich von etwa 10^{11} GeV liegt, sondern bei 10^{16} GeV. Somit wird diese Konstruktion auch für große vereinheitlichte Theorien (GUT-Theorien) mit SU(5)- oder SO(10)-Eichgruppen interessant. Dies wird an expliziten Modellen vorgeführt.

Zuletzt wird in Kapitel 6 Supersymmetriebrechung in Szenarien mit großem Volumen behandelt. Durch den neuen Mechanismus zur Modulistabilisierung wird nahegelegt, dass die Supersymmetriebrechung durch ein von den MSSM-Branen völlig isoliertes D-Branen-Instanton hervorgerufen wird. Die Beiträge von unterschiedlichen Mediationsmechanismen zu den Softtermen des MSSM werden detailliert berechnet und verglichen.

Contents

| 1. | Introduction | 1 |
|----|--|------|
| | 1.1. Problems of the Standard Model | . 3 |
| | 1.2. Supersymmetry | . 4 |
| | 1.3. String Theory | . 5 |
| | 1.4. The Vacuum Problem of String Theory | . 6 |
| | 1.5. Approaches to Model Building | . 8 |
| | 1.6. Moduli Stabilization and the LARGE volume scenario | . 8 |
| | 1.7. Overview over this Thesis | . 9 |
| 2. | Type IIB String Theory and Model Building | 11 |
| | 2.1. Ten Dimensional Low-Energy Effective Action | . 11 |
| | 2.2. Compactifications on Calabi–Yau Manifolds | . 15 |
| | 2.3. A No-Go Theorem for Fluxes | . 18 |
| | 2.4. Compactifications on Orientifolds of Calabi–Yau Manifolds | . 20 |
| | 2.5. Compactifications with Non-Trivial Flux | . 24 |
| | 2.6. D-Branes | . 27 |
| | 2.7. D-Brane Instantons | . 31 |
| | 2.8. De Sitter Vacua in String Theory | . 34 |
| 3. | The LARGE Volume Scenario | 39 |
| | 3.1. Perturbative Corrections in α' to the Kähler potential | . 40 |
| | 3.2. The Scalar Potential | . 41 |
| | 3.3. The $\mathbb{P}^4_{[11169]}[18]$ example | . 46 |
| | 3.4. String Loop Corrections to the Kähler Potential | . 49 |
| | 3.5. Scales and Moduli Masses | . 52 |
| | 3.6. Soft SUSY Breaking Terms for Chiral Matter | . 54 |
| | 3.7. Moduli Inflation | . 60 |
| | 3.8. Cosmological Moduli Problem | . 61 |
| 4. | Moduli Stabilization and Chirality | 67 |
| | 4.1. Instantons and Chirality | . 68 |
| | 4.1.1. E3-brane Instantons | . 69 |
| | 4.1.2. Moduli Stabilization for Chiral Models | . 70 |

| | | 4.1.3. The Chiral D7-brane Sector | 73 | |
|-----|-----------------|---|-------|--|
| | | 4.1.4. Moduli Stabilization with D-Terms | 74 | |
| | | 4.1.5. F-term Scalar Potential | 75 | |
| | 4.2. | An Example on the $\mathbb{P}_{[1,3,3,3,5]}[15]$ Calabi–Yau | 78 | |
| | | 4.2.1. The Topology of $\mathbb{P}_{[1,3,3,3,5]}[15]$ | 79 | |
| | | 4.2.2. Moduli Stabilization | 83 | |
| 5. | GUT | Models in the LARGE Volume Scenario | 91 | |
| | 5.1. | Instanton Corrections and Gaugino Condensates | 92 | |
| | 5.2. | Supersymmetric GUT Scenarios | 95 | |
| | | 5.2.1. Model 1: A Starter | 97 | |
| | | 5.2.2. Model 2: A Mixed Anomaly–Gravity Mediated Model | 99 | |
| | | 5.2.3. Model 3: An LVS like Supergravity Mediated Model | 101 | |
| | 5.3. | Comment on the Cosmological Constant | 103 | |
| 6. | SUS | Y Breaking in Local String/F-Theory Models | 107 | |
| | 6.1. | Effective Field Theories and Moduli Stabilization | 108 | |
| | 6.2. | Gravity Mediated Soft Terms | 113 | |
| | | 6.2.1. Structure of Soft Terms | 114 | |
| | | 6.2.2. Summary of Gravity Mediated Soft Masses | 119 | |
| | | 6.2.3. Uplift and Cancellations | 120 | |
| | 6.3. | Consequences for Supersymmetry Breaking | 123 | |
| | | 6.3.1. Gauge Mediated Scenarios | 123 | |
| | | 6.3.2. Implications for the Cosmological Moduli Problem | 126 | |
| | | 6.3.3. Implications for Model Building | 127 | |
| 7. | Sum | mary and Discussion | 129 | |
| A. | Coh | omology classes of line bundles | 135 | |
| B. | The | $\mathbb{P}_{[1,1,3,10,15]}[30]$ Calabi–Yau | 137 | |
| C | T 7 · | | 1 4 4 | |
| Ċ. | Vani | sning D-terms Including Matter | 141 | |
| Bil | oliogr | aphy | 145 | |
| Ac | Acknowledgments | | | |

List of Figures

| 2.1. | Minima in the KKLT construction |
|------|---|
| 4.1. | Singular rigid divisors |
| 4.2. | The potential $V(\mathcal{V}, \tau_b, \tau_c)$ for $\mathcal{V} = 2.15 \cdot 10^{16} \dots \dots$ |
| 4.3. | The potential $V(\mathcal{V}, \tau_b, \tau_c)$ for $\tau_c = 0.33$ |
| 5.1. | Distribution of $m_{3/2}$ for a scan over natural parameters $\ldots \ldots \ldots $ 96 |
| 5.2. | F-term potential of the GUT model I in the vicinity of the minimum 97 |
| 5.3. | F-term potential of the GUT model 2 in the vicinity of the minimum 106 |
| 5.4. | F-term potential of the GUT model 3 in the vicinity of the minimum 106 |
| 5.5. | F-term potential of the Λ model in the vicinity of the minimum 106 |

List of Tables

| Hodge diamond for a Calabi–Yau three-fold | 16 |
|---|---|
| Type IIB $\mathcal{N}=2$ supermultiplets in a Calabi–Yau compactification \ldots \ldots | 18 |
| Type IIB $\mathcal{N}=1$ supermultiplets in orientifold compactifications $\ldots \ldots$ | 22 |
| Chiral spectrum for intersecting D7-branes | 29 |
| | |
| Classical gravity mediated soft terms | 120 |
| | 125 |
| Conomology groups and corresponding monomials for $\mathbb{P}_{[1,3,3,3,5]}[10]$ | 135 |
| Cohomology groups and corresponding monomials for $\mathbb{P}_{[1,1,3,10,15]}[30]$ | 139 |
| | Hodge diamond for a Calabi–Yau three-fold |

1. Introduction

One might call the twentieth century the century of physics. Never before in the history of science, the understanding of the fundamental laws of nature grew faster than in the last decades, and never before such an effort was made to drive our knowledge even further.

The reductionistic approach to describe natural phenomena was tremendously successful: in a multitude of collider experiments, only a handful of basic building blocks of matter could be identified, organized in three families of elementary particles, and there are only four fundamental forces governing their interactions: gravity, electromagnetism, the strong and the weak force. Their dynamics are described by two theories which constitute the two pillars of today's theoretical physics: Einstein's general theory of relativity, published in 1915, which is a classical theory and the standard model of particle physics, formulated in its final form in the seventies by Glashow, Weinberg and Salam, described within the framework of quantum field theory. Together they provide a very detailed and accurate description of nature, including the processes taking place a split second after the Big Bang, the structure formation in the universe up to the complicated collision events in the detectors of highenergy experiments.

The concept of unification of existing theories merging in a more fundamental one was proven to be a fruitful concept to gain new insight into physical processes: Isaac Newton realized in his famous work "Philosophiæ Naturalis Principia Mathematica", published in 1687, that the motion of celestial bodies and of objects on Earth can be described by the same physical laws. As a consequence, a unified theory of motion and gravitation could be derived. In 1873, James Clerk Maxwell merged the at that time completely disconnected theories of electric and magnetic phenomena into a new theory of electromagnetism. With the help of its equations, Maxwell conjectured the existence of electromagnetic waves.

In the context of modern particle physics, the term "unification" is used in a more special sense: quantum field theories (the theoretical framework, the standard model of particle physics is formulated in) rely on so-called gauge symmetry groups. At lower energies, the gauge group of the theory which matches experiments is the product group $SU(3)_c \times U(1)_{e.m.}$. Unification means here that this group structure can be understood as being the result of a symmetry breaking of a larger group. The weak interaction can be unified with the electromagnetic force into the electroweak interaction. The resulting theory has the gauge group $SU(3)_c \times SU(2)_L \times U(1)_Y$. Symmetry breaking is believed to be triggered by a till today hypothetical field — the Higgs field. The detection of the corresponding particle is perhaps the most urgent task of experimental high-energy physics and hoped to be achieved

within the next couple of years with help of the Large Hadron Collider (LHC) at CERN in Geneva.

It is obvious to ask the question if also the two remaining fundamental interactions, i. e. the strong force and gravity, could be unified in this way with the other two. Concerning the strong interaction, this can be achieved quite easily. The resulting class of theories go by the name of "grand unified theories" (GUTs). The most popular gauge groups are SU(5) or SO(10) [1,2]. As symmetry breaking presumably would occur at energies as high as 10^{16} GeV, direct experimental evidence for grand unified theories will not be available in the near future.

For the case of gravity, the situation is more difficult. Being a classical theory, incorporating it into the framework of the standard model would require to reformulate it as a quantum field theory. It turns out that scattering amplitudes involving the graviton contain infinities. As usual in quantum field theory, these can be absorbed by redefining some parameters of the theory. However, in each higher order of the perturbation series, more and more infinities appear requiring more and more parameters — the theory is not renormalizable and thus not a meaningful quantum field theory.

There is a remarkably wide hierarchy in the relative strength of the four fundamental interactions. Gravity is by far the weakest of all. Compared to the next strongest one — the weak interaction — it has a relative strength of 10^{-25} . On the other hand, there is also discrepancy in their long-distance behavior: the strong and the weak interaction have only a range comparable to the size of a nucleus. Electromagnetism is in principle infinitely long ranged, but charged matter organizes itself such that on large scales, the charges cancel and there is no net electric charge. Thus, the only relevant force on large, i. e. cosmological scales, is gravity.

Given these facts, it appears that there is a well defined segregation in the scope of application between the classical general theory of relativity and the three remaining interactions, described by a quantum theory. The former describes the large scale dynamics of space as a whole where the others play no rôle because they are only short ranged, whereas the latter apply to microscopic processes only, where gravity can be neglected anyway due to its weakness.

In view of the fact that these two theory frameworks complement one another in such a successful way and on the other hand seem to be mathematically incompatible, one might wonder if the dream of a single unified theory of all elementary physical processes, sometimes exaggeratedly also called a "theory of everything", is only a wishful thinking and nature is just such that two coexisting theories are necessary to describe it.

However, there are a couple of hints which point to the existence of such a underlying, more fundamental theory of quantum gravity and the other interactions. First of all, in principle there is no upper bound in the energy to which particles can be accelerated to in colliders (or also by natural processes taking place somewhere in the universe). At an energy of roughly 10¹⁹ GeV, the Planck scale, the Compton wavelength of a particle becomes comparable to its Schwarzschild radius and classically should form a black hole. Clearly, a theory which describes gravity in a quantum mechanical manner is necessary in this situation. Similar high energies prevailed in the very early universe in the first few Planck times after the Big Bang.

Moreover, there exists the common belief among the vast majority of high energy physicists that the standard model, besides the lack of a gravitational sector, is an incomplete theory also already well below the Planck scale. This is on the one hand due to the fact that a couple of parameters must be "tuned" throughout a huge number of digits in order to explain experimentally measured data. Such a fine-tuning is usually regarded as being "unnatural" and rather considered as an artifact of the lack of an underlying theory. On the other hand, there exist also a couple of physical phenomena which cannot be described by the standard model in a satisfactory way at all.

1.1. Problems of the Standard Model

The most pressing problem of the standard model is related to the mass of the Higgs particle. Experiments and theoretical considerations bound its value between roughly 115 GeV and 180 GeV. It turns out that this mass parameter receives loop corrections of the order of the ultraviolet cutoff scale. Assuming that the standard model is valid up to very high energies, this scale could be the (reduced) Planck scale $m_P \approx 10^{18}$ GeV. In order to get a physical value for the mass within the experimental bounds, the bare mass parameter must be fine-tuned up to with no less than 30 orders of magnitude. As the need for this high amount of fine-tuning stems ultimately from the large hierarchy between the weak scale and the Planck scale, this puzzle goes by the name "hierarchy problem". Clearly, an extension of the standard model which resolves this issue in a more natural way would be preferable.

A similar situation can be found in QCD. Unlike in the electroweak sector, CP-symmetry is unbroken to very high precision. Also here, this turns out to be an example of fine-tuning, if no further mechanisms beyond the standard model are at work. A CP-violating term in the QCD Lagrangian is characterized by an angular parameter θ . As such, its natural value is expected to be in the order of one. This CP-odd term would cause an electric dipole moment of the neutron, which is however experimentally found to be compatible with zero. In turn, the upper bound which can be put on the angular parameter θ with help of this data is as small as $\theta < 10^{-9}$. For this so-called "strong CP-problem" a solution was proposed in the seventies by Peccei and Quinn: by the introduction of a new scalar particle, the "axion", the parameter θ is set to zero dynamically. Interestingly, particles showing up these properties appear naturally in string theories. Though intensive searches, there is no experimental evidence for axions yet.

The most distinct example for fine-tuning in physics shows up when coupling the standard

model Lagrangian to gravity in a canonical way. It turns out that vacuum fluctuations due to virtual particles create an effective cosmological constant term in the order of $m_{\rm P}^4$. The actual value was measured in 1998 by observing the redshifts of type Ia supernovæ [3]. Indeed, the universe undergoes a phase of accelerated expansion at the moment. Quantitatively this can be described by an effective cosmological constant of approximately $10^{-120} m_{\rm P}^4$, a value which is 120 orders of magnitude smaller than expected by the theory!

It should be noted that here, in contrast to the first two examples of fine-tuning, the cosmological constant problem is not a fine-tuning problem of the standard model by itself as the latter does not contain any gravity related terms. Therefore, the large numerical discrepancy between the theoretical and the experimental value of the cosmological constant could be interpreted as a hint for a missing theory of quantum gravity.

Still, the origin of the accelerated expansion of the universe is completely unknown. Classically in can be modeled by a perfect fluid with negative pressure. As such it constitutes roughly three-quarter of the total energy density of the universe. Due to its mysterious nature, this phenomenon has been given the name "dark energy".

About 22% of the remaining energy density of the universe consists of an unknown form of matter, called "dark matter". This is well supported by observations of the galactic rotation curves which suggest that about half of the mass of galaxies is concentrated in the dark halo. Such a mass distribution cannot be explained with ordinary baryonic matter which tends to clump together and ultimately to form stars. Also theories of structure formation in the early universe as well as further independent observational data point to a similar amount of dark matter in space. This form of matter must be composed of very weakly interacting but massive particles (WIMPs). The standard model does not contain a particle with these properties.

In summary it can be said that the bigger part of the energy density of the universe cannot be described by the standard model of particle physics. In addition, it suffers from severe fine-tuning problems and last but not least, with its nearly 20 free parameters — some with hierarchically different numerical values — possesses a high degree of arbitrariness.

Evidently, a more fundamental theory of particle physics and of gravity is likely to exist.

1.2. Supersymmetry

During the last decades there have been various proposals for extensions of the standard model which solve more or less of the problems mentioned in the last section. The most prominent extension and the one which is considered to be the most likeliest to be proven soon at the LHC is "supersymmetry".¹

The idea is to extend the gauge symmetry algebra of the standard model by a set of anti-

4

¹ In fact, supersymmetry is an export hit of string theory.

commuting generators with the consequence that the particle content of the theory is doubled: every elementary particle comes with a "superpartner" which is equally charged but differing in half of a unit in spin.

Though it was not the original motivation, the most convincing strength of supersymmetry is the fact that it solves the hierarchy problem of the standard model in an elegant way: for every divergent loop diagram entering the Higgs mass, in supersymmetric models there is a corresponding diagram involving the respective superpartner. Due to the reversed spinstatistics, this diagram contributes with the opposite sign compared to the original one and thus cancels the unwanted quantum correction to the Higgs mass of the standard model.

Supersymmetry implies that the superpartners and the known particles of the standard model have the same mass. If supersymmetry were an exact symmetry of nature, the superpartners would have been detected a long time ago already. Thus, if it ought to exist, supersymmetry must be broken spontaneously. This has however two consequences which are quite welcome: firstly, the lightest supersymmetric particle (LSP) may be stable and can serve as the so far unknown constituent of dark matter. Secondly, the running of gauge couplings is altered above the superpartner's masses in such a way that they meet closer at 10^{16} GeV than in non-supersymmetric theories. One can say that gauge unification and supersymmetry go well together.

What appeals about supersymmetry at first glance is embittered though when going into detail: very general sum-rules can be derived from the supersymmetry algebra which constrain the mass of the superpartners to a range where they are excluded experimentally already. The loophole is to introduce a so-called "hidden sector" of particles which do not share any gauge interactions with the standard model ones. Supersymmetry is broken there and "communicated" by a mediation mechanism to the standard model sector. It is not hard to imagine that this reintroduces a high degree of arbitrariness in all supersymmetric models.

1.3. String Theory

Among the candidates for a quantum theory of gravity, the most promising and the most highly developed is in all likelihood string theory [4–11]. In contrast to all usual quantum theories, its basic entity is not point-like but extended in one dimension, like a string.

Originally it was applied in the sixties for the description of mesons. Being a bound state of a quark and an anti-quark, the strong force acts like a little spring between the two constituents, giving rise to a one-dimensionally extended object. With string theory it was possible to reproduce some of the meson's behavior, in particular the characteristic linear relation between energy and spin known as Regge trajectories.

However, with the advent of quantum chromodynamics (QCD) in the mid-seventies, string theory was disfavored as theory of the strong interaction. At the same time it was realized that the properties of a closed string match with those of a graviton. This suggests that string theory should be rather interpreted as a theory of quantum gravity.

The first breakthrough occurred in 1984 when Green and Schwarz showed that type I string theory is anomaly free and therefore suitable as a quantum theory. Only one year later, heterotic string theory was discovered. Exhibiting gauge symmetry with gauge group $E_8 \times E_8$ or SO(32) and containing chiral fermions, it became evident that string theory is not only a candidate for a theory of quantum gravity but for a unified theory of all interactions.

A lot of remarkable achievements have been made since then which support string theory. The most celebrated is perhaps the derivation of the Bekenstein–Hawking entropy formula of black holes $S_{\rm BH} = A/4$. In classical general relativity, the "no-hair theorem" states that a black hole in fact does not have any microstates. Hence the concept of entropy does not apply. In string theory — in contrast to usual quantum field theories — as being a quantum theory of gravity, black holes can be described in terms of dynamical microscopical objects and hence it should be possible to regain the Bekenstein–Hawking entropy. Indeed this was achieved for the first time in 1996 by Strominger and Vafa for a special class of extremal five-dimensional black holes [12].

Another interesting development of string theory started in 1998 when Maldacena proposed a duality of string theory and certain lower dimensional quantum field theories [13]. By "duality" usually an equivalence of two theories is understood where a common expansion parameter is inverted. For instance, string theory in an negatively curved space-time $(AdS_5 \times S^5)$ with string coupling g is dual to a superconformal Yang-Mills theory in four dimensions with coupling 1/g. This is of special appeal since the equivalence allows to study the properties of a strongly coupled field theory, which is usually not under computational control, with the help of a weakly coupled string theory which is controllable. Applications of this remarkable conjecture are strongly coupled phenomena in QCD such as the quark-gluon plasma but also even in condensed matter physics such as superconductivity. The AdS/CFT correspondence has become an important branch of research by itself.

1.4. The Vacuum Problem of String Theory

Quantization of string theory is only consistent in 26 or 10 space-time dimensions in the purely bosonic or the supersymmetric formulation respectively. For obvious reasons, this is phenomenologically not acceptable. The loophole is not to assume a flat and infinitely extended space-time but to "compactify" the extra dimensions to small sizes. Surprisingly, under certain circumstances, the effective four-dimensional theory is still in agreement with experiments if the typical radius of the extra dimensions is as large as the tenth part of a millimeter [14]. Still, the presence of extra dimensions has far-reaching consequences.

A very interesting fact is that the Planck scale in the four-dimensional effective theory is given by the actual, ten-dimensional Planck scale multiplied by the volume of the compactification space. Given that the latter is rather large, it is quite possible that the fundamental scale of quantum gravity is much lower than expected from purely four-dimensional theories. An interesting scenario using this fact was proposed in [15, 16]: the question why the weak scale is so many orders of magnitude smaller than the Planck scale and the resulting hierarchy problem can be nullified by assuming large extra dimensions such that the TeV scale is also the fundamental Planck scale. This has also various other appealing phenomenological implications so that the concept of large extra dimensions has become popular also among non-string-theorists. If this scenario were true, we would have the exciting prospect to probe string theory in a direct way at the LHC already. A couple of experimental signals of this scenario have been worked out in [17, 18].

Size and shape of the compactification space determine various parameters of the fourdimensional effective theory such as the particle spectrum and couplings. Though subject to a multitude of consistency conditions, the geometry of the compactification space is probably not unique. On the contrary: its size and shape are described by dynamical fields in a hilly potential, the so-called "landscape". It is believed that there exists a incredibly large, but *finite* number of minima in this potential for the geometrical fields, giving rise to an equal number of four-dimensional effective field theories. A commonly quoted estimate is in the order of 10^{500} [19].²

Given the enormous number of vacua, it is likely that there exists not only one fourdimensional effective theory which resembles the standard model of particle physics but a large set thereof, possibly all with different behavior at higher energies.³ Critics decry this as complete loss of predictivity of string theory, disqualifying it as scientific theory. However, at the fundamental string scale at the latest, specific and model-independent effects will show up which cannot be explained by a usual quantum field theory. On the other hand, the high number of minima in the landscape may be an explanation for the arbitrariness of the parameters of the standard model: in this picture, they do not have a deeper meaning but are just "environmental" values. It might be possible to gain new insights in this regard by considering statistical methods [22]. Fine-tuning of parameters can be explained by invoking the weak anthropic principle. A prerequisite for this to make sense is to have a large enough ensemble (here vacua) where the parameter in question is scanned. This line of argument was firstly proposed in 1987 by Weinberg for the cosmological constant [23]. The concept of the landscape bears the correct set-up to implement this idea [24].⁴

² In an earlier work [20] even the number of 10^{1500} was proposed.

³ The abundance of standard model like vacua within the landscape was estimated in [21] and found to be less than one in a billion in a toy set-up.

⁴ The anthropic principle is disfavored by many physicists — though unjustified. Applied in this precise sense, the AP makes sense very well. The same argumentation can be applied when asking for the reason why the distance between Earth and Sun is fine-tuned in the way it is.

1.5. Approaches to Model Building

At this stage, there exists only a perturbative formulation of string theory. It is therefore impossible to tell whether upon the inclusion of all non-perturbative effects, the vacuum problem will persist or not. Though this is certainly an interesting and important question, the most obvious hurdle string theory has to clear is to prove that the standard model of particle physics (or its supersymmetric extensions) is contained in the landscape at all.

The phenomenological properties of a quantum field theory can be tuned in a relatively easy way by choosing a couple of parameters. Hence it is not difficult to find the Lagrangian among the infinitely many which fits the experimental data. In four-dimensional compactifications of string theory however, the parameters of the low-energy effective theory are encoded in a complicated way in the geometry and topology of the compactification manifold. A tuning in the parameters of the latter may have a large impact on the phenomenology in four dimension. As a consequence, experimental data cannot be fitted in such a way this is possible in field theory and this is precisely the reason why there is no candidate for a fully realistic string theory model till this day.

In principle there are two ways how a realistic vacuum could be obtained in string theory: in the top-down approach, one firstly chooses a compactification manifold and then determines the phenomenological properties from first principles. As these cannot be "predicted", in face of the huge number of vacua within the landscape it is very unlikely to find the standard model in the foreseeable future in this way.

On the other hand, many physical properties do not depend on the global compactification geometry but can be locally "engineered". The four-dimensional effective gauge theories are realized on D-branes, which are higher dimensional planes on which open strings can end on. This is usually much easier than constructing a globally consistent model. Once having an interesting local set-up at hand, the hope is to embed it finally in an appropriate compactification space, promoting it to a globally consistent model. This kind of bottom–up like ansatz has attracted attention recently, in particular in the context of "F-theory" [25–28], a twelve-dimensional geometrical framework describing a particular (type IIB to be precise) superstring theory in its non-perturbative regime.

1.6. Moduli Stabilization and the LARGE volume scenario

An example for a recent success of string phenomenology is the solution of the problem of "moduli stabilization": the afore mentioned fields encoding size and shape of the compactification space possess a flat potential at lowest order in perturbation theory and are therefore called "moduli fields". As being massless scalars in the four-dimensional effective theory, they give rise to a fifth, long-ranged force which disagrees with observations. Massive scalar particles however give rise to short-ranged interactions and are compatible with experiments as long as they mass is higher than roughly 10^{-3} eV [14]. From cosmological considerations one can derive a mass bound from even 100 TeV as otherwise, these moduli fields may spoil nucleosynthesis.

Other moduli fields determine the gauge coupling of the four-dimensional gauge theory. Without a minimum in the potential, the resulting large fluctuations of these fields contradict constant gauge couplings. Clearly, stabilized moduli fields are a prerequisite for realistic string compactifications and hence this question has become a central issue of string phenomenology.

During the last years, several mechanisms have been proposed which stabilize various classes of moduli: higher p-form fluxes, loop and non-perturbative effects generate a potential and thus freeze the moduli fields. An important milestone was the model of Kachru, Kallosh, Linde and Trivedi (KKLT) which was the first one with all moduli stabilized and positive cosmological constant in the minimum of the potential [29].

A refinement for a scenario with stabilized scenario was proposed recently by Balasubramanian, Berglund, Conlon and Quevedo [30]. As opposed to the KKLT construction where only non-perturbative effects cause moduli freezing, here also perturbative contributions to the moduli potential were taken into account, making this scenario more generic. Under certain circumstances, the resulting moduli potential is such that the overall volume of the compactification space is stabilized at exponentially large values. For this reason, this class of models goes by the name "LARGE volume scenario".

Further investigations revealed that the LARGE volume scenario has a couple of very interesting phenomenological properties. In particular supersymmetry breaking can be achieved in a controlled way, giving rise to realistic patterns of moduli and superpartner masses [31–33].

1.7. Overview over this Thesis

Quite recently, there were new results concerning non-perturbative effects in the moduli potential: Euclidean D-branes populating the compactification space, known as D-brane instantons (or D-instantons), may contribute to the potential of the low-energy effective theory. The number of zero modes of open strings stretching between these instantonic branes and branes supporting the gauge theory determine the form of these non-perturbative terms [34, 35]. An important point is that these instanton effects are necessarily present and cannot be switched on or off by will.

Subject of this thesis is to investigate the influence of these instanton effects in the context of the LARGE volume scenario, especially with respect to the new results of [34, 35] we mentioned before.

Therefore we start in chapter 2 with a review of orientifold compactifications of type IIB string theory, the language in which the LARGE volume scenario is formulated. We put emphasis on the question of how to extract the four-dimensional effective theory from the

compactification data and which consistency conditions have to be met in a global model. We also present the newer results of the D-instanton calculus to the extent we need it for its application to the LARGE volume scenario.

In chapter 3, we review the LARGE volume scenario up to the level of knowledge before the publication of the new results in the D-instanton calculus. We discuss the perturbative corrections in α' and the string coupling constant to the low-energy effective action and show how these lead to the LARGE volume minimum using the well-known example of the compactification space $\mathbb{P}^4_{[1,1,1,6,9]}[18]$. Also some of the particle physical and astrophysical features such as mass scales, SUSY breaking terms, inflation and the cosmological moduli problem (CMP) are elaborated.

The remaining four chapters cover the author's field of research. In chapter 4 we deal with the following puzzle: according to the D-brane instanton calculus, the non-perturbative term which is assumed in the original literature of the LVS has a different form when chiral matter shall be present in the four-dimensional effective theory. This spoils moduli stabilization. This conflict must be resolved since both aspects are important for a meaningful model. We show that this can be achieved with the help of D-terms. This chapter covers the paper [36].

D-brane instantons generate corrections for the gauge kinetic function of the four-dimensional effective theory. In chapter 5, which is based on [37], we show how this effect can be used in order to obtain TeV scale soft terms, coexisting with a string scale at the usual GUT scale of 10^{16} GeV in a natural way. This kind of GUT models is not possible in the original LARGE volume scenario unless significant fine-tuning is accepted. Several mechanisms of SUSY breaking mediation are studied within this set-up.

Inspired by the nice results of chapter 5, we investigate SUSY breaking in GUT-like scenarios more carefully in chapter 6, which is based on [38]. We focus in particular on set-ups in which the SUSY breaking sector is in some sense "sequestered" from the matter sector. These are related to models realized on D3-branes at singularities and also to F-theory models. The soft terms are calculated in detail and we find an interesting suppression of the contributions induced by gravity mediation and also anomaly mediation therein. This suggests that gauge mediation might be the dominant mechanism for SUSY breaking in this set-up. We discuss the phenomenological implications of these findings.

Finally we conclude and discuss the results of this thesis in chapter 7.

2. Type IIB String Theory and Model Building

In this chapter we introduce all techniques and ingredients we need for building semi-realistic four-dimensional string compactifications. After a short overview over the ten-dimensional type IIB superstring theory and its low-energy effective action we describe how to compactify it to four dimensions. Three-form fluxes provide a mechanism to stabilize phenomenologically unwanted massless fields, so-called moduli. However, we prove that in pure Calabi–Yau compactifications it is not possible to have non-trivial flux. An alternative are compactifications on orientifolds of Calabi–Yau manifolds, which are introduced afterwards. In this kind of models we may also include D-branes, which can give rise to chiral matter fields in four dimensions. Related to D-branes are D-brane instantons which furnish a non-perturbative contribution to the low-energy effective action and provide with it another mechanism to stabilize moduli fields. We close with the introduction of the so-called KKLT scenario, a four-dimensional model with all moduli stabilized and positive cosmological constant.

2.1. Ten Dimensional Low-Energy Effective Action

The spectrum of the type II superstring contains a finite number of massless modes as well as an infinite tower of massive excitations. Many phenomenological questions can be addressed by using an effective supergravity theory of the massless modes only. Intuitively this is clear: provided strings are small enough, their "stringy" nature is not visible from larger distances and thus they appear as point particles at the (low) energies, accessible with todays particle colliders. Instead of establishing an effective field theory for all modes and then integrating out the massive ones, a much simpler approach is to write down a field theory for only the massless modes from the beginning. This is justified as the massive string excitations are of the order of the string scale $m_{\rm s} = \ell_{\rm s}^{-1} = \frac{1}{2\pi\sqrt{\alpha'}}$, which is usually assumed to be of the order of the Planck scale $m_{\rm P} \approx 10^{19}$ GeV. Also in the case of compactifications to lower dimensions, the Kaluza–Klein modes have masses of the order of the inverse compactification radii which are typically also of the order of the string scale.¹ Thus if one is interested in the phenomenology of string theory at energies accessible with particle colliders, it is (and will be in the near future) completely sufficient to consider only the massless string modes.

We start with the ten-dimensional action for the superstring in order to identify the massless fields. As type II string theory exhibits $\mathcal{N} = 2$ space-time supersymmetry in ten dimensions,

¹ This picture dramatically changes if one considers compactifications with large extra dimensions. Here the string scale can be as low as a TeV. We will not consider such models in this thesis.

it is natural to construct a supergravity theory as low-energy effective field theory. Supergravity theories are very constrained and the high amount of super- and gauge symmetries in fact fixes the action as soon as we know the field content of the theory.

A superstring sweeps out a two-dimensional surface in the ten-dimensional target spacetime. This so-called world-sheet can be described by a two-dimensional superconformal field theory with the embedding coordinates X^M , $M = 0, \ldots, 9$ as dynamical fields. For world-sheet supersymmetry, their fermionic superpartners $\Psi^M = (\psi^M, \tilde{\psi}^M)^T$ have to be included. There is an obvious proposal for the action of a world-sheet Σ propagating freely in flat ten-dimensional space-time. It reads:

$$S = \frac{1}{2\pi\alpha'} \int_{\Sigma} d^2 z \left(\partial X^M \bar{\partial} X_M + \frac{\alpha'}{2} \left(\psi^M \bar{\partial} \psi_M + \widetilde{\psi}^M \partial \widetilde{\psi}_M \right) \right).$$
(2.1)

Type II string theory contains closed strings only. The equations of motion reveal that the world-sheet field can be split up into independent left- and right-moving (chiral and antichiral) sectors: $X^M = X_L^M(z) + X_R^M(\bar{z}), \ \psi^M = \psi^M(z), \ \tilde{\psi}^M = \tilde{\psi}^M(\bar{z}).$

The boundary conditions allow for two different choices of periodicity of the closed string world-sheet fermions:

$$\psi^{M}(w + 2\pi) = +\psi^{M}(w) \qquad \text{Ramond sector (R)}, \psi^{M}(w + 2\pi) = -\psi^{M}(w) \qquad \text{Neveu-Schwarz sector (NS)}.$$
(2.2)

So far, we treated the string world-sheet as a purely classical object. In order to formulate the world-sheet field theory as a quantum theory, we expand the fields it contains into their oscillation modes:

$$\begin{aligned} X_{L}^{M}(z) &= \frac{x^{M}}{2} - i\frac{\alpha'}{2}p_{L}^{M}\ln(z) + i\sqrt{\frac{\alpha'}{2}}\sum_{n\neq 0}\frac{\alpha_{n}^{M}}{n}z^{-n}, \\ X_{R}^{M}(\bar{z}) &= \frac{x^{M}}{2} - i\frac{\alpha'}{2}p_{R}^{M}\ln(\bar{z}) + i\sqrt{\frac{\alpha'}{2}}\sum_{n\neq 0}\frac{\tilde{\alpha}_{n}^{M}}{n}\bar{z}^{-n}, \\ \psi_{L,\mathrm{R}}^{M}(z) &= \sum_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}d_{n}^{M}z^{-n-1/2}, \qquad \psi_{L,\mathrm{NS}}^{M}(z) = \sum_{r\in\mathbb{Z}+\frac{1}{2}}b_{r}^{M}z^{-r-1/2}, \\ \tilde{\psi}_{R,\mathrm{R}}^{M}(\bar{z}) &= \sum_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}\tilde{d}_{n}^{M}\bar{z}^{-n-1/2}, \qquad \tilde{\psi}_{R,\mathrm{NS}}^{M}(\bar{z}) = \sum_{r\in\mathbb{Z}+\frac{1}{2}}\tilde{b}_{r}^{M}\bar{z}^{-r-1/2}. \end{aligned}$$
(2.3)

In analogy to the harmonic oscillator, the oscillation modes are subject to the usual canonical (anti-)commutation relations and the Hilbert space of excitations is constructed by acting with the raising operators on the vacuum in the respective sector. This is done best in light cone coordinates and upon imposing the light cone gauge condition, in which negative

norm states, so-called "ghosts" do not appear. In light cone coordinates, the dynamical degrees of freedom are given by the transversal directions only, counted by the space-time indices $M = 2, \ldots, 9$. The ground state in the Ramond sector is special in that it turns out to be degenerate: it is described by a real 16-component spinor, transforming in a spin representation of SO(8).

At this stage, the theory suffers from a severe inconsistency: the ground state in the NS sector is a tachyon indicating an instability of the vacuum. In the R sector the ground state is massless, showing that the theory cannot be supersymmetric. Both shortcomings² can be cured by truncating the spectrum with respect to a projection operator called G-parity [39, 40]:

$$G = (-1)^{F+1} = (-1)^{\sum_{r=1/2}^{\infty} b_r^M b_r^M + 1}$$
(NS),

$$G = \Gamma_{11} (-1)^{\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} d_{-n}^M d_n^M}$$
(R),
(2.4)

where F is the world-sheet fermion number. In the NS sector, only the states with positive G-parity are kept. As the ground state has fermion number zero it has negative G-parity and is projected out. In the R sector one has the freedom of choice whether the G-odd oder -even states are projected out. One is left with either a left- or right-handed Majorana–Weyl spinor as the R ground state, exhibiting eight real degrees of freedom. This procedure of truncating the spectrum goes under the name "GSO projection". It may appear rather ad hoc at this stage, however the necessity of truncating the spectrum would appear again when demanding modular invariance of the one- and two-loop partition functions.

For the closed string, the different combinations of Ramond and Neveu–Schwarz fermions in the left- and right-moving sectors respectively give rise to four different closed string sectors. The states in the NS–NS and R–R sectors are space–time bosons whereas the states in the NS–R and R–NS sectors are space–time fermions. The *G*-parity of the Ramond sector can be chosen equal or same for the left- and right-movers. This leads to the two different consistent superstring theories: type IIA and type IIB.

After the GSO projection, the massless states in type IIB string theory, on which we focus from now on, are given by:

$$\begin{split} \tilde{b}^{M}_{-1/2} |0\rangle_{\rm NS} \otimes b^{N}_{-1/2} |0\rangle_{\rm NS}, \\ |\alpha\rangle_{\rm R} \otimes |\alpha\rangle_{\rm R}, \\ \tilde{b}^{M}_{-1/2} |0\rangle_{\rm NS} \otimes |\alpha\rangle_{\rm R}, \\ |\alpha\rangle_{\rm R} \otimes b^{M}_{-1/2} |0\rangle_{\rm NS}. \end{split}$$

$$(2.5)$$

We denoted the Ramond ground state, which is an eight-component spinor, by $|\alpha\rangle_{R}$. Ap-

² Absence of supersymmetry itself is of course not a shortcoming. However the spectrum contains also a massless gravitino and therefore the interacting theory cannot be consistent without supersymmetry.

parently in each sector there are $8 \times 8 = 64$ degrees of freedom. They decompose as follows: in the NS–NS sector, there is an antisymmetric rank-two tensor B_{MN} (Kalb–Ramond field) with 28 states, a symmetric traceless rank-two tensor g_{MN} (graviton) with 35 states and a scalar ϕ (dilaton). In the R–R sector, one obtains a zero-, a two- and a four-form field with self-dual field strength (C_0 , C_2 and C_4 with 1, 28 and 35 degrees of freedom). The NS–R and R–NS sectors contain a spin $\frac{3}{2}$ (gravitino with 56 states) and a spin $\frac{1}{2}$ fermion (dilatino with 8 states) each.

As the number of bosonic and fermionic degrees of freedom agree, it suggests itself that type IIB string theory is space-time supersymmetric. We omit the proof here and simply state the fact that it indeed possesses $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetry in agreement with the fact that there are two gravitinos in the massless spectrum.

The low-energy effective field theory action for the massless modes can in principle be constructed by calculating various string scattering amplitudes and finding a field theory which reproduces the same amplitudes as the string theoretic calculation in the limit $\alpha' \rightarrow 0$. However, there are only few candidate field theories which come into question as supersymmetric theories in ten dimensions are highly constrained. Requiring gauge invariance and closure of the supersymmetry algebra, up to the second derivative level, there are basically only two consistent $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetric theories including gravity. They are called type IIA and type IIB supergravity. Indeed, they turn out to be the correct low-energy effective field theories for type IIA and type IIB string theory.

As we already said, we are interested in a regime where the string length can be neglected and energy is low compared to the string scale and thus supergravity is a good approximation for any string theory model we will build. The type IIB supergravity action is well-known. Its bosonic part reads (in Einstein frame):

$$S_{\rm IIB} = \frac{1}{2\kappa_{10}^2} \int d^{10}x \sqrt{-g} \left(R - \frac{\partial_M \tau \,\partial^M \bar{\tau}}{2(\mathrm{Im}\,\tau)^2} - \frac{1}{2} \frac{|G_3|^2}{\mathrm{Im}\,\tau} - \frac{1}{2} |F_5|^2 \right) + \frac{1}{8i\kappa_{10}^2} \int \frac{1}{\mathrm{Im}\,\tau} C_4 \wedge G_3 \wedge \overline{G}_3, \qquad (2.6)$$

where we have redefined the fields in the following way: $\tau = C_0 + ie^{-\phi}$, $G_3 = F_3 - dB_2$, $F_3 = dC_2 - C_0 \wedge dB_2$ and $F_5 = dC_4 - \frac{1}{2}C_2 \wedge dB_2 + \frac{1}{2}B_2 \wedge dC_2$. The action alone does not give the full equations of motion. It has to be completed with a self-duality constraint: $F_5 = \star_{10}F_5$. Notably, the action exhibits an $SL(2,\mathbb{R})$ symmetry, i. e. it is invariant under the transformations:

$$\tau \to \frac{a\tau + b}{c\tau + d}, \qquad G_3 \to \frac{G_3}{c\tau + d},$$
(2.7)

where $a, b, c, d \in \mathbb{R}$ and ad - bc = 1.

There exists an equivalent formulation of the equations of motion stemming from (2.6), in

which one introduces the additional R–R potentials C_6 and C_8 . The additional physical degrees of freedom are reduced to the original amount by imposing two additional constraints on the field strengths: $F_1 = \star_{10}F_9$ and $F_3 = -\star_{10}F_7$. This so-called "democratic formulation" [41, 42] of the Ramond sector has certain advantages as soon as we discuss D-branes in section 2.6.

2.2. Compactifications on Calabi–Yau Manifolds

The conformal symmetry of the classical string action is in general broken at the quantum level. Only in the special case of ten space–time dimensions, this conformal anomaly is absent. So the consistency of string theory seems to imply a definite dimensionality of space–time, the strings are propagating in, namely ten.³ However from our experience — and also from collider experiments, which are more sensitive to the detection of extra dimensions than the eye — it is clear that there cannot be more than four non-compact space–time dimensions. Nevertheless this does not rule out string theory. The loophole is to assume that six of the nine spatial dimensions are not infinitely extended but curled up to small sizes such that the dynamics of particles in that space appears effectively four-dimensional. Such an asymmetric ten-dimensional space–time \mathcal{M}_{10} can be understood as a product of a four-dimensional non-compact space \mathcal{M}_4 and a compact "internal" space \mathcal{X} , for instance:

$$\mathcal{M}_{10} = \mathcal{M}_4 \times \mathcal{X}.\tag{2.8}$$

In order to respect homogeneity and isotropy of the known universe, the metric on this tendimensional space-time should be such, that it respects the symmetry group of \mathcal{M}_4 . The internal space \mathcal{X} may be highly anisotropic and curved. The most general metric compatible with these requirements on the geometry of space-time reads:

$$ds^{2} = e^{2A(y)}g_{\mu\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu} + e^{-2A(y)}g_{mn}dy^{m}dy^{n}, \qquad (2.9)$$

where x^{μ} and y^{m} are coordinates for four-dimensional space-time and the internal space respectively. Notably, a warp factor $e^{2A(y)}$ can be admitted in the four-dimensional part. However, in many cases the warping is small such that the exponential prefactors can be neglected.⁴

In order not to destroy the supersymmetry of the ten-dimensional string or low-energy effective supergravity theory, the internal space has to fulfill certain geometrical requirements.

³ Strictly speaking there is also the possibility to cancel the conformal anomaly with a non-linear dilaton background, allowing then also a space-time with less than ten dimensions. However, non-linear dilaton backgrounds are not well understood and we will consider critical string theory only.

⁴ There is an interesting application of this fact in the so-called Randall–Sundrum scenario [43] where the warp factor was used to explain the large hierarchy between the Planck scale and the weak scale.

2. Type IIB String Theory and Model Building

 $h^{(0,0)}$ 1 $h^{(1,0)}$ $h^{(0,1)}$ 0 0 $h^{(2,0)}$ $h^{(1,1)}$ $h^{(0,2)}$ $h^{(1,1)}$ 0 0 $h^{(3,0)}$ $h^{(2,1)}$ $h^{(1,2)}$ $h^{(2,1)}$ $h^{(2,1)}$ 1 1 CY three-fold $h^{(3,1)}$ $h^{(2,2)}$ $h^{(1,3)}$ $h^{(1,1)}$ 0 0 $h^{(2,3)}$ $h^{(3,2)}$ 0 0 $h^{(3,3)}$ 1

Table 2.1.: Hodge diamond for a Calabi-Yau three-fold

In particular, the compactification manifold has to admit a covariantly constant spinor. This constrains the manifold to exhibit strict SU(3) holonomy. Such manifolds are called "Calabi–Yau" manifolds and can alternatively be characterized as being complex Kähler manifolds which are Ricci flat or having vanishing first Chern class of the tangent bundle $c_1(T\mathcal{X}) = 0$. Compactifications on Calabi–Yau manifolds exhibit $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetry in four dimensions.

The 4d massless spectrum is affected by the compactification space. Indeed, it is determined by the zero modes of various wave operators on the internal space. We demonstrate this with the example of a ten-dimensional massless scalar $\Phi(x, y)$, where we already distinguished between coordinates on \mathcal{M}_4 and \mathcal{X} . If we neglect warping for a moment, the ten-dimensional Laplacian Δ_{10} can be decomposed in a four-dimensional and an internal six-dimensional part, i. e. $\Delta_{10} = \Delta_4 + \Delta_6$. Thus the ten-dimensional Laplace equation for the scalar $\Delta_{10}\Phi = 0$ can be rewritten like:

$$\Delta_4 \Phi + \Delta_6 \Phi = 0. \tag{2.10}$$

Clearly a non-zero eigenvalue of Φ with respect to Δ_6 will serve as a mass term for the four-dimensional field and correspondingly, the number zero modes of Δ_6 , i. e. the number of harmonic functions on \mathcal{X} , determines the number of massless four-dimensional fields stemming from the ten-dimensional scalar Φ .

The number of zero modes of differential operators on compact manifolds is given by the topology of the manifold \mathcal{X} in question. The number of independent harmonic (p,q)forms is counted by the dimension of various cohomology groups, the so-called Hodge numbers $h^{(p,q)} = \dim H^{(p,q)}$. Not all of them are independent, but are related due to the so-called Poincaré duality $H^{(p,q)} \sim H^{(d-p),(d-q)}$, where d is the complex dimension of \mathcal{X} . For the special case of a Calabi–Yau three-fold, which, due to the vanishing first Chern class, necessarily has $h^{(1,0)} = h^{(0,1)} = 0$, the Hodge numbers, taking into account dualities, are listed in table 2.1.

Thus, there are only two independent Hodge numbers: $h^{(1,1)}$ and $h^{(2,1)}$. In each coho-

16

mology class, one can choose a unique harmonic representative. This collection forms a basis of the different cohomology groups. With ω_A we denote the basis of harmonic (1, 1)-forms (which induce by Poincaré duality also a basis for $H^{(2,2)}$, denoted by $\tilde{\omega}^B$, such that $\int_{\mathcal{X}} \omega_A \wedge \tilde{\omega}^B = \delta^B_A$). Similarly, one can choose a basis of harmonic three-forms (α_K, β^L) for H^3 .

Let us now trace the fate of the massless fields of ten-dimensional supergravity when compactifying to four-dimensions on a Calabi–Yau three-fold. Therefore one has to decompose all fields in a four-dimensional and an internal part, where the internal part is expanded in terms of the basis of the appropriate harmonic forms as needed for a massless field in four dimensions.

We start with the higher *p*-form fields:

$$B_{2} = B_{2}(x) + b^{A}(x)\omega_{A}, \qquad C_{2} = C_{2}(x) + c^{A}(x)\omega_{A}, \qquad A = 1, \dots, h^{(1,1)},$$

$$C_{4} = D_{2}^{A}(x) \wedge \omega_{A} + V^{K}(x) \wedge \alpha_{K} - U_{K}(x) \wedge \beta^{K} \qquad (2.11)$$

$$+ \rho_{A}(x)\widetilde{\omega}^{A}, \qquad K = 0, \dots, h^{(1,2)}.$$

Apparently we find in the four-dimensional spectrum scalars $b^A(x)$, $c^A(x)$, $\rho_A(x)$, one-forms $V^K(x)$, $U_K(x)$ and two-forms $B_2(x)$, $C_2(x)$, $D_2^A(x)$.

The metric g_{MN} decomposes into the usual four-dimensional metric $g_{\mu\nu}$ and the internal metric g_{mn} . The off-diagonal entries $g_{\mu N}$ must vanish as they are one-forms from the internal point of view and hence do not exist on Calabi–Yau manifolds. The variation of the metric of the internal space has to respect the Ricci flatness of \mathcal{X} . Therefore the variations $\delta g_{m\bar{n}}$ have to fulfill a differential equation, the so-called Lichnerowicz equation. Its solutions can be associated to the $h^{(1,1)}$ harmonic (1,1)-forms and $h^{(2,1)}$ harmonic (2,1)-forms on \mathcal{X} . The former describe deformations of the Kähler form $J = ig_{m\bar{n}}dx^m \wedge dx^{\bar{n}}$ and are therefore called Kähler moduli. The latter are associated to deformations of the complex structure and hence are called complex structure moduli.

Finally, the ten-dimensional scalars ϕ and C_0 also appear as scalars in four dimensions of course.

As the choice of a Calabi–Yau manifold as compactification space guarantees the preservation of $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetry, all the bosonic fields we found arrange together with their superpartners in $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supermultiplets as summarized in table 2.2.

The effective four-dimensional action can be obtained by inserting the expansions (2.11) into the ten-dimensional action (2.6) and integrating over the internal space \mathcal{X} . For brevity, we omit the details here and state that after dualizing the two-forms B_2 and C_2 to scalars and applying further simplifications, the action can be expressed in the usual $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supergravity

| type of multiplet | mult. | fields |
|-------------------|-------------|---------------------------|
| gravity | 1 | $(g_{\mu\nu}, V^0)$ |
| vector | $h^{(2,1)}$ | (V^K, z^K) |
| hyper | $h^{(1,1)}$ | (v^A, b^A, c^A, ρ_A) |
| double-tensor | 1 | (B_2, C_2, ϕ, C_0) |

Table 2.2.: Type IIB $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supermultiplets in a Calabi–Yau compactification to four dimensions.

form (see [44–48] for details):

$$S_{\text{IIB},4d} = \int_{\mathcal{M}_4} -\frac{1}{2}R + \frac{1}{4}\operatorname{Re} M_{KL}F^K \wedge F^L + \frac{1}{4}\operatorname{Im} M_{KL}F^K \wedge \star_4 F^L - G_{K\bar{L}}\mathrm{d}z^K \wedge \mathrm{d}\bar{z}^L - h_{pq}\mathrm{d}\tilde{q}^p \wedge \mathrm{d}\tilde{q}^q.$$

$$(2.12)$$

The scalars span a moduli space which is a product of a quaternionic manifold \mathcal{M}^Q and a special Kähler manifold \mathcal{M}^{SK} . The former is spanned by the fields q^p and its metric is h_{pq} (an explicit expression for h_{pq} can be found in [49, 50]). The latter, \mathcal{M}^{SK} , is spanned by the scalars z^K and its metric $G_{K\bar{L}}$ can be shown to be given by the Kähler potential

$$\mathcal{K}_{\rm cs} = -\ln\left(i\int_{\mathcal{X}}\Omega\wedge\overline{\Omega}\right), \qquad G_{KL} = \partial_{z^{K}}\partial_{z^{L}}\mathcal{K}_{\rm cs}.$$
(2.13)

The matrix M_{KL} is given by various products of the basis (α_K, β^L) of the cohomology group $H^{(3)}$. Ω is the unique holomorphic three-form of \mathcal{X} .

2.3. A No-Go Theorem for Fluxes

In the last section, we learned that in Calabi–Yau compactifications there necessarily appear geometric moduli in the four-dimensional spectrum, i. e. massless scalars which stem from geometric deformations of the internal space. They can be divided into two classes: $h^{(1,1)}$ Kähler moduli, of which there are $h^{(1,1)}$, and complex structure moduli, counted by $h^{(2,1)}$. Phenomenologically they lead to a long-ranged force in four dimensions, which is not observed. Thus finding a mechanism for giving a mass to the geometric moduli is of utmost importance in order to construct a realistic string compactification.

One path to achieve this is to switch on appropriate NS–NS and R–R fluxes in the internal space. Heuristically it is obvious that this could give a mass to the moduli: any non-trivial field configuration carries energy–momentum. This implies that the flux will lead to a certain back-reaction on the geometry. Likewise it will then cost energy to deform the geometry which is equivalent to saying that the geometric moduli, which describe the fluctuations of

the internal geometry, become massive.

Unfortunately, for Calabi–Yau compactifications, there exists a strong no-go theorem which excludes a non-trivial form field flux [51–53]. We derive now this no-go theorem.

Four-dimensional Poincaré invariance allows for a non-vanishing three-form flux G_3 along internal directions only and a five-form flux of the form

$$F_5 = (1 + \star)(\mathrm{d}\alpha \wedge \mathrm{d}x^0 \wedge \mathrm{d}x^1 \wedge \mathrm{d}x^2 \wedge \mathrm{d}x^3), \qquad (2.14)$$

where α is an arbitrary function on the compactification space. Now, we consider the trace reversed ten-dimensional Einstein equation:

$$R_{MN} = \kappa_{10}^2 \Big(T_{MN} - \frac{1}{8} g_{MN} T \Big).$$
(2.15)

With the energy–momentum tensor stemming from the type IIB supergravity action (2.6), the four-dimensional components read:

$$R_{\mu\nu} = -g_{\mu\nu} \left(\frac{G_{mnp} \overline{G}^{mnp}}{48 \operatorname{Im} \tau} + \frac{e^{-8A}}{4} \partial_m \alpha \,\partial^m \alpha \right). \tag{2.16}$$

The ansatz for the metric (2.9) yields the components of the Ricci tensor:

$$R_{\mu\nu} = -\eta_{\mu\nu}e^{4A}\widetilde{\nabla}^2 A = -\frac{1}{4}\eta_{\mu\nu} \left(\widetilde{\nabla}^2 e^{4A} - e^{-4A}\partial_m e^{4A}\partial^m e^{4A}\right).$$
(2.17)

Inserting this in (2.16) and taking the trace finally gives:

$$\widetilde{\nabla}^2 e^{4A} = e^{2A} \frac{G_{mnp} \overline{G}^{mnp}}{12 \operatorname{Im} \tau} + e^{-6A} \left(\partial_m \alpha \, \partial^m \alpha + \partial_m e^{4A} \, \partial^m e^{4A} \right). \tag{2.18}$$

When integrating eq. (2.18) over the internal space, which we assume to be a compact manifold without boundary, the left hand side of the equation vanishes. The right hand side is obviously positive semi-definite. Consequently the fluxes must vanish and the warp factor must be constant.

As most no-go theorems, it can be circumvented if the assumptions are changed. If we allow a further term in the action which describes localized sources, i. e. $S = S_{\text{IIB}} + S_{\text{loc}}$, then eq. (2.18) is extended by a new term:

$$\widetilde{\nabla}^2 e^{4A} = e^{2A} \frac{G_{mnp} \overline{G}^{mnp}}{12 \operatorname{Im} \tau} + e^{-6A} \left(\partial_m \alpha \, \partial^m \alpha + \partial_m e^{4A} \, \partial^m e^{4A} \right) + \frac{\kappa_{10}^2}{2} e^{2A} \left(T_m^m - T_\mu^\mu \right)^{\operatorname{loc}},\tag{2.19}$$

where the energy-momentum tensor of the localized source is obtained as usual by varying

the corresponding action with respect to the metric:

$$T_{MN}^{\rm loc} = -\frac{2}{\sqrt{-g}} \frac{\delta S_{\rm loc}}{\delta g^{MN}}.$$
(2.20)

For all localized objects, so-called *p*-branes, wrapping a (p-3)-cycle Σ of the internal space, the contribution to the right hand side of (2.19) can be shown to be:

$$(T_m^m - T_\mu^\mu)^{\rm loc} = (7 - p)T_p\delta(\Sigma),$$
 (2.21)

where T_p is the tension ob the brane. The new term in the action is justified because in string theory, there do exist such localized objects: D-branes, which have positive tension, and orientifold planes with negative tension. In order to cancel the positive definite flux terms in (2.19) we hence need orientifold planes in the compactification.

2.4. Compactifications on Orientifolds of Calabi-Yau Manifolds

By "orientifolding" [54–58] we mean modding out a particular combination of symmetries of the original theory, in our case type IIB string theory compactified on a Calabi–Yau threefold. The symmetry group to be modded out can involve geometrical symmetries of the target space of the theory, which for the sake of four-dimensional Poincaré invariance can only be symmetries of the internal space \mathcal{X} . We denote such a symmetry by σ . The set of fixed points of σ is called orientifold plane or O*n*-plane, where *n* denotes the number of its space-like dimensions.

Furthermore, symmetries acting on the world-sheet can be admitted. In particular for orientifolds, the world-sheet parity Ω_p operation, which renders the world-sheets unorientable must be included. Usually it is dressed by the operator $(-1)^{F_L}$, where F_L denotes the space-time fermion number in the left-moving sector. All operations in question have to be assembled such that their combined action becomes a symmetry of the theory.

As the two gravitinos of type II string theory stem from the left- and the right-moving sector respectively, it is clear that by identifying both sectors by Ω_p , we loose half of super-symmetry and thus compactifications on orientifolds of Calabi–Yau spaces exhibit $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supersymmetry at most.⁵

The various fields in type IIB string theory behave like:

$$\Omega_p: \quad \text{even: } \phi, g, C_2, \quad \text{odd: } C_0, B_2, C_4,$$

$$(-1)^{F_L}: \quad \text{even: } \phi, g, B_2, \quad \text{odd: } C_0, C_2, C_4.$$

$$(2.22)$$

Concerning the symmetry map σ of the target space, it is required that it is an isometric and

⁵ In general, the inclusion of D-branes can further reduce the amount of supersymmetry.

holomorphic involution of the internal space \mathcal{X} [56–58]. By definition, an isometry leaves the metric of the manifold invariant. Since a Calabi–Yau manifold is Kähler, it follows in particular that the Kähler form J is invariant, i. e. $\sigma^*J = J$. Moreover, since σ is holomorphic, it respects the Hodge decomposition of $H^*(\mathcal{X})$. As a consequence, $\sigma^*H^{(3,0)} \sim H^{(3,0)}$. This is only true for the cohomology group as a whole, not for each class itself. But since σ is an involution and hence $(\sigma^*)^2 = \text{id}$, there are only two possibilities for how it can act on the holomorphic three-form $\Omega \in H^{(3,0)}$:

$$\sigma^*\Omega = \pm\Omega. \tag{2.23}$$

Correspondingly, there are finally two possible combinations of symmetry operations G, leading to different sets of O-planes in the resulting theory:

$$G = \begin{cases} (-1)^{F_L} \Omega_p \sigma & \text{with } \sigma^* \Omega = -\Omega & \text{O3- and/or O7-planes,} \\ \Omega_p \sigma & \text{with } \sigma^* \Omega = +\Omega & \text{O5- or O9-planes.} \end{cases}$$
(2.24)

The combined actions of Ω_p and/or $(-1)^{F_L}$ do not leave all fields invariant for themselves. In view of eq. (2.22), we get only an invariant spectrum if in addition the fields transform under σ like:

all cases:
$$\sigma^* \phi = \phi$$
, $\sigma^* g = g$, $\sigma^* B_2 = -B_2$,
O3/O7: $\sigma^* C_0 = C_0$, $\sigma^* C_2 = -C_2$, $\sigma^* C_4 = C_4$, (2.25)
O5/O9: $\sigma^* C_0 = -C_0$, $\sigma^* C_2 = C_2$, $\sigma^* C_4 = -C_4$.

In view of the involutive character of σ , i. e. $(\sigma^*)^2 = id$, all cohomology groups of \mathcal{X} can be split up into a direct sum of two eigenspaces of σ with eigenvalues ± 1 , also called even and odd eigenspaces:

$$H^{(p,q)} = H^{(p,q)}_{+} \oplus H^{(p,q)}_{-}.$$
(2.26)

The dimensions of the even and odd eigenspaces are affected by the properties of σ : the Hodge \star -operator commutes with σ^* as it preserves the orientation. Thus, Poincaré duality also holds separately, i. e. $h_{\pm}^{(1,1)} = h_{\pm}^{(2,2)}$. The holomorphy of σ leads to $h_{\pm}^{(2,1)} = h_{\pm}^{(1,2)}$. For the holomorphic three-form, there are two possibilities as indicated in eq. (2.23) and thus, depending on whether we have O3/O7- or O5/O9-planes, we have:

O3/O7:
$$h_{+}^{(3,0)} = h_{+}^{(0,3)} = 0, \qquad h_{-}^{(3,0)} = h_{-}^{(0,3)} = 1,$$

O5/O9: $h_{+}^{(3,0)} = h_{+}^{(0,3)} = 1, \qquad h_{-}^{(3,0)} = h_{-}^{(0,3)} = 0.$
(2.27)

The volume form of \mathcal{X} is proportional to $\Omega \wedge \overline{\Omega}$ and is thus invariant under σ^* in both cases.

| | 03/07 | | 05/09 | |
|-------------------|-----------------|-----------------|-----------------|-----------------|
| type of multiplet | mult. | fields | mult. | fields |
| gravity | 1 | $g_{\mu u}$ | 1 | $g_{\mu u}$ |
| vector | $h_{+}^{(2,1)}$ | V^{λ} | $h_{-}^{(2,1)}$ | V^k |
| | $h_{-}^{(2,1)}$ | z^k | $h_{+}^{(2,1)}$ | z^{λ} |
| chiral | $h_{-}^{(1,1)}$ | (b^A, c^A) | $h_{+}^{(1,1)}$ | (v^A, c^A) |
| | 1 | (ϕ, l) | | _ |
| chiral/linear | $h_{+}^{(1,1)}$ | (v^A, ρ_A) | $h_{-}^{(1,1)}$ | (b^A, ρ_A) |
| | | | 1 | (ϕ, C_2) |

Table 2.3.: Type IIB $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supermultiplets in orientifold compactifications to four dimensions

Accordingly, $h_{+}^{(3,3)} = h_{+}^{(0,0)} = 1$ and $h_{-}^{(3,3)} = h_{-}^{(0,0)} = 0$.

All fields can now be expanded in bases of $H_{\pm}^{(p,q)}$ according to their transformation properties under σ^* , listed in 2.25. It is clear that this leads to a reduced spectrum compared to the Calabi–Yau case (2.11). In detail, we have $B_2 = b^a(x)\omega_a$, $a = 1, \ldots, h_{-}^{(1,1)}$, where $\{\omega_a\}$ is a basis of $H_{-}^{(1,1)}$. Apparently, the four-dimensional two-form is projected out. For the O3/O7 system, the R–R forms are expanded as:

$$C_{2} = c^{a}(x)\omega_{a}, \qquad a = 1, \dots, h_{-}^{(1,1)},$$

$$C_{4} = D_{2}^{\alpha}(x) \wedge \omega_{\alpha} + V^{\kappa}(x) \wedge \alpha_{\kappa} + U_{\kappa}(x) \wedge \beta^{\kappa} \qquad \alpha = 1, \dots, h_{+}^{(1,1)}, \qquad (2.28)$$

$$+ \rho_{\alpha}(x)\widetilde{\omega}^{\alpha}, \qquad \kappa = 1, \dots, h_{+}^{(1,2)}.$$

The two-form $C_2(x)$ in four dimensions vanishes because C_2 is odd under σ^* . This is in contrast to the axion C_0 which remains in the spectrum. In the O5/O9 system, the situation is vice versa. The expansion of the fields reads:

$$C_{2} = C_{2}(x) + c^{\alpha}(x)\omega_{\alpha}, \qquad \alpha = 1, \dots, h_{+}^{(1,1)},$$

$$C_{4} = D_{2}^{a}(x) \wedge \omega_{a} + V^{k}(x) \wedge \alpha_{k} - U_{k}(x) \wedge \beta^{k} \qquad a = 1, \dots, h_{-}^{(1,1)}, \qquad (2.29)$$

$$+ \rho_{a}(x)\widetilde{\omega}^{a}, \qquad k = 1, \dots, h_{-}^{(1,2)}.$$

In this case, the axion C_0 is projected out, whereas the two-form $C_2(x)$ is kept. The complete spectrum is summarized in table 2.3.

The low-energy effective action is again obtained by inserting the field expansions (2.28) or (2.29) in the ten-dimensional action (2.6) and integrating over the internal space. As half of the supersymmetry is broken by performing the orientifold projection, the component fields of the former $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supermultiplets have to be reassembled into $\mathcal{N} = 1$ multiplets and the four-dimensional low-energy effective action ought to be recast in the usual $\mathcal{N} = 1$ form,

which is given by a Kähler potential \mathcal{K} , a holomorphic superpotential W and holomorphic gauge-kinetic functions f:

$$S = -\int_{\mathcal{M}_4} \frac{1}{2} R + \mathcal{K}_{a\bar{b}} DM^a \wedge \star_4 D\overline{M}^{\bar{b}} + \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Re} f_{\kappa\lambda} F^{\kappa} \wedge \star_4 F^{\lambda} + \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Im} f_{\kappa\lambda} F^{\kappa} \wedge F^{\lambda} + V, \qquad (2.30)$$

with the scalar potential

$$V = V_F + V_D = e^{\mathcal{K}} \left(\mathcal{K}^{a\bar{b}} D_a W D_{\bar{b}} \overline{W} - 3|W|^2 \right) + \frac{1}{2} (\operatorname{Re} f)^{-1 \kappa \lambda} D_{\kappa} D_{\lambda}.$$
(2.31)

The fields M^a are the complex scalars in the chiral multiplets, $\mathcal{K}_{a\bar{b}} = \partial_a \bar{\partial}_{\bar{b}} \mathcal{K}$ is the Kähler metric associated with the Kähler potential \mathcal{K} and the covariant derivative in the scalar potential is Kähler-covariant, i. e. $D_a = \partial_a + \partial_a \mathcal{K}$.

We do not perform the reduction to $\mathcal{N} = 1$ here explicitly but state only the results. For a detailed derivation see [59]. At this stage, i. e. before the inclusion of non-trivial background fluxes and non-perturbative effects, no scalar potential appears in the low-energy effective action, hence W = 0, $D_{\alpha} = 0$. The gauge kinetic function is given in terms of the gauge kinetic matrix of the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ action (2.12):

$$f_{\kappa\lambda} = -\frac{i}{2}\overline{M}_{\kappa\lambda}|_{z^{\kappa} = \bar{z}^{\kappa} = 0}.$$
(2.32)

The Kähler potential for the complex structure moduli turns out to still have the form (2.13). The potential for the dilaton and the Kähler moduli depends on which orientifold projection we choose. In the case of the O3/O7-system, the complete Kähler potential reads:

$$\mathcal{K} = \mathcal{K}_{cs} + \mathcal{K}^{Q} = -\ln\left(i\int_{\mathcal{X}}\Omega\wedge\overline{\Omega}\right) - \ln\left(-i(\tau-\overline{\tau})\right) - 2\ln\left(\operatorname{vol}_{E}(\mathcal{X})\right), \quad (2.33)$$

where $\operatorname{vol}_E(\mathcal{X})$ denotes the volume of the internal space in Einstein frame. It should be noted, that it contains the dilaton in its definition, which in consequence renders the Kähler metric non-block-diagonal in the Kähler and dilaton sector. The Kähler potential for the O5/O9-system is given by:

$$\mathcal{K} = \mathcal{K}_{\rm cs} + \mathcal{K}^Q = -\ln\left(i\int_{\mathcal{X}}\Omega\wedge\overline{\Omega}\right) - \ln\left(\frac{1}{48}\kappa_{\alpha\beta\gamma}(t+\bar{t})^{\alpha}(t+\bar{t})^{\beta}(t+\bar{t})^{\gamma}\right).$$
(2.34)

Here it is necessary to define new Kähler coordinates $t^{\alpha} = e^{-\phi}v^{\alpha} - ic^{\alpha}$. The $\kappa_{\alpha\beta\gamma}$ are the triple intersection numbers of the internal space, i. e. $\kappa_{\alpha\beta\gamma} = \int_{\mathcal{X}} \omega_{\alpha} \wedge \omega_{\beta} \wedge \omega_{\gamma}$.

2.5. Compactifications with Non-Trivial Flux

When we compactify on an orientifold of a Calabi–Yau manifold, we are free to allow nonzero G_3 -flux in the internal space (five-form flux would have to be supported on non-trivial five-cycles in the internal space, which do not exist on Calabi–Yau manifolds). In this section we analyze further conditions on the G_3 -flux and motivate the superpotential arising in the presence of flux.

The three-forms F_3 and H_3 appearing in G_3 have to be expanded in terms of a basis of $H^3_{\pm}(\mathcal{X})$ such that they show the correct parity under the orientifold projection as listed in eq. (2.25). From the definition of F_5 in (2.6) we see that the Bianchi identity for this field is modified in the presence of three-form flux:

$$\mathrm{d}F_5 = H_3 \wedge F_3. \tag{2.35}$$

Upon dimensionally reducing the ten-dimensional action (2.6) one finds the following expression stemming from the kinetic term of G_3 :

$$S_G = \frac{1}{4\kappa_{10}^2 \operatorname{Im} \tau} \int_{\mathcal{X}} G_3 \wedge \star_6 \overline{G}_3.$$
(2.36)

This term can be rewritten by splitting up G_3 in imaginary self-dual and anti self-dual parts, i. e. $G_3 = G_3^+ + G_3^-$ with $G_3^{\pm} = \frac{1}{2}(G_3 \pm i \star_6 G_3)$ and $\star_6 G_3^{\pm} = \mp i G_3^{\pm}$. With this definition, eq. (2.36) reads:

$$S_G = \frac{1}{2\kappa_{10}^2 \operatorname{Im} \tau} \int_{\mathcal{X}} G_3^+ \wedge \star_6 \overline{G}_3^+ - \frac{i}{4\kappa_{10}^2 \operatorname{Im} \tau} \int_{\mathcal{X}} G_3 \wedge \overline{G}_3.$$
(2.37)

The second term is topological, i. e. it is proportional to an integer $\sim \mu_3 N_{\text{flux}}$, where μ_3 is the D3-brane tension. It contributes to the D3-brane tadpole (2.51a) and cancels in a consistent set-up against the contributions from D3-branes and O3-planes. The first term can be interpreted as part of the $\mathcal{N} = 1$ scalar F-term potential V_F in four dimensions.

From now on, we have to distinguish between the O3/O7- and the O5/O9-system in that we have to expand the three-form G_3^+ in the sub-space of $H^3(\mathcal{X})$ exhibiting the correct parity under σ .

In the O3/O7-system, according to (2.25), H_3 and F_3 are odd forms. Thus, we have to expand G_3^+ in a basis of $H_-^3(\mathcal{X})$. Due to the decomposition in imaginary (anti) self-dual parts, only the subspace $H_-^{(3,0)}(\mathcal{X}) \oplus H_-^{(1,2)}(\mathcal{X})$ comes into question. As we will see later, in order to preserve supersymmetry, there are further restrictions on the flux components.
In the chosen basis of $H^{(3,0)}_{-}(\mathcal{X}) \oplus H^{(2,1)}_{-}(\mathcal{X})$, denoted by $\{\Omega, \chi_k\}$, the expansion reads:

$$G_3^+ = -\frac{1}{\int \Omega \wedge \overline{\Omega}} \Big(\Omega \int_{\mathcal{X}} \overline{\Omega} \wedge G_3 + G^{lk} \bar{\chi}_k \int_{\mathcal{X}} \chi_l \wedge G_3 \Big), \tag{2.38}$$

where G^{kl} is the inverse of the metric in eq. (2.13). Inserting this expansion in (2.37) one obtains the following expression for the scalar potential V_F :

$$V_F = \frac{i}{2 \operatorname{Im} \tau \kappa_{10}^2 \int_{\mathcal{X}} \Omega \wedge \overline{\Omega}} \left(\int_{\mathcal{X}} \Omega \wedge \overline{G}_3 \int_{\mathcal{X}} \overline{\Omega} \wedge G_3 + G^{kl} \int_{\mathcal{X}} \chi_k \wedge G_3 \int_{\mathcal{X}} \overline{\chi}_l \wedge \overline{G}_3 \right).$$
(2.39)

As we formulate the low-energy effective action in the formalism of $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supergravity, we have to find a holomorphic superpotential W which reproduces the scalar potential as in eq. (2.31). It is not difficult to check that the Gukov–Vafa–Witten superpotential [60] indeed reproduces (2.39):

$$W = \frac{1}{\kappa_{10}^2} \int_{\mathcal{X}} G_3 \wedge \Omega.$$
(2.40)

The case of the O5/O9-system is different in that the three-form fields F_3 and H_3 have different parity under the orientifold projection. Therefore, F_3 is an element of $H^{(3)}_+(\mathcal{X})$, whereas $H_3 \in H^{(3)}_-(\mathcal{X})$. Consequently, G_3 is expanded in a different set of harmonic threeforms and the resulting scalar potential reads:

$$V = \frac{i}{2 \operatorname{Im} \tau \kappa_{10}^2 \int_{\mathcal{X}} \Omega \wedge \overline{\Omega}} \left(\int_{\mathcal{X}} \Omega \wedge F_3 \int_{\mathcal{X}} \overline{\Omega} \wedge F_3 + G^{\kappa \lambda} \int_{\mathcal{X}} \chi_{\kappa} \wedge F_3 \int_{\mathcal{X}} \overline{\chi}_{\lambda} \wedge F_3 \right) - \frac{\operatorname{Im} \tau}{4\kappa_{10}^2} \left[m_H^k (\operatorname{Im} M)_{kl} m_H^l + \left(e_k^H - (m_H \operatorname{Re} M)_k \right) (\operatorname{Im} M)^{-1 \, kl} \left(e_l^H - (m_H \operatorname{Re} M)_l \right) \right],$$
(2.41)

where the m_H denote the expansion coefficients of the NS–NS three-from H_3 . It turns out that only R–R fluxes generate a superpotential, whereas the NS–NS fluxes generate a D-term [59]. Thus the GVW superpotential in the case of O5/O9-planes is obtained by setting $H_3 = 0$ in (2.40):

$$W = \frac{1}{\kappa_{10}^2} \int_{\mathcal{X}} F_3 \wedge \Omega.$$
(2.42)

For unbroken $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supersymmetry, all F-terms have to vanish. This gives further constraints on which components of G_3 are allowed. In particular the F-term conditions for

the Kähler, dilaton and complex structure moduli imply:

$$D_{T^{A}}W = (\partial_{T^{A}})\mathcal{K}\int_{\mathcal{X}} G_{3} \wedge \Omega_{3} = 0 \qquad \Rightarrow G_{3}^{(0,3)} = 0,$$

$$D_{\tau}W = \frac{1}{\tau - \bar{\tau}}\int_{\mathcal{X}} \overline{G}_{3} \wedge \Omega_{3} = 0 \qquad \Rightarrow G_{3}^{(3,0)} = 0,$$

$$D_{U^{k}}W = \int_{\mathcal{X}} G_{3} \wedge \chi_{k} = 0 \qquad \Rightarrow G_{3}^{(1,2)} = 0.$$

(2.43)

These are $2h_{-}^{(2,1)} + 4$ real equations, compared to $2h^{(2,1)} + 2$ real parameters (τ, U^k) to solve for. In general, G_3 -flux will thus not preserve supersymmetry.

The same result can be obtained by analyzing the supersymmetry conditions with fluxes directly in ten dimensions or by studying the equations of motion. In both cases it turns out that the three-form flux G_3 must be a primitive (2, 1)-form satisfying the imaginary self-duality condition.⁶

We close this section with an important consideration concerning the moduli fields. The scalar potential of the low-energy effective action in type IIB flux compactifications with O3- and O7-planes is given by (2.31) with Kähler potential (2.33) and superpotential (2.40). The volume of the internal space can be written in terms of four-cycle volumes which are the correct Kähler variables for the $\mathcal{N} = 1$ low-energy effective action. For the case of one Kähler modulus, the relation is:

$$\operatorname{vol}_{E}(\mathcal{X}) = \operatorname{Re}\left(T\right)^{3/2}.$$
(2.44)

Thus, the corresponding term in the Kähler potential can be rewritten:

$$\mathcal{K} = -2\ln(\operatorname{vol}_E(\mathcal{X})) = -3\ln(T+\overline{T}).$$
(2.45)

It is not difficult to derive that if we perform the sum over all fields in (2.31), the term with the Kähler modulus T, i. e. $\mathcal{K}^{T\overline{T}}D_TWD_{\overline{T}}\overline{W}$ exactly cancels against $-3|W|^2$. We are left with a positive semi-definite F-term potential of the form

$$V_F = e^{\mathcal{K}} \mathcal{K}^{i\bar{j}} D_i W \, D_{\bar{j}} \overline{W},\tag{2.46}$$

where the indices i, \bar{j} run over all superfields *but* the Kähler modulus T. The situation remains unchanged in the more general case of having more than one Kähler modulus. Such models are well-known in supergravity and go under the name "no-scale models" [61, 62]. The associated Lagrangian is said to posses a "no-scale structure" (for the Kähler moduli). The minimum of (2.46) is at $V_F = 0$, i. e. it is a supersymmetric minimum since the F-terms

⁶ On Calabi-Yau manifolds, (2, 1)-forms are always primitive.

vanish: $D_iW = 0$. At this particular point, the prefactor $e^{\mathcal{K}}$ is undetermined and as the only dependence on T is in the Kähler potential, we conclude that with the help of three-form fluxes, it is possible to lift the complex structure moduli and the dilaton, as it should be clear from (2.39), but not the Kähler moduli.

2.6. D-Branes

Strings are not the only dynamical objects in string theory. When studying their equations of motion it turns out that it is possible to allow also open strings in the theory, provided suitable boundary conditions on their endpoints are imposed.

There are two types of boundary conditions which are compatible with the equations of motion: $\partial_{\alpha} Y^{\alpha}(\sigma, \sigma) = 0$ Nowmenn boundary condition

$$\delta X^{n}(\tau,\sigma)|_{\sigma=0,\pi} = 0, \qquad \text{Neumann boundary condition,} \\ \delta X^{n}(\tau,\sigma)|_{\sigma=0,\pi} = 0, \qquad \text{Dirichlet boundary condition.}$$
(2.47)

When imposing Neumann boundary conditions along the directions X^a , a = 0, ..., p and Dirichlet boundary conditions on the remaining X^n , n = p + 1, ..., 9, the motion of the string endpoints is confined to a *p*-dimensional plane, called Dirichlet brane or D-brane.⁷

In [64] it was shown that D-branes carry Ramond–Ramond charge. They couple in a canonical way to the R–R potentials. This tells us that in type IIB there can only exist stable D(-1)-, D1-, D3-, D5-, D7- and D9-branes as for the even numbered ones, the corresponding R–R potentials are absent.

Redoing the quantization procedure for an open superstring attached to a single D*p*-brane shows that all excitations with bosonic oscillators are massive. The NS and R sector give rise to a massless U(1) vector and a Majorana–Weyl spinor in ten dimensions,

$$A_M \psi^M_{-1/2} |0\rangle_{\rm NS} \oplus \chi_\alpha |\alpha\rangle_{\rm R}, \tag{2.48}$$

transforming in the $\mathbf{8}_V \oplus \mathbf{8}_s$ of ten-dimensional space-time. The collection of the fields (A_M, χ_α) form together an $\mathcal{N} = 1$ vector multiplet under ten-dimensional supersymmetry.

The vector A_M can be decomposed in components tangential and normal to the brane. The 9-p transverse components are scalars from the D-brane world-volume point of view and describe the transversal fluctuations of the brane in space.

This suggests that a D-brane is a dynamical rather than a static and rigid object in space–time. As such, it has couplings to the bulk closed string fields, described by the Dirac–Born–Infeld action for the NS–NS fields and the Chern–Simons action for the R–R fields. In its most

⁷ Another strong motivation for the existence of D-branes in string theory comes from T-duality [63].

general form, the action for single Dp-brane reads:

$$S = S_{\text{DBI}} + S_{\text{CS}} = -\mu_p \int_{\mathcal{W}} \mathrm{d}^{p+1} \xi \, e^{-\phi(X)} \sqrt{-\det\left(g_{MN}(X) + B_{MN} + 2\pi\alpha' F_{MN}(X)\right)} -\mu_p \int_{\mathcal{W}} \mathrm{ch}(2\pi\alpha' F) \wedge \sqrt{\frac{\hat{A}(\mathcal{R}_T)}{\hat{A}(\mathcal{R}_N)}} \wedge \bigoplus_q C_q,$$

$$(2.49)$$

where the ξ are coordinates of the p+1-dimensional world-volume \mathcal{W} of the brane, F is the field strength of the U(1) vector field A_M and $\hat{A}(\mathcal{R}_{T,N})$ is the A-roof-genus of the tangent and normal bundle respectively.

As we are interested in compactifications to four dimensions which preserve four-dimensional Poincaré invariance, D-branes have to be placed in space-time such that they fill out all four non-compact directions and wrap a cycle of the compactification manifold⁸, which in order to preserve supersymmetry is required to be a holomorphic submanifold of the Calabi-Yau [65]. Thus we are left with D3-, D5-, D7- and D9-branes at our disposal. If we compactify on an orientifold, we furthermore have to ensure that for each brane there is a corresponding "mirror brane" such that the whole configuration is invariant under the geometric involution σ . Moreover, the parity of the R-R potentials under the orientifold projection (2.25) further restricts the type of D-brane that can appear, depending on the type of orientifold projection (2.23). In the O3/O7-system, only D3- and D7-branes are invariant objects, whereas in the O5/O9-system only D5- and D9-branes are possible.

From the four-dimensional point of view, the 10d vector A_M decomposes into a 4d vector A_μ and six scalars A_i . The 10d Majorana–Weyl spinor χ_α decomposes as $(2, 4) \oplus (\overline{2}, \overline{4})$ under the $SO(3, 1) \otimes SO(6)$ space–time symmetry group, thus in summary there are four 4d Weyl fermions. All fields together form a 4d $\mathcal{N} = 4$ vector multiplet.

If we include more than one D-brane in the compactification, several cases have to be distinguished: multiple D-branes of the same dimension can be placed on top of each other forming a what is called stack of branes, they can be parallel to each other or they can intersect.

In the first case, the D-branes are at the same position in space. The end points of open strings are endowed with so-called Chan–Paton labels λ^A , indicating on which of the Dbranes within the stack they end. Instead of an abelian U(1) gauge theory, there now arises a non-abelian U(N) gauge theory on the world-volume of the stack of the D-branes, where N is the number of branes lying on top of each other.⁹ Likewise, from the four-dimensional point of view, the vector A_{μ} and the spinor χ_{α} now transform in the adjoint representation

⁸ The situation in which D-branes wrap internal cycles only will be considered in section 2.7

⁹ If the stack of D-branes lies on top of the orientifold plane, the gauge group is instead SO(2N) or SP(2N), depending on the details of the orientifold projection.

2.6. D-BRANES

| Representation | Multiplicity |
|-------------------------|-----------------------------------|
| (\overline{N}_a, N_b) | I_{ab} |
| (N_a, N_b) | $I_{a'b}$ |
| A_a | $\frac{1}{2}(I_{a'a} + 2I_{O7a})$ |
| S_a | $\frac{1}{2}(I_{a'a} - 2I_{O7a})$ |

Table 2.4.: Chiral spectrum for intersecting D7-branes

of U(N).

If the N D-branes in the stack are shifted away from each other along the normal direction, we end up with a configuration of N parallel branes. Intuitively it is clear that the open strings stretching between two different branes are massive and thus are no longer present in the low-energy effective theory. Only the modes stemming from open string starting and ending on the same brane remain massless and we end up with a $U(1)^N$ gauge theory. The process of separating a stack of D-branes can be interpreted from the field theory point of view as giving the transversal scalars a vev, breaking the U(N) gauge symmetry down to $U(1)^N$.

The most interesting case is the configuration of two intersecting (stacks of) D-branes. From now on, we restrict ourselves to the case of intersecting (magnetized) D7-branes, as this is the configuration we will consider in the later chapters. They wrap four-cycles in the internal space and hence two D7-branes generically intersect over a two-dimensional subspace within the Calabi–Yau. In addition to the massless modes we encountered in the case of a single stack, there now appear massless modes stemming from open strings stretching from one stack to the other along the intersection locus.

To be more concrete, we consider two stacks a and b with N_a and N_b branes on top of each other respectively, wrapping the cycles D_a , D_b and carrying the gauge fields V_a and V_b . In an orientifold compactification, their image branes under the geometric involution σ have to be included as well. They wrap the cycles $D_{a',b'}$. Last but not least, the orientifold cycle is simply denoted by O7. Then we compute the various chiral indices as:

$$I_{ab} = \int_{D_a \cap D_b} \left(c_1(V_a) - c_1(V_b) \right) = \int_{\mathcal{X}} \left(c_1(V_a) - c_1(V_b) \right) \wedge [D_a] \wedge [D_b], \tag{2.50}$$

where $[D_{a,b}]$ denote the Poincaré dual two-forms corresponding to the four-cycles $D_{a,b}$. The resulting chiral spectrum appearing at the intersection in the internal space is listed in table 2.4.

Note that for the first time, we encounter chiral fermions in the spectrum—one of the most outstanding features of the standard model. As we are interested in constructing models which resemble the standard model as close as possible, intersecting D7-branes will be a

necessary ingredient in the compactifications we consider.

We discussed already that D-branes carry Ramond–Ramond charge. This charge has to be canceled with corresponding negative contributions, furnished by the charge of the orientifold planes. This is analogous to classical electrostatics: a single positive charge placed on a compact space without boundary would violate Gauß's law. Similarly, in string theory, the correct charge cancellation condition can be obtained if we consider the equations of motion for the Ramond–Ramond potentials, i. e. set to zero the variation of the total action with respect to C_q .

In the case of the O3/O7-system, the condition for C_4 reads (after taking the orientifold quotient):

$$N_{\rm D3} + N_{\rm flux} - \sum_{a} N_a \int_{D_a} ch_2(V_a) = \frac{N_{\rm O3}}{4} + \sum_{a} \frac{N_a}{24} \int_{D_a} c_2(T_{D_a}) + \frac{1}{12} \int_{D_{\rm O7}} c_2(T_{\rm O7}).$$
(2.51a)

Here $N_{D3,O3}$ denotes the number of D3-branes and point-like (in the internal space) orientifold planes respectively. As anticipated from (2.37) there is a contribution from the fluxes, denoted by N_{flux} . From the Chern–Simons action (2.49) it is clear that a D*p*-brane couples also to Ramond–Ramond potentials of lower rank. Thus we have a contribution also from D7-branes, wrapping four-cycles D_a and carrying gauge bundles V_a .

For the same reason, there is a similar condition for C_6 , even if no D5-branes are present:

$$\sum_{a} \operatorname{ch}_{1}(V_{a}) \wedge D_{a} \wedge \omega_{a} = 0, \qquad (2.51b)$$

where $\{\omega_a\}$ is a basis of $H_{-}^{(1,1)}(\mathcal{X})$ and hence, the above condition will automatically be satisfyed provided $h_{-}^{(1,1)} = 0$. In [66, 67] is was pointed out that this condition plays an important rôle in the cancellation of various chiral anomalies.

Finally there is a simpler condition for C_8 :

$$\sum_{a} N_a D_a = 4D_{07},$$
(2.51c)

where D_{O7} is the four-cycle of the orientifold plane in the internal space. These three conditions (2.51a)–(2.51c) go by the name "tadpole cancellation conditions", as non-zero tadpole diagrams for the moduli fields in the low-energy effective field theory arise if they are not fulfilled. This indicates an instability.

We conclude this section with some remarks on various anomalies that can occur when branes are present in a compactification. From (2.50) it is clear that in order to have chiral fermions in the spectrum, at least one of the D7-branes has to carry a non-trivial U(N) gauge bundle. Generically it contains an anomalous U(1) subgroup giving rise to non-abelian, mixed abelian-non-abelian, cubic abelian and mixed abelian-gravitational anomalies.

The cubic non-abelian anomaly vanishes if the D7- and D5-tadpole conditions (2.51b) and (2.51c) are fulfilled [67]. The anomalous diagrams for the mixed abelian–non-abelian, cubic abelian and mixed abelian–gravitational anomalies are canceled via a generalized Green–Schwarz mechanism: when reducing the Chern–Simons action, there arise couplings between the anomalous gauge field F and four-dimensional axions, stemming from the dimensional reduction of the Ramond–Ramond potential C_4 , schematically:

$$S_{\rm CS} \sim \int_{\mathcal{M}_4 \times D_a} C_4 \wedge F \wedge F.$$
 (2.52)

From this, such couplings can be generated which precisely cancel the chiral anomalies. In addition, a Stückelberg mass term four the anomalous gauge symmetry is generated.

Finally, it was shown in [68] that another anomaly can appear if there is three-form flux present: with non-vanishing H_3 , the Bianchi identity for the diagonal U(1) gauge field strength F on D-branes is modified:

$$\mathrm{d}F = -H_3. \tag{2.53}$$

By integration over a three-cycle Σ_3 we get the condition

$$\int_{\Sigma_3} H_3 = 0.$$
 (2.54)

Its fulfillment guarantees that the so-called Freed-Witten anomaly is absent.

2.7. D-Brane Instantons

Instead of filling out four-dimensional space-time and wrapping a cycle of the compactification manifold, it is also possible that a D-brane wraps an internal cycle only such that it is point-like from the four-dimensional point of view. One then speaks of a (Euclidean) D-brane instanton or E-instanton as it affects the calculation of correlation functions in a similar fashion as the well-known instantons in field theory. In fact, special configurations of D-branes and D-brane instantons precisely reproduce in the low-energy limit a fourdimensional gauge theory including the effects of gauge instantons [69].

As in the field theory case, the effects of D-brane instantons come with the typical exponential factor of $\sim \exp(-S_{inst})$ and are thus highly suppressed. Only if certain couplings are absent in perturbation theory, for instance due to non-renormalization theorems, instanton effects may furnish the leading order contribution. The exponential suppression can potentially be used to explain some of the small and large hierarchies present in the standard model

and its supersymmetric extensions. Examples include Majorana masses for the right-handed neutrinos [34, 70, 71], the MSSM μ -term [72, 73] and top quark Yukawa couplings in SU(5) GUT theories [74, 75].

In this work, we will be mainly interested in the generation of mass terms for the so far massless Kähler moduli. Intuitively it is clear that this should be possible as the instanton action depends on the volume of the internal cycle it wraps.

As there does not exist a complete second quantized version of string theory yet, the instanton calculus cannot be derived from first principles. Instead one relies on analogies to the field theory case. Doing so, we expect a contribution to the four-dimensional effective action of the form:

$$S_{\rm n.p.} = \int d\mathcal{M} \, e^{-S_E^{(0)} - S_E^{\rm int.}(\mathcal{M})}, \tag{2.55}$$

where \mathcal{M} denotes the collection of all instanton zero modes, $S_E^{(0)}$ is the classical instanton effective action and $S_E^{\text{int.}}$ its interaction part. The integral over the fermionic zero modes vanishes if more than one zero mode is pulled down from the exponent as they are described by Graßmann variables. Hence only instantons with a very specific fermionic zero mode structure can contribute to the effective action. We encounter a similar distinction of cases as with D-branes since various E-instantons can intersect with themselves, D-branes and orientifold planes, giving rise to different sets of zero modes. In detail, there exist:

Universal zero modes. They arise from strings starting and ending on the same instanton. There are four bosonic ones x^{μ} parameterizing the (point-like) position of the instanton in four-dimensional space-time. They can be understood as being the Goldstone bosons corresponding to the breakdown of the four-dimensional translational invariance. Universal fermionic zero modes arise from the breakdown of supersymmetries. Here one has to distinguish several cases: firstly, the instanton can wrap a cycle which is not invariant under the orientifold projection and thus an image instanton has to be included. In such a configuration, there are two chiral Goldstinos θ^{α} as well as anti-chiral ones $\bar{\tau}^{\dot{\alpha}}$. Consequently, a contribution to an F-term can only arise if the extra $\bar{\tau}^{\dot{\alpha}}$ are saturated. If the instanton wraps a cycle already populated by a D-brane, the extra anti-chiral modes are soaked up in a way reproducing the celebrated ADHM constraints for gauge instantons. Such a configuration is in fact equivalent to an ordinary gauge instanton in the field theory living on the D-brane in question. For an $SU(N_c)$ $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supersymmetric QCD with $N_f = N_c - 1$ flavors engineered on a stack of D-branes it was shown in [76-79] that indeed the Affleck-Dine-Seiberg superpotential is generated by an E-instanton. Finally, the D-brane instanton may be on top of the orientifold plane. A stack of ordinary D-branes on such a cycle can have gauge group SO(N) or SP(N). For a D-brane instanton on this cycle the gauge group is swapped to SP(N) or SO(N). In the first case, there are N(N-1)/2 zero modes θ^{α} and N(N+1)/2 $\bar{\tau}^{\dot{\alpha}}$ s. In the latter case one gets $N(N+1)/2 \ \theta^{\alpha}$ and $N(N-1)/2 \ \bar{\tau}^{\dot{\alpha}}$ zero modes. Hence the case of most interest are O(1) instantons on top of an orientifold plane because we end up with the right number of two universal zero modes θ^{α} . For the case of E3-instantons wrapping a four-cycle Γ_4 in the internal space, which we will mainly consider in the later chapters, the contribution to the superpotential of the low-energy effective action was already pioneered in [80] and turns out to be of the form:

$$W_{\rm inst} \sim e^{-2\pi T},\tag{2.56}$$

where T is the Kähler modulus corresponding to the four-cycle Γ_4 .

Deformation zero modes. They stem from the transversal modes of open strings starting and ending on a particular D-brane instanton, describing infinitesimal deformations of the instantonic brane. Each complex valued deformation leads to one complex bosonic zero mode. One chiral and one anti-chiral Weyl spinor comprise the fermionic zero modes. Whether a cycle can be deformed or not is a question of topology. The number of deformations is counted by the Betti numbers b^1 and b^2 of the cycle in question. They count the Wilsonline moduli and the transversal deformations respectively. Since these zero modes come in addition to the universal ones, instantons on cycles with deformations contribute only if the extra zero modes are soaked up, or lifted by flux [81–83, 83–85]. The extra modes are absent if the cycle simply has no deformations, i. e. is rigid.

Charged zero modes appear at the intersection of a D-brane instanton with an ordinary, space-filling D-brane. They are called "charged" as one end of the open strings at the intersection locus is attached to the (stack of) D-brane(s) and hence is charged under the four-dimensional gauge group of it. We specialize now to the case of an O(1) instanton. The number of charged zero modes is then counted by the intersection number I_{E,D_a} , defined in (2.50). They carry the total $U(1)_a$ charge $Q_a(E) = N_a(I_{E,D_a} - I_{E,D'_a})$. In order to contribute to the superpotential, the additional charged zero modes λ have to be soaked up. This works with the help of couplings of the form $\lambda_{Ea_i} \Phi_{a_ib_i} \lambda_{b_iE}$ appearing in $S_E^{\text{int.}}$. Hence the saturation of the λ zero modes pulls down charged matter fields $\Phi_{a_ib_i}$ in the fermionic integral in such a way that the $U(1)_a$ charges are preserved. Consequently there appear terms in the superpotential of the form

$$W = \prod_{i=1}^{M} \Phi_{a_i b_i} e^{-S_E}.$$
 (2.57)

Here, the charge of the product of the matter fields is canceled by the sum of the charges of the zero modes:

$$\sum_{i=1}^{M} Q_a(\Phi_{a_i b_i}) = -N_a(I_{E,D_a} - I_{E,D'_a}), \qquad (2.58)$$

such that the whole expression is gauge invariant. The consequences for model building of

a charged superpotential (2.57) will be discussed in chapter 4 in detail.

Multi-instanton zero modes. In the same way a D-brane instanton can intersect a D-brane, it can also intersect another E-instanton. Then zero modes arise at the intersection locus and are therefore called multi-instanton zero modes. For the case we are interested in, namely an E3-instanton with gauge group O(1) (hence lying on the orientifold plane), the number of zero modes is given by the same expression as for D-brane case, given in table 2.4.

2.8. De Sitter Vacua in String Theory

For a completely realistic and full-fledged string vacuum, one has not only to engineer the particle content and interactions of the standard model. In addition, all moduli have to be stabilized with a mass of at least 10^{-3} eV in order not to be in conflict with fifthforce experiments [14] and to have definitive values for the couplings. Moreover, as there is evidence for a small, but non-zero positive cosmological constant, the four-dimensional non-compact part of the ten-dimensional space-time should have the geometry of de Sitter space.

There are no-go theorems showing that de Sitter solutions do not exist in string theory if one only takes the lowest order terms in the effective supergravity action into account [51,52]. Fortunately, the inclusion of g_s - and α' -corrections improves the situation.

Kachru, Kallosh, Linde and Trivedi (KKLT) first proposed a construction in which both, stabilization of all moduli and a positive cosmological constant can be obtained [29]. In a first step, the complex structure moduli and the dilaton are stabilized with background fluxes as described in section 2.5. Then, one takes into account non-perturbative effects resulting either from D-brane instantons or from gaugino condensation in the effective superpotential in order to break the no-scale structure for the Kähler moduli. As a result, a scalar potential is generated for them, stabilizing their vacuum expectation value. Finally, one introduces anti D3-branes in the internal space, which explicitly break supersymmetry and uplift the vacuum energy to a positive value.

Non-perturbative effects

At the perturbative level, no corrections to the superpotential can appear. The reason is the following: the string coupling is given by the expectation value of the dilaton: $g_s = \langle e^{\phi} \rangle$. As the superpotential is by definition a holomorphic function of the superfields, higher powers of g_s can appear in the superpotential only in conjunction with the universal axion, the field with it is combined into a complex scalar $S = e^{-\phi} + iC_0$. A polynomial dependence on C_0 would however break its perturbative shift symmetry.

At the non-perturbative level, there are two sources for corrections to the superpotential. Euclidean D-brane instantons, wrapping a four-cycle in the internal space generate for the case of E3-instanton a new term

$$W = A(U)e^{-2\pi T},$$
 (2.59)

where A(U) is a complex structure moduli dependent one-loop determinant and T is the Kähler modulus corresponding to the four-cycle, the D-brane is wrapping. In section 2.7 we have seen that the generation of such a term highly depends on the zero mode structure of open string modes stretching between the instanton and other D-branes.

A similar non-perturbative term can arise from gaugino condensates on D7-branes: Consider a stack of N_c coincident D7-branes, wrapping a rigid four-cycle in the internal space. On their word-volume they support a $U(N_c)$ gauge theory with four-dimensional gauge coupling

$$\frac{8\pi^2}{g_{\rm YM}^2} = 2\pi\tau,$$
 (2.60)

where τ denotes the volume of the internal four-cycle Γ , i. e. $\tau = \frac{\operatorname{vol}(\Gamma)}{\ell_s^4}$. At low energies, this is effectively a pure $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supersymmetric gauge theory which undergoes gaugino condensation. The correction to the effective superpotential reads

$$W = \Lambda^3 = A e^{-\frac{2\pi T}{N_c}},$$
(2.61)

where Λ is the dynamical scale of the gauge theory. Thus both effects yield a similar correction to the superpotential. They lead to a dependence of the superpotential on the Kähler moduli, breaking the no-scale structure of tree-level flux compactifications, discussed in section 2.5.

Supersymmetric anti de Sitter vacua

Now we assume the tree-level no-scale Kähler potential for the Kähler moduli:

$$K = -3\log(T + \overline{T}) \tag{2.62}$$

and a non-perturbative correction to the superpotential of the form

$$W = W_0 + Ae^{-aT}, (2.63)$$

where a can be fractional and thus can account for both, instantons and gaugino condensates. For the moment, we ignore the axion belonging to the complex scalar T. From (2.31) it is obvious that there exists a supersymmetric minimum in the scalar potential if $D_T W =$



Figure 2.1.: Minima in the KKLT construction

 $\partial_T W + \partial_T K W = 0$. One easily finds the solution

$$W_0 = -Ae^{-a\tau_0} \left(1 + \frac{2}{3}a\tau_0 \right)$$
 (2.64)

and the vacuum energy turns out to be negative:

$$V_0 = -\frac{a^2 A^2 e^{-2a\tau_0}}{6\tau_0}.$$
(2.65)

Thus we have found a supersymmetry preserving AdS vacuum. A plot of the scalar potential can be seen in figure 2.1(a). In general, fluxes generate a value of $W_0 \sim \mathcal{O}(1)$ in the superpotential. From (2.64) it is clear that this implies $a\tau_0 \sim \mathcal{O}(1)$ which comes into conflict with the supergravity approximation where $\tau \gg 1$ is required. If the compactification manifold supports a large enough number of three-cycles, the discretuum of fluxes becomes dense enough to allow also for much smaller values of W_0 [19]. Moreover, in chapter 5 we will see how so-called racetrack potentials can generate a small value for W_0 without fine-tuning.

Uplifting to de Sitter vacua

In [86] it was shown that anti D3-branes contribute positively to the vacuum energy:

$$\delta V = 2 \frac{a_0^4 T_3}{g_s^4} \frac{1}{\tau^3}.$$
(2.66)

The inclusion of these objects may uplift the anti de Sitter minimum of the last section to a minimum with positive vacuum energy. As anti D3-branes preserve a different set of supersymmetries as the background, supersymmetry will be broken in this construction by an amount proportional to the brane tension.

The branes do not introduce new translational moduli as the ISD flux generates a potential for the world-volume scalars. In fact they are driven to the tip of the Klebanov–Strassler throat. This is reflected in the value of a_0 in (2.66) which will be exponentially small. Its value can be tuned discretely by different choices of flux quanta.

In figure 2.1(b) the uplifting of the AdS minimum is illustrated for different values of a_0 . Apparently, the position of the minimum for the Kähler modulus is nearly not affected. This guarantees that we stay in a large volume regime also after the uplift procedure, if this was the case before.

The plot of the scalar potential shows also that the de Sitter minimum is only metastable. The lifetime of the minimum before decompactifying to ten-dimensional Minkowski space should be at least as long as the lifetime of the universe in order to be a sensible model for the phenomenological description of the current state of accelerated expansion of space. Computations in the thin-wall approximation as well as the no-wall approximation show that the lifetime is as long as

$$t_{\rm decay} \approx e^{10^{122}},\tag{2.67}$$

measured in multiples of the Planck time. Thus, for all practical purposes, the de Sitter minimum can be considered as stable.

3. The LARGE Volume Scenario

In section 2.8 we got to know the KKLT construction as a proposal how to stabilize all moduli in a string compactification. In particular the Kähler moduli received a mass upon including non-perturbative effects like those of D-brane instantons or gaugino condensates, whereas the complex structure moduli, the dilaton and also the transversal D-brane moduli were frozen by a tree-level effect, namely three-form fluxes.

A shortcoming of the KKLT construction is the fact that an unnaturally small value of the flux superpotential $W_0 \ll 1$ is required in order to be in a regime where the supergravity approximation is valid. However, the three-form flux induces a value for W_0 of rather $\mathcal{O}(1)$. In view of the plethora of string vacua there certainly exist compactifications where the flux superpotential takes a value in the range suitable for KKLT accidentally, but clearly this is not the generic situation.

Instead of relying on non-perturbative effects only for the stabilization of the Kähler moduli, it suggests itself to revisit if perturbative corrections to the low-energy effective supergravity action could also do the job. We argued already that due to its holomorphy, corrections to the superpotential are highly constrained and in fact, due to strong non-renormalization theorems, there are no perturbative corrections to it. However, we will see in section 3.1 that the Kähler potential — a non-holomorphic quantity — is subject to perturbative corrections in both expansion parameters, g_s and α' , which will also break the no-scale structure of the Kähler moduli [87]. It will turn out that in particular the α' -correction competes with the non-perturbative corrections to the superpotential in such a way that under certain circumstances, the volume of the compactification manifold is driven to exponentially large values [30]. Compactifications of this type go under the name "LARGE volume scenario" (LVS).

Blowing up the compactification manifold usually has the effect that all two- and fourcycles of the manifold also grow (as on a torus for example). This is however unfavorable as the size of such a cycle determines the coupling constant of the four-dimensional gauge theory living on the world-volume of a D-brane filling out the non-compact space and wrapping the cycle in question in the internal space. Hence, too large internal cycles gives rise to too weakly coupled gauge theories in four dimensions. We will see in section 3.3 that there exist also Calabi–Yau manifolds on which the four-cycles correspond to "holes" in the geometry. They can be kept small when growing the rest of the manifold and therefore, the aforementioned problem does not arise. For obvious reasons, this kind of manifold was given the name "swiss cheese" manifolds and they are an important ingredient of the LARGE volume scenario.

Besides the fact that the LVS does not rely on a small value of the flux-induced superpotential (and is in that respect more generic than the KKLT construction), it has a lot of very appealing particle physical and also astrophysical properties. These will be explored in detail in the later sections of this chapter.

3.1. Perturbative Corrections in α' to the Kähler potential

We start with perturbative α' -corrections to the Kähler potential. These have been explored in [87]. The corrections arise upon taking into account higher derivative terms in the ten-dimensional effective action (2.6). There is no complete calculation of all higher order interactions (see [88] for an overview), however we are interested only in those giving corrections to the Kähler moduli space and thus finally to the Kähler potential of the $\mathcal{N} = 1$ effective action. The relevant additional two terms to the ten-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supergravity action were shown to be [87]:

$$\Delta S = -\frac{1}{2\kappa_{10}} \int d^{10}x \, e^{-2\phi} {\alpha'}^3 \left(\frac{\zeta(3)}{3 \cdot 2^{11}} J_0 + (\nabla^2 \phi) Q \right), \tag{3.1}$$

where ζ is the Riemann zeta function, J_0 is a particular contraction of the Riemann–Christoffel tensor $R^M{}_{NOP}$ and a generalization of the Euler density, denoted by E_8 :

$$J_0 = t^{M_1 N_1 \dots M_4 N_4} t_{M_1' N_1' \dots M_4' N_4'} R^{M_1' N_1'}_{M_1 N_1} \dots R^{M_4' N_4'}_{M_4 N_4} + \frac{1}{4} E_8.$$
(3.2)

The second summand in (3.1) does not modify the ten-dimensional equations of motion to order $\mathcal{O}(\alpha'^3)$ but it is necessary in the derivation of the four-dimensional effective action. It contains a generalization of the six-dimensional Euler integrand: $\int_{\mathcal{X}} d^6x \sqrt{g}Q = \chi(\mathcal{X})$.

The most important point one should bear in mind here is that the higher derivative terms determine the α'^3 -corrections to the ten-dimensional effective action. They encode geometrical information of the compactification manifold in form of the Euler characteristic.

When compactifying the ten-dimensional effective action including the corrections (3.1) we get a four-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetric action which has, compared to the original case (2.12), a modified metric of the moduli space of the Kähler deformations. Finally we are interested again in a compactification on an orientifold of a Calabi–Yau manifold and thus, the perturbative corrections to the hypermultiplet action have to be translated into appropriate type IIB variables and truncated to an $\mathcal{N} = 1$ sub-sector.

This procedure is rather involved. A notable consequence is that a constant dilaton in the internal space is not a solution to the equations of motion anymore. As a consequence, upon compactifying to four dimensions, where we have to integrate over the internal space, the

four-dimensional dilaton is corrected. In string frame it now reads:

$$e^{-2\phi} = e^{-2\phi_0} \left(\mathcal{V} + \frac{1}{2} \xi \right), \tag{3.3}$$

with \mathcal{V} denoting the volume of the internal space and $\xi = -\frac{1}{2}\chi(\mathcal{X})\zeta(3)$. As we will work mainly in Einstein frame later, we give here the same relation, transformed to Einstein frame:

$$e^{-2\phi} = e^{-\phi_0/2} \left(\widehat{\mathcal{V}} + \frac{1}{2} \widehat{\xi} \right),$$
 (3.4)

where we defined $\widehat{\mathcal{V}} = \mathcal{V}e^{-3\phi_0/2}$ and $\widehat{\xi} = \xi e^{-3\phi_0/2}$.

Using all redefined variables as well as the modified dilaton solution, one finally can derive the $\mathcal{N} = 1$ Lagrangian, allowing to read off the corrected Kähler potential. It takes the form:

$$\mathcal{K} = -2\ln\left(\widehat{\mathcal{V}} + \frac{\xi}{2}\left(\frac{-i(\tau - \bar{\tau})}{2}\right)^{3/2}\right) - \ln\left(-i(\tau - \bar{\tau})\right) - \ln\left(-i\int_{\mathcal{X}}\Omega \wedge \overline{\Omega}\right).$$
(3.5)

Though it would be consequential to derive the perturbative corrections in the string coupling g_s to the Kähler potential at this stage and then continue to analyze the minima of the resulting scalar potential, we postpone the string loop corrections to section 3.4 because we can understand their effects in a better way, when we know already the stabilization mechanism of the LVS.

3.2. The Scalar Potential

We consider now a flux compactification on an orientifold of a Calabi–Yau manifold and include non-perturbative corrections to the superpotential as well as the α' -corrections to the Kähler potential. The effective $\mathcal{N} = 1$ theory for the closed string sector is thus given by the Kähler potential (3.5) and the superpotential

$$W = W_{\rm GVW} + W_{\rm n.p.} = \int_X G_3 \wedge \Omega_3 + \sum_n A_n e^{-a_n T_n}.$$
 (3.6)

The non-perturbative contribution to the superpotential can either stem from a D3-brane instanton or from gaugino condensation. Both can be accounted for in the expression (3.6) by choosing the factor a_n to be 2π or $2\pi/N_c$ respectively.

The (string frame) volume of the compactification space can be written generically in terms of two-cycle volumes t^i and the triple intersection form κ_{ijk} :

$$\mathcal{V} = \int_{\mathcal{X}} J^3 = \frac{1}{6} \kappa_{ijk} t^i t^j t^k.$$
(3.7)

There exists a relation to the dual four-cycle volumes:

$$\tau_i = \partial_{t_i} \mathcal{V} = \frac{1}{2} \kappa_{ijk} t^k t^k.$$
(3.8)

In the class of compactification spaces we consider, eq. (3.8) can be inverted and plugged into (3.7) so that we can express the volume in (3.5) directly in terms of four-cycle volumes. This is advantageous since the four-cycle volumes are the real parts of the Kähler variables $T_i = \tau_i + ib_i$ entering the effective supergravity action, making it easy to calculate the Kähler metric.

It is clear that α' -corrections in (3.5) will modify the inverse Kähler metric for the Kähler moduli $\mathcal{K}^{T_a \overline{T}_b}$ such that in addition to the non-perturbative corrections to the superpotential they furnish another source for the breaking of the no-scale structure. The new expression for the Kähler metric was first derived in [89]. It can be expressed in terms of the Hessian matrix of the volume function depending on the four-cycle volumes τ_i [37]. In Einstein frame it reads:

$$\mathcal{K}^{\tau_a \tau_b} = -2\left(\widehat{\mathcal{V}} + \frac{\hat{\xi}}{2}\right) \left(\frac{\partial^2 \widehat{\mathcal{V}}}{\partial \tau_a \partial \tau_b}\right)^{-1} + \tau_a \tau_b \frac{4\widehat{\mathcal{V}} - \hat{\xi}}{\widehat{\mathcal{V}} - \hat{\xi}}.$$
(3.9)

We are now in a position to start to derive the scalar F-term potential (2.31). We assume that the complex structure moduli and the dilaton are stabilized via the conditions $D_U W = D_S W = 0$ and therefore can be integrated out.¹ Using (3.9), the following expression for F-term potential arises:

$$V_{F} = e^{\mathcal{K}} \left[\mathcal{K}^{T_{i}\overline{T}_{j}} \left(a_{i}A_{i}a_{j}\overline{A}_{j}e^{-(a_{i}T_{i}+a_{j}\overline{T}_{j})} - \left(a_{i}A_{i}e^{-a_{i}T_{i}}\overline{W}\partial_{\overline{T}_{j}}\mathcal{K} + a_{j}\overline{A}_{j}e^{-a_{j}\overline{T}_{j}}W\partial_{T_{i}}\mathcal{K} \right) \right) + 3\xi \frac{(\xi^{2}+7\xi\mathcal{V}+\mathcal{V}^{2})}{(\mathcal{V}-\xi)(2\mathcal{V}+\xi)^{2}} |W|^{2} \right] =: V_{\rm np1} + V_{\rm np2} + V_{\alpha'},$$

$$(3.10)$$

where for the sake of legibility, we dropped the "hats" over the symbols \mathcal{V} and ξ . All quantities are understood to be in Einstein frame. Now we argue that there exists a minimum at exponentially large volume with negative cosmological constant. Therefore we do not minimize the full scalar potential (3.10) but expand each of the three terms in the large \mathcal{V} limit and minimize the simplified potential.² One might be tempted to argue that the non-perturbative terms V_{np1} and V_{np2} are exponentially suppressed and can be neglected compared to the perturbative α' term. We assume now that the compactification space

¹ In section 3.5 we will give a justification for this approach.

² This procedure can also be cross-checked by numerically minimizing the full potential. Doing so one finds the same minimum at exponentially large volume.

is such that the overall volume can grow arbitrarily whereas at least one of the four-cycle volumes can remain relatively small. Then the non-perturbative terms can compete with the perturbative α' term. To simplify matters, we assume that there is just one such small four-cycle and denote its volume by τ_s . All other four-cycle volumes are assumed to grow with the volume, i. e. $\tau_i \to \infty$.

We start with V_{np1} in the large volume limit:

$$V_{\rm np1} = e^{\mathcal{K}} \mathcal{K}^{T_i T_j} a_i A_i a_j \bar{A}_j e^{-(a_i T_i + a_j T_j)}.$$
(3.11)

It is clear that all terms involving the large four-cycles are exponentially suppressed compared to the term with the small four-cycle. Hence it is sufficient to keep only the term with i = j = s:

$$V_{\rm np1} = e^{\mathcal{K}} \mathcal{K}^{T_s \overline{T}_s} a_s^2 |A_s|^2 e^{-2a_s \tau_s}.$$
(3.12)

In the large volume limit the Kähler metric (3.9) simplifies to:

$$\mathcal{K}^{T_s \overline{T}_s} = -2\mathcal{V} \left(\frac{\partial^2 \mathcal{V}}{\partial \tau_s \partial \tau_s} \right)^{-1}.$$
(3.13)

The volume is a homogeneous function of degree $\frac{3}{2}$ of the four-cycle volumes. Thus we can expect the entry of the Hessian matrix to be of degree $\frac{1}{2}$. Moreover it must be negative definite such that the whole expression (3.13) is positive. This is because (3.12), before inserting the explicit form of the superpotential, reads $K^{T_s\overline{T}_s}\partial_{T_s}W\partial_{\overline{T}_s}\overline{W}$; it is the length of the vector $\partial_{T_s}W$ in terms of the Kähler metric. Provided we are inside the Kähler cone, this must be positive definite. We write (3.13) symbolically as

$$\mathcal{K}^{T_s \overline{T}_s} = \mathcal{V} \sqrt{\tau_s},\tag{3.14}$$

having in mind that at this stage we need only the correct scaling behavior in the large volume limit. Finally we can expand the Kähler potential (3.5) itself and find the approximation:

$$e^{\mathcal{K}} \xrightarrow[\mathcal{V} \to \infty]{} \frac{e^{\mathcal{K}_{\text{c.s.}}}}{\mathcal{V}^2},$$
 (3.15)

where $\mathcal{K}_{c.s.} = -\ln(-i(\tau - \overline{\tau})) - \ln(-i\int_{\mathcal{X}}\Omega \wedge \overline{\Omega})$. Putting all approximations together we finally find:

$$V_{\rm np1} \approx \frac{a_s^2 |A_s|^2 \sqrt{\tau_s} e^{-2a_s \tau_s} e^{\mathcal{K}_{\rm cs}}}{\mathcal{V}} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{e^{-2a_s \tau_s}}{\mathcal{V}^2}\right). \tag{3.16}$$

Now we come to V_{np2} . Also here we have to keep only the term involving the small

four-cycle τ_s :

$$V_{np2} = -e^{\mathcal{K}} \mathcal{K}^{T_s \overline{T}_s} \left(a_s A_s e^{-a_s T_s} \overline{W} \partial_{\overline{T}_s} \mathcal{K} + a_s \overline{A}_s e^{-a_s \overline{T}_s} W \partial_{T_s} \mathcal{K} \right)$$

$$= -e^{\mathcal{K}} \mathcal{K}^{T_s \overline{T}_s} \left(a_s A_s e^{-a_s \tau_s} \overline{W} \partial_{\overline{T}_s} \mathcal{K} e^{ia_s \tau_s} + c.c. \right)$$
(3.17)
$$= 2 \operatorname{Re} \left(-e^{\mathcal{K}} \mathcal{K}^{T_s \overline{T}_s} a_s A_s e^{-a_s \tau_s} \overline{W} \partial_{\overline{T}_s} \mathcal{K} e^{ia_s \tau_s} \right).$$

This expression is the only term where the axion a_s appears. Thus when we minimize the F-term potential with respect to a_s , its value will be set such that V_{np2} is rendered real and negative. From (3.5) it is easy to see that symbolically:

$$\partial_{\overline{T}_s} \mathcal{K} = -\frac{2}{\mathcal{V} + \frac{\xi}{2}} \frac{\partial \mathcal{V}}{\partial \overline{T}_s} \xrightarrow[\mathcal{V} \to \infty]{} -\frac{2\sqrt{\tau_s}}{\mathcal{V}}, \qquad (3.18)$$

where we used again the expected scaling behavior of the volume depending on the fourcycle volumes. We insert now this and also the expression for $\mathcal{K}^{T_s\overline{T}_s}$ (3.14) as well as the approximation (3.15) in (3.17) and obtain the following result:

$$V_{\rm np2} \approx -\frac{a_s \tau_s e^{-a_s \tau_s}}{\mathcal{V}^2} |A_s W_0| e^{\mathcal{K}_{\rm cs}} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{e^{-a_s \tau_s}}{\mathcal{V}^3}\right),\tag{3.19}$$

where we used that the flux part dominates the superpotential (3.6) giving a vev of order one: $W \approx W_0 \sim \mathcal{O}(1)$ such that the non-perturbative contributions can be neglected here. We also dropped numerical prefactors.

In the large volume limit, the α' term in (3.10) scales like:

$$V_{\alpha'} \approx \frac{\xi}{\mathcal{V}^3} |W_0|^2 e^{\mathcal{K}_{\text{cs.}}} + \mathcal{O}\big(\mathcal{V}^{-4}\big). \tag{3.20}$$

The complete F-term potential in the large volume limit is thus given by:

$$V_F = \frac{a_s^2 |A_s|^2 \sqrt{\tau_s} e^{-2a_s \tau_s} e^{\mathcal{K}_{cs}}}{\mathcal{V}} - \frac{a_s |A_s W_0| \tau_s e^{-a_s \tau_s}}{\mathcal{V}^2} e^{\mathcal{K}_{cs}} + \frac{\xi}{\mathcal{V}^3} |W_0|^2 e^{\mathcal{K}_{cs}} + \dots$$
(3.21)

Now we choose a particular direction in the Kähler moduli space in which the minimum at large volume of (3.21) becomes obvious. This direction is given by:

 $\mathcal{V} \to \text{LARGE}$ and $a_s \tau_s = \ln(\mathcal{V}).$ (3.22)

If we drop in addition the common prefactor $e^{\mathcal{K}_{cs.}}$, in this limit the F-term potential (3.21) reads:

$$V_F = \frac{a_s^{3/2} |A_s|^2 \sqrt{\ln(\mathcal{V})}}{\mathcal{V}^3} - \frac{|A_s W_0| \ln(\mathcal{V})}{\mathcal{V}^3} + \frac{\xi}{\mathcal{V}^3} |W_0|^2.$$
(3.23)

All terms scale with \mathcal{V}^{-3} . However the second one has the strongest dependence on \mathcal{V} in the numerator. Thus it will overcome the first and the third term in the limit $\mathcal{V} \to \infty$. Consequently in this limit, the potential approaches zero from below. On the other hand for small values of \mathcal{V} , either the first or the third term will dominate the potential, depending on the value of τ_s . In order to guarantee the existence of a minimum we have to require now that the third term is positive definite. This is the case if $\xi > 0$ and thus $\chi(\mathcal{X}) < 0$ which is equivalent to the condition $h^{(2,1)} > h^{(1,1)}$. Then it is ensured that at small values of \mathcal{V} the value of the potential is positive.³ The conclusion is that there must be an anti de Sitter minimum at large values of \mathcal{V} . Coming from smaller values of the volume we reach the minimum as soon as the second term in (3.23) becomes dominant. This happens for "large" values of $\ln(\mathcal{V})$ which means that we can expect the minimum to be located at exponentially large volume.

So far, we found a minimum in one particular direction of the moduli space given by $a_s \tau_s = \ln(\mathcal{V})$. It remains to be shown that this is also a minimum in all other directions and not a saddle point. This can be seen when looking at the full scalar potential (3.21) again: for a fixed value of \mathcal{V} , as we decrease the value of other four-cycles, the first term will start to dominate as it has the lowest power of the volume in the denominator and the exponential suppression decreases.⁴ Since this is a positive definite term, the value of the AdS minimum at large volume. On the other hand if we increase various four-cycle volumes, the exponential suppression of the first two terms increases and the positive third term starts to dominate, resulting in an increase of the value of the scalar potential.

Let us now study a few properties of this newly found minimum at large volume. First of all, the value of the scalar potential in the minimum is of the order $V_F \sim \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{V}^{-3})$. The general expression for the F-term potential (2.31) tells us that, since the second term $-3e^{\mathcal{K}}|W|^2$ is $\sim \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{V}^{-2})$, consequently $D_{T_s}W \neq 0$ and thus supersymmetry is broken spontaneously. This is in contrast to the KKLT scenario where the minimum before uplifting to de Sitter is supersymmetric. Another interesting property of the LVS distinguishing it from the KKLT scenario is the stability of the gravitino mass: whereas in KKLT the particular relation between the value of the flux superpotential and the volume (i. e. the Kähler modulus T) is given by (2.64), leading to a direct dependence of the gravitino mass $m_{3/2} = e^{\mathcal{K}/2}|W|$ on the choice of fluxes, in the LVS the scaling behavior is precisely such that the dependence on

³ For the case $\xi < 0$, the existence of a minimum at large volume is not excluded. Only the behavior at small values of V is not obvious and we cannot directly assume that the scalar potential is positive there.

⁴ In the expression (3.21) there is only one term of this form because we assumed only one modulus to be small from the beginning. Remember that in principle there is such a term for each modulus which cannot be neglected anymore if the corresponding four-cycle volume becomes small.

 W_0 is canceled. This can easily be seen if we define $\widetilde{\mathcal{V}} := \frac{|A_s|\mathcal{V}}{W_0}$ and rewrite (3.21):

$$V_F \sim \left(\frac{A_s^3}{W_0}\right) \left[\frac{a_s^2 \sqrt{\tau_s} e^{-2a_s \tau_s}}{\widetilde{\mathcal{V}}} - \frac{a_s \tau_s e^{-a_s \tau_s}}{\widetilde{\mathcal{V}}^2} + \frac{\xi}{\widetilde{\mathcal{V}}^3}\right].$$
(3.24)

The minimum of (3.24) as a function of $\widetilde{\mathcal{V}}$ is independent of W_0 and we can write:

$$\mathcal{V} \sim \frac{W_0}{A_s} f(a_s, \mathcal{X}) + \text{sub-leading terms},$$
 (3.25)

where f is function depending on the geometry of the compactification space \mathcal{X} . The gravitino mass is then:

$$m_{3/2} = e^{\mathcal{K}/2} |W| \approx \frac{A_s}{f(a_s, \mathcal{X})},\tag{3.26}$$

independent from W_0 . As the gravitino mass sets the SUSY breaking scale it is an important phenomenological parameter. Concerning this point the LVS can be said to be more predictive than the KKLT scenario.

The anti de Sitter minimum can be uplifted to de Sitter one by the same mechanisms proposed for the KKLT scenario: anti D3-branes or also magnetic fluxes on D7-branes [90]. A possible uplift potential is given by:

$$V_{\rm uplift} = \frac{\epsilon}{\mathcal{V}^2}.$$
(3.27)

Notably as it scales with \mathcal{V}^{-2} , quite an amount of fine-tuning is required in order not to destroy the large volume minimum.

3.3. The $\mathbb{P}^4_{[1,1,1,6,9]}[18]$ example

In this section be briefly check the existence of the large volume minimum on an explicit example. We consider as compactification space the degree 18 hypersurface in the weighted projective space $\mathbb{P}^4_{[1,1,1,6,9]}$. Some of its geometric properties were studied in [91]. It has two Kähler moduli and 272 complex structure moduli. This meets the requirement of a negative Euler characteristic $\chi = 2(h^{(1,1)} - h^{(2,1)}) = -540$. The volume given in terms of four-cycle volumes reads:

$$\mathcal{V} = \frac{1}{9\sqrt{2}} \left(\tau_b^{3/2} - \tau_s^{3/2} \right). \tag{3.28}$$

One important property of this space is that the overall volume is controlled by one single modulus: the value of \mathcal{V} can be made arbitrarily large by increasing τ_b while leaving τ_s at small values. On the other hand, an increase of the four-cycle volume τ_s decreases the overall volume. Its value is bounded from above since the volume cannot be negative. One

3.3. The $\mathbb{P}^4_{[1,1,1,6,9]}[18]$ example

can imagine the geometry as a cheese with holes. The parameter τ_b controls the size of the piece of cheese whereas τ_s describes the size of a hole. Inspired by this example, we call any manifold with a relation between the overall volume and the four-cycle volumes of the following form:

$$\mathcal{V} = (\eta_b \tau_b)^{3/2} - \sum_i (\eta_i \tau_i)^{3/2}$$
(3.29)

a swiss cheese manifold.

Having at hand the explicit expression for the volume (3.28) it is easy to calculate the Kähler metric by inserting it into (3.5) and taking the derivative of the resulting expression twice. As the four-cycle volumes appear with the power $\frac{3}{2}$, in the large volume limit, the (inverse) Kähler metric has indeed the form we assumed already in (3.14) and (3.18). Together with the superpotential

$$W = W_0 + A_s e^{-a_s T_s} ag{3.30}$$

we find indeed a scalar potential of the anticipated form:

$$V_F = \frac{\lambda \sqrt{\tau_s} e^{-2a_s \tau_s}}{\mathcal{V}} - \frac{\mu}{\mathcal{V}^2} \tau_s e^{-a_s \tau_s} + \frac{\nu}{\mathcal{V}^3}$$
(3.31)

with prefactors:

$$\lambda = 3\sqrt{2}a_s^2 |A_s|^2, \qquad \mu = \frac{1}{2}a_s |A_s W_0|, \qquad \nu = \xi |W_0|^2, \qquad \xi = 1.31.$$
(3.32)

Unfortunately it is not possible to find the minimum of (3.31) analytically. One has to apply further approximations. We start by setting to zero the derivative of V_F with respect to \mathcal{V} :

$$\frac{\partial V_F}{\partial \mathcal{V}} = -\frac{\lambda \sqrt{\tau_s} e^{-2a_s \tau_s}}{\mathcal{V}^2} + \frac{\mu}{\mathcal{V}^3} \tau_s e^{-a_s \tau_s} - \frac{\nu}{\mathcal{V}^4} \stackrel{!}{=} 0.$$
(3.33)

This easily can be solved for \mathcal{V} :

$$\mathcal{V} = \frac{\mu}{\lambda} \sqrt{\tau_s} e^{-a_s \tau_s} \left(1 \pm \sqrt{1 - \frac{3\nu\lambda}{\mu^2 \tau_s^{3/2}}} \right). \tag{3.34}$$

From taking the derivative with respect to τ_s we get the equation:

$$\frac{\partial V_F}{\partial \tau_s} = \frac{\lambda \mathcal{V} e^{-a_s \tau_s}}{\tau_s^{1/2}} \left(\frac{1}{2} - 2a_s \tau_s\right) - \mu (1 - a_s \tau_s) \stackrel{!}{=} 0.$$
(3.35)

Here we insert (3.33) for the volume and obtain an implicit equation for the small modulus:

$$\left(1 \pm \sqrt{1 - \frac{3\nu\lambda}{\mu^2 \tau_s^{3/2}}}\right) \left(\frac{1}{2} - 2a_s \tau_s\right) = (1 - a_s \tau_s).$$
(3.36)

This equation cannot be solved for τ_s analytically. Now we require that $a_s \tau_s \gg 1$ in order to be able to ignore higher instanton corrections. We can use this condition to simplify (3.36):

$$1 \pm \sqrt{1 - \frac{3\nu\lambda}{\mu^2 \tau_s^{3/2}}} = \frac{1}{2}.$$
(3.37)

Now, this can be easily solved for τ_s . Inserting the resulting expression into (3.34) gives then also the solution for the volume:

$$\tau_s = \left(\frac{4\nu\lambda}{\mu^2}\right)^{2/3}, \qquad \mathcal{V} = \frac{\mu}{2\lambda} \left(\frac{4\nu\lambda}{\mu^2}\right)^{2/3} e^{a_s \left(\frac{4\nu\lambda}{\mu^2}\right)^{2/3}}.$$
(3.38)

If we restore the prefactors according to (3.32) we can read off the scaling behavior of the large volume minimum depending on the parameters of the model:

$$\tau_s \sim (4\xi)^{2/3}, \qquad \mathcal{V} \sim \frac{\xi^{1/3} |W_0|}{a_s A_s} e^{a_s \tau_s}.$$
(3.39)

We see that the volume scales exponentially with the geometry depending parameter ξ . Moreover it scales linearly in W_0 , making the gravitino mass independent of the choice of flux, as already anticipated in section 3.2.

It is interesting to insert typical values for all parameters. We assume that the nonperturbative superpotential is generated by D-brane instantons, hence $a_s = 2\pi$. For $A_s = 1$, $W_0 = 10$ and $g_s = \frac{1}{10}$ one obtains $\mathcal{V} \approx 3 \cdot 10^{10}$, a gravitino mass of $m_{3/2} \approx 10^9$ GeV and a string scale of $m_s = m_P g_s / \sqrt{\mathcal{V}} \approx 10^{12}$ GeV. This is an explicit realization of the intermediate string scale scenario without fine-tuning, which has been claimed to have some phenomenological virtues [92,93].

Let us summarize the most important properties of the LARGE volume scenario, especially in what aspects it is different from the KKLT construction: we have shown that there exists a minimum of the scalar potential in the limit where the overall volume is exponentially large, whereas one modulus scales like $a\tau_s \approx \ln \mathcal{V}$. In this limit, the non-perturbative corrections to the superpotential compete with α' -corrections to the Kähler potential. The latter were not taken into account in the KKLT construction. The LARGE volume minimum exists on a quite wide class of compactification manifolds. A necessary condition is that the overall volume can be blown up independently from at least one four-cycle volume. A prototype class of manifolds with this property was introduced and given the name "swiss cheese manifolds". A sufficient condition for the existence of the minimum is then a negative Euler characteristic ($h^{(2,1)} > h^{(1,1)} > 1$).

As we have an exponentially large volume, this scenario naturally gives rise to a scenario where the fundamental string scale can be hierarchically smaller than the Planck scale since $m_{\rm s} \sim m_{\rm P}/\sqrt{\mathcal{V}}$. In the minimum, supersymmetry is broken and the gravitino mass is unaffected by the value of W_0 , i. e. not dependent of the choice of fluxes. This is in contrast to KKLT, where the minimum of the potential supersymmetric. SUSY is broken explicitly by introducing anti D3-branes, which furnish also as uplift mechanism to a de Sitter minimum. There is no need for fine-tuning any parameters, especially not the flux superpotential W_0 which has to be as small as 10^{-4} in the KKLT construction.

3.4. String Loop Corrections to the Kähler Potential

As the Kähler potential is not protected by non-renormalization theorems like the superpotential and also not constrained by holomorphy, it is natural to ask, whether further perturbative corrections might compete with the α' -corrections. Here we focus on those perturbative corrections in g_s which arise in the presence of sources (D-branes and orientifold planes). Indeed, the string loop corrections to the Kähler potential scale as $\mathcal{O}(g_s^2 \alpha'^2)$ in string frame. By dimensional analysis we expect therefore that in the \mathcal{V}^{-1} expansion in Einstein frame they scale as $\Delta \mathcal{K} \sim (g_s \mathcal{V}^{-2/3})$ as opposed to the α' -corrections which a priory imply a correction of $\Delta \mathcal{K} \sim \mathcal{O}(g_s^{-3/2}\mathcal{V}^{-1})$. Hence, naïvely one would await that the g_s -corrections even dominate the α' -corrections at large volume. However it will turn out when calculating the F-term potential that certain cancellations occur such that we are left with a term $\Delta V_{g_s} \sim \mathcal{O}(g_s \mathcal{V}^{-3})$, to be compared with the α' -term $\Delta V_{\alpha'} \sim \mathcal{O}(g_s^{-1/2}\mathcal{V}^{-3})$. Still, if g_s is at not too small values, the loop corrections could compete with the α' -corrections and significantly modify the form of the potential. Unavoidably we have to study in detail the influence of these corrections.

Unfortunately the corrections we want to study are not known for the case of a smooth Calabi–Yau orientifold. They are known however for toroidal orbifolds, as in this case, explicit string amplitude calculations can be applied [94]. Assuming a similar scaling behavior of the corrections, we can carry over the results to the more general case.

String loop corrections stem from Kaluza–Klein (K) modes between D7-branes, O7planes, D3-branes or O3-planes. Moreover, winding strings (W) can be exchanged between intersecting stacks of D7-branes (or between D7-branes and O7-planes) if there are non-contractible one-cycles within the intersection locus. The Kähler potential capturing these effects at lowest order on a toroidal orientifold was shown to be [94,95]:

$$\mathcal{K} = -2\ln\left(\mathcal{V} + \xi\left(\frac{-i(\tau - \bar{\tau})}{2}\right)^{3/2}\right) + \mathcal{K}_{c.s.} + \sum_{i=1}^{3} g_{s} \frac{\mathcal{E}_{i}^{(K)}(U, \overline{U})}{4\tau_{i}} + \sum_{i \neq j \neq k}^{3} \frac{\mathcal{E}_{k}^{(W)}(U, \overline{U})}{4\tau_{i}\tau_{j}} \approx -2\ln(\mathcal{V}) - \frac{\xi}{\mathcal{V}} + \sum_{i=1}^{3} g_{s} \frac{\mathcal{E}_{i}^{(K)}(U, \overline{U})}{4\tau_{i}} + \sum_{i \neq j \neq k}^{3} \frac{\mathcal{E}_{k}^{(W)}(U, \overline{U})}{4\tau_{i}\tau_{j}} + \mathcal{K}_{c.s.},$$

$$(3.40)$$

where the prefactors $\mathcal{E}^{(K,W)}$ in principle do depend on the complex structure moduli U. However, the precise functional dependence is not relevant here.

Given the expression (3.40) it suggests itself that also in the general case of a smooth Calabi–Yau orientifold, there will appear terms which are suppressed by a single Kähler modulus:

$$\Delta \mathcal{K}_{g_{\rm s}} \sim g_{\rm s} \frac{\mathcal{E}}{\tau_i}.\tag{3.41}$$

Clearly such terms would dominate the term induced by the α' -correction ξ/\mathcal{V} for $i \neq b$. However we have to bear in mind that the torus is very special concerning the dependence of the overall volume on the two- and four-cycle volumes. Indeed the volume can be written as $\mathcal{V} \sim \tau_i t_i$, where no summation over *i* is understood. This is not compatible with the swiss cheese form (3.29). Consequently the authors of [95] proposed that the new terms in the Kähler potential for the case of swiss cheese manifolds do not scale as in (3.40) but rather like:

$$\Delta \mathcal{K}_{g_{s}} \sim \sum_{a} g_{s} \frac{g_{K}^{a}(t, g_{s})\mathcal{E}_{a}^{(K)}}{\mathcal{V}} + \sum_{q} \frac{g_{W}^{q}(t, g_{s})\mathcal{E}_{q}^{(W)}}{\mathcal{V}}, \qquad (3.42)$$

accounting for the special form of intersection numbers.⁵ The dependence on the complex structure moduli cannot be obtained by analogy arguments from the toroidal case. It is encoded in the unknown functions $\mathcal{E}(U, \overline{U})$. From (3.42) it is clear that it depends on the so far not specified functions $g_{\rm K}^a(t, g_{\rm s})$ and $g_{\rm W}^q(t, g_{\rm s})$, whether or not the $g_{\rm s}$ -corrections will dominate the α' -corrections. They depend linearly or reciprocally on a linear combination of the two-cycle volumes $t = \sum_i c_i t_i$ respectively. This linear combination can contain the dual of the large four-cycle $\tau_b \sim \mathcal{V}^{2/3}$ and this fixes the scaling with respect to \mathcal{V} of the terms in question and ultimately if they dominate or not.

Now we consider again the example of section 3.3, i. e. the $\mathbb{P}^4_{[1,1,1,6,9]}[18]$ hypersurface. In [97] it was show that the four-cycles Γ_b and Γ_s do not intersect. Consequently there will

⁵ The form of (3.42) was confirmed in [96] by field theoretical reasoning: the requirement that the loop corrected kinetic terms for a Kähler modulus should be suppressed by a factor of g^2 (with g being the coupling constant for the gauge theory on the branes wrapping the four-cycle in question) fixes the scaling of \mathcal{V} and τ in $\Delta \mathcal{K}_{g}$.

no corrections from exchange of winding strings. Also neglecting flux corrections to the KK mass spectrum, the Kähler and superpotential we have to consider are of the form:

$$\mathcal{K} = -2\ln(\mathcal{V}) - \frac{\xi}{\mathcal{V}} + g_{s} \frac{\sqrt{\tau_{b}} \mathcal{E}_{b}^{(\mathrm{K})}}{\mathcal{V}} + g_{s} \frac{\sqrt{\tau_{s}} \mathcal{E}_{s}^{(\mathrm{K})}}{\mathcal{V}} + \mathcal{K}_{\mathrm{c.s.}},$$

$$W = W_{0} + A_{s} e^{-a_{s}T_{s}}.$$
(3.43)

Given these two functions, we can derive the scalar F-term potential in analogy to (3.10). At leading order in the V^{-1} expansion we get:

$$V_{\rm np1} = e^{\mathcal{K}_{\rm c.s.}} \frac{24a_s^2 |A_s|^2 \tau_s^{3/2} e^{-2a_s \tau_s}}{\mathcal{V}\Delta},$$

$$V_{\rm np2} = -e^{\mathcal{K}_{\rm c.s.}} g_s \frac{2a_s |A_s W_0| \tau_s e^{-a_s \tau_s}}{\mathcal{V}^2} \left(1 + \frac{6\mathcal{E}_s^{\rm (K)}}{\Delta}\right),$$

$$V_{\alpha'} = \frac{3e^{\mathcal{K}_{\rm c.s.}} |W_0|^2}{8\mathcal{V}^3} \left(\xi + g_s^2 \frac{4(\mathcal{E}_s^{\rm (K)})^2 \sqrt{\tau_s}}{\Delta}\right),$$

(3.44)

where the second term is again rendered negative upon minimizing the axion b_s and we have used the definition

$$\Delta = \sqrt{2}g_{\rm s}^{-1}\tau_s - 3\mathcal{E}_s^{\rm (K)}.$$
(3.45)

The range of validity of this expansion is limited to those regions in the moduli space where the denominator Δ does not become too small.

It is interesting to note that the loop corrections affect V_{np1} and V_{np2} at leading order in the \mathcal{V}^{-1} expansion. This is in contrast to the α' -correction, which appears only at order \mathcal{V}^{-3} . At first sight this is surprising as both corrections are equally suppressed with \mathcal{V}^{-1} in the Kähler potential (3.43). The reason for this is that the loop correction also explicitly depends on τ_s and not on the overall volume only. The terms containing the loop corrections from the big four-cycle are sub-leading. They show up at order $\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{V}^{-10/3})$:

$$V_{10/3} = 2g_{\rm s}^3 \frac{6^{1/3} |W_0|^2 e^{\mathcal{K}_{\rm cs.}}}{\mathcal{V}^{10/3}} \left(\left(\mathcal{E}_b^{\rm (K)}\right)^2 + \frac{3}{4} \partial_\alpha \mathcal{E}_b^{\rm (K)} \partial_{\bar{\alpha}} \mathcal{E}_b^{\rm (K)} \mathcal{K}_{\rm c.s.}^{\alpha \bar{\alpha}} \right).$$
(3.46)

The volume dependence of all terms of the F-term potential can be summarized by the following rule: firstly the common prefactor $e^{\mathcal{K}}$ gives an overall suppression of $\mathcal{V}^{-2} = \tau_b^{-3}$. For a quantum correction proportional to $\tau_b^{-\lambda}$, a correction appears in $V_{\alpha'}$ at order $1/\tau_b^{\lambda+3}$ for all values of λ , except for $\lambda = 1$. In the latter case, there is a cancellation at leading order and they appear only at order $1/\tau_b^{2+3}$.

The scalar potential (3.44) now has to be minimized by solving $\partial_{\mathcal{V},\tau_s} V_F = 0$. It is not instructive to do an algebraic analysis as we did in the last section for the α' -corrections only.

We consider the results of a numerical minimization procedure done in [95]. There it was found that for a range of the parameters $g_s^{-1} \in [8, 11]$ and $\mathcal{E}_s^{(K)} \in [20, 40]$, the minimum of the F-term potential is described with very good accuracy by

$$\log_{10} \mathcal{V} = 1.720 \, g_{\rm s}^{-1} - 0.1208 \, \mathcal{E}_{s}^{\rm (K)} - 3.437, \tau_{s} = 5.000 \, g_{\rm s}^{-1} - 0.3581 \, \mathcal{E}_{s}^{\rm (K)} - 8.638.$$
(3.47)

The reader should remember from (3.39) that the terms proportional to g_s^{-1} were already there without the loop corrections. The new terms are those proportional to $\mathcal{E}_s^{(K)}$ only. As an interesting fact we note that the value of \mathcal{V} and τ_s in the minimum now depend also on the complex structure moduli through $\mathcal{E}_s^{(K)}$. This is contrast to the original case where they depend on the parameter $\hat{\xi}$, and thus scale with the Euler characteristic and g_s , only.

We conclude that the influence on the position of the minimum is after all roughly 20 % but still, as the qualitative behavior of the three terms of the F-term potential does not change, it is fair to say that the LARGE is robust against string loop corrections. This result has been derived on the basis of a concrete example for the sake of clearness. However in [96] it was shown that this indeed holds whenever the g_s -corrections to the Kähler potential are homogeneous functions of the two-cycle volumes t of degree -2. In the example we considered, we obtained precisely this form of the corrections by making an educated guess. The correctness of this ansatz was confirmed also in [96] by comparing the so obtained scalar potential with the Coleman–Weinberg one-loop effective potential.

3.5. Scales and Moduli Masses

Now we come to the phenomenological properties of the LARGE volume scenario. We start with summarizing the mass scales and list the moduli spectrum. We consider again the concrete example on the swiss cheese manifold $\mathbb{P}^4_{[1,1,1,6,9]}[18]$.

In the low-energy effective action we included the lightest fields only. As we consider now a concrete model, it is possible to check the extent of validity of this approach by studying the mass scales of the heavy fields, not included in the effective action. We express the masses in units of the string mass $m_{\rm s} = \frac{1}{\ell_{\rm s}} = \frac{1}{2\pi\sqrt{\alpha'}}$. It is related to the four-dimensional Planck mass $m_{\rm P}$ by:

$$m_{\rm s} = \frac{g_{\rm s}}{\sqrt{4\pi\mathcal{V}}} m_{\rm P}.\tag{3.48}$$

The *n*th stringy excitation then simply has the mass $m_S^2 = \frac{n}{\alpha'}$ such that the scale for the lightest excitation is:

$$m_S \sim 2\pi m_{\rm s}.\tag{3.49}$$

For toroidal backgrounds the Kaluza-Klein and winding modes have a mass squared of:

$$m^2 = \frac{n^2}{R^2} + \frac{w^2 R^2}{{\alpha'}^2},\tag{3.50}$$

with $R = R_s \ell_s$ the dimensionful Kaluza–Klein radius. In terms of the string scale $m_s = \ell_s^{-1}$ this is:

$$m_{\rm KK} \sim \frac{m_{\rm s}}{R_{\rm s}}$$
 and $m_{\rm W} \sim (2\pi)^2 R_{\rm s} m_{\rm s}.$ (3.51)

As we are in the supergravity regime where $R_{\rm s} \gg 1$, the relevant modes are the KK modes. Expressed in terms of four-cycle volumes, their masses for the different cycles scale like $m_{\rm KK}^4 \sim 1/\tau_i$. The lightest KK excitation is hence correlated with the "big cycle" $\tau_b \sim \mathcal{V}^{2/3}$ such that:

$$m_{\rm KK} \sim \frac{2\pi}{\mathcal{V}_{\rm s}^{1/6}} m_{\rm s},$$
 (3.52)

where the volume has been dressed with a small 's' in the index, indicating that its string frame value is understood.

The next lightest fields are the complex structure moduli. In order to calculate their masses, we consider again the $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supergravity action with the scalar potential (2.31). In leading order we can still rely on the no-scale structure such that the potential for the complex structure moduli with all prefactors restored reads:

$$V = \frac{g_{\rm s}^4 m_{\rm P}^4}{8\pi \mathcal{V}_{\rm s}^2} \int \mathrm{d}^4 x \sqrt{-g_E} e^{\mathcal{K}_{\rm c.s.}} \left(\mathcal{K}^{a\bar{b}} D_a W D_{\bar{b}} \overline{W} \right). \tag{3.53}$$

For an analytic expression one would need the inverse of the Kähler metric

$$\mathcal{K}_{a\bar{b}} = \partial_a \partial_{\bar{b}} \ln \left(-i \int_{\mathcal{X}} \Omega \wedge \overline{\Omega} \right) \tag{3.54}$$

which in turn requires the knowledge of all the periods of the Calabi–Yau. However since we are only interested in orders of magnitude, we simply observe that the Kähler metric (3.54) is independent of the dilaton and the Kähler moduli. Hence the inverse of it will not introduce new factors of g_s and \mathcal{V} in (3.53) and we can read off the mass squared as being of the order:

$$m_{\rm c.s.}^2 \sim \frac{g_{\rm s}^4 N^2 m_{\rm P}^2}{\mathcal{V}_{\rm s}^2}.$$
 (3.55)

Here, N counts the number of flux quanta and is of the order $\sim \mathcal{O}(\sqrt{\frac{\chi}{24}})$. Expressed in

terms of the string scale, this can be rewritten to:

$$m_{\rm c.s.} \sim \frac{g_{\rm s}N}{\sqrt{\mathcal{V}_{\rm s}}} m_{\rm s}.$$
 (3.56)

By comparing this with (3.52) we see than in the LARGE limit, there is a small hierarchy between the masses of the complex structure moduli and the first Kaluza–Klein excitations. The latter set the upper bound on the energy scale, where the low-energy effective action can be trusted.

For the Kähler moduli one has to be more explicit as we can await a large hierarchy between the modulus controlling the overall volume τ_b and the small modulus τ_b . It is possible to canonically normalize the fields analytically and then taking the derivative of the scalar potential twice. We do not carry out the calculation but simply give the results, derived in [98]:

$$m_{\tau_b} \sim \frac{g_s^2 W_0}{\sqrt{a_s \tau_s} \mathcal{V}_s^{3/2}} m_{\rm P} \sim \frac{1}{\sqrt{\ln \mathcal{V}} \mathcal{V}^{3/2}} m_{\rm P}, \qquad m_{b_b} \sim \exp(-\tau_b) m_{\rm P},$$

$$m_{\tau_s} \sim m_{b_s} \sim \frac{g_s a_s \tau_s^{1/4} W_0}{\mathcal{V}_s} m_{\rm P} \sim \frac{\ln \mathcal{V}}{\mathcal{V}} m_{\rm P}.$$
(3.57)

The alert reader will have noticed that the mass of the small modulus is comparable to the mass of the complex structure moduli (3.55) so the question arises if it was consistent to integrate out the latter and to minimize only the potential for the Kähler moduli exclusively as we did in section 3.2. But there is simple argument showing that the minimum we found in this way must be a minimum also of the full potential including the complex structure moduli. This can easily be understood by noticing that the latter enter the potential with term $\frac{DWDW}{V^2}$ which vanishes in the minimum but is of the order $\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{V}^{-2})$ in principle. The vacuum energy in the minimum is of the order $-\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{V}^{-3})$. Now, if the complex structure moduli move away from their minimum where DW = 0, they contribute to the vacuum energy positively with \mathcal{V}^{-2} , which cannot be compensated with the Kähler moduli term (3.23) only, since they are of order $\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{V}^{-3})$ and so this will definitely increase the vacuum energy. Hence, the minimum we found by integrating out the complex structure moduli must be minimum also of the full potential.

3.6. Soft SUSY Breaking Terms for Chiral Matter

Having worked out the masses of the moduli fields, we now turn to the phenomenologically very interesting soft terms for the chiral matter sector, supported on the D7 branes wrapping the small cycle with volume τ_s . In particular the mass terms of the superpartners of the standard model fermions and gauge bosons may be of direct relevance for upcoming experiments at the LHC.

A naïve estimate for the mass scale of the superpartners is given by the gravitino mass $m_{3/2} = e^{\mathcal{K}/2}W$, here being roughly

$$m_{3/2} \sim \frac{W_0}{\mathcal{V}} m_{\rm P}.$$
 (3.58)

For a volume of $\mathcal{V} \sim 10^{15}$, a typical value for the LARGE volume scenario, the mass of the superpartners are at the phenomenologically interesting TeV scale.

In the LVS, supersymmetry is broken in the Kähler moduli sector. There are several mediation mechanisms which come in question to induce soft terms in the MSSM sector: mediation by Planck scale suppressed operators (gravity mediation) and by certain one-loop diagrams associated to the super-Weyl anomaly (anomaly mediation) are two mechanism which are always present and it has to be checked, which one dominates. For gauge mediation, a suitable messenger sector with appropriate couplings to the MSSM fields has to be included. In this sense, this mechanism is not as generic as the two others and we do not consider it yet, at this stage.

The first step for the computation of the soft terms is to expand the Kähler and superpotential as well as the gauge kinetic function of the matter fields C^{α} and the Higgs doublets H_1 , H_2 with respect to the supersymmetry breaking fields, here the moduli denoted by Φ :

$$W = \widehat{W}(\Phi) + \mu(\Phi)H_1H_2 + \frac{1}{6}Y_{\alpha\beta\gamma}(\Phi)C^{\alpha}C^{\beta}C^{\gamma} + \dots,$$

$$\mathcal{K} = \widehat{\mathcal{K}}(\Phi,\overline{\Phi}) + \widetilde{\mathcal{K}}_{\alpha\beta}(\Phi,\overline{\Phi})C^{\alpha}C^{\overline{\beta}} + \left[Z(\Phi,\overline{\Phi})H_1H_2 + h.c.\right] + \dots,$$

$$f_a = f_a(\Phi).$$
(3.59)

Apparently we need to know the Kähler metric of the chiral matter fields. This metric is unfortunately only known for simple toroidal models where explicit string scattering computations can be carried out. In [99] a technique was developed which allows to figure out the leading order modular dependence of the matter Kähler metrics in the LVS by simple scaling arguments. This knowledge suffices to estimate the order of magnitude of the soft terms.

The modular dependence of the matter metric can be determined in the following way: starting point are the physical Yukawa couplings $\hat{Y}_{\alpha\beta\gamma}$. They are related to the unnormalized ones $Y_{\alpha\beta\gamma}$ by:⁶

$$\widehat{Y}_{\alpha\beta\gamma} = e^{\mathcal{K}/2} \frac{Y_{\alpha\beta\gamma}}{(\widetilde{\mathcal{K}}_{\alpha}\widetilde{\mathcal{K}}_{\beta}\widetilde{\mathcal{K}}_{\gamma})^{1/2}}.$$
(3.60)

From (3.60) their modular dependence can be extracted by the help of the following two $\frac{1}{6}$ Here we assumed the matter metric to be diagonal: $\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{\alpha\beta} = \tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{\alpha}\delta_{\alpha\beta}$. The result holds however also in the

arguments: Firstly, under certain circumstances, the modular scaling behavior for the physical Yukawa couplings is known. Concerning the "big" cycle in the in the LARGE volume scenario, we can argue that the physical Yukawa couplings should be independent of the overall volume $\mathcal{V} \sim \tau_b^{3/2}$. This is because the gauge theory of the MSSM is localized on D7-branes, wrapping the small four-cycle τ_s . The swiss cheese structure of the compactification manifold guarantees that the overall volume can be increased without affecting the volume of τ_s . Consequently, the physics on the D7-branes should be untouched, when increasing the volume. Another way to state this is to say that we consistently decouple gravity by taking the limit $m_{\rm P}/m_{\rm s} \rightarrow \infty$.

Secondly, the unnormalized Yukawa couplings $Y_{\alpha\beta\gamma}$ appear in the superpotential W. In type IIB flux compactifications, the four-cycle volumes τ_i cannot appear in the tree-level superpotential. This because the Peccei–Quinn shift symmetry of the axions $b_i = \text{Im}(T_i)$, $T_i \rightarrow T_i + i\epsilon_i$ is unbroken perturbatively. A dependence on the four-cycle volume $\tau_i =$ $\text{Re}(T_i)$ would therefore induce by holomorphy a dependence on the $\text{Im}(T_i) = b_i$ which would break this symmetry. Consequently the physical Yukawa couplings cannot depend on the τ_i .

Now we expand the matter Kähler metric in a power series in τ_i :

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{K}}_{\alpha} = \tau_i^{\lambda} \widetilde{K}_0(U) + \tau_i^{\lambda - 1} \widetilde{\mathcal{K}}_1(U) + \dots$$
(3.61)

It should be noted that τ_i contains a factor of $e^{-\phi} = g_s^{-1}$ and therefore this series can be also regarded as a loop expansion. We consider at first the leading order dependence on the volume $\mathcal{V} = \tau_b^{3/2}$ by making the ansatz

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{K}}_{\alpha} = \tau_b^{-p_{\alpha}} k_{\alpha}(\tau_i, U, \phi), \qquad (3.62)$$

where by τ_i we denote all other four-cycle volumes except τ_b . Inserting this into (3.60), we get:

$$\widehat{Y}_{\alpha\beta\gamma} = \frac{xY_{\alpha\beta\gamma}}{\left(k_{\alpha}k_{\beta}k_{\gamma}(\tau_{i}, U, \phi)\right)^{1/2}}\tau_{b}^{\frac{-3+\left(p_{\alpha}+p_{\beta}+p_{\gamma}\right)}{2}},$$
(3.63)

where x is defined by $x\mathcal{V} = \tau_b^{3/2}(1 + \ldots)$. As argued before, the left hand side must be independent of τ_b . This implies that

$$p_{\alpha} + p_{\beta} + p_{\gamma} = 3. \tag{3.64}$$

As the chiral matter stems from open strings stretching between different stacks of D7-branes, which in the simplest model wrap the same four-cycle τ_s , it is natural to expect that the

exponents p_{α} are universal and finally:

$$p_{\alpha} = 1 \qquad \forall \alpha. \tag{3.65}$$

For the modular dependence on the small Kähler modulus one makes a similar ansatz:

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{K}}_{\alpha} = \frac{\tau_s^{\lambda}}{\mathcal{V}^{2/3}} k_{\alpha}(U, \phi).$$
(3.66)

The difference here is, that the physical Yukawa couplings do scale with the size of τ_s . In principle, the Yukawa couplings are given by the overlap integral of normalized wave functions, localized on the intersection locus of the D7-branes supporting the fields in question. For the case here, where all D7-branes wrap the same four-cycle one can easily show that under a rescaling $\tau_s \rightarrow \beta \tau_s$, the normalized wave functions scale as $\psi \rightarrow \frac{\psi}{\sqrt{\beta}}$ and consequently also

$$\widehat{Y}_{\alpha\beta\gamma} \to \widehat{Y}'_{\alpha\beta\gamma} \sim \int_{\Gamma_4} (\beta d^4 y) \left(\frac{\psi_\alpha}{\sqrt{\beta}}\right) \left(\frac{\psi_\beta}{\sqrt{\beta}}\right) \left(\frac{\psi_\gamma}{\sqrt{\beta}}\right) = \frac{\widehat{Y}_{\alpha\beta\gamma}}{\sqrt{\beta}}$$
(3.67)

which can be rephrased as $\widehat{Y}_{\alpha\beta\gamma} \to \widehat{Y}'_{\alpha\beta\gamma} = \frac{\widehat{Y}_{\alpha\beta\gamma}}{\sqrt{\tau_s}}$. Now we can insert again (3.66) into (3.60) and as we know now the scaling of the physical Yukawa couplings we can conclude:

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{K}}_{\alpha} \sim \frac{\tau_s^{1/3}}{\mathcal{V}^{2/3}} k_{\alpha}(U,\phi), \qquad (3.68)$$

with an unknown function of the complex structure moduli and dilaton $k_{\alpha}(U, \phi)$, which will however turn out not to be relevant for the soft terms.

For diagonal matter Kähler metric, the most general potential for the canonically normalized matter fields \hat{C}^{α} , gauginos $\hat{\lambda}^{a}$ and Higgs doublets \hat{H}_{1} , \hat{H}_{2} with supersymmetry breaking terms not inducing quadratic divergences for the scalar masses, i. e. the soft supersymmetry breaking potential of the MSSM is given by:

$$V_{\text{soft}} = \frac{1}{2} \left(M_a \widehat{\lambda}^a \widehat{\lambda}^a + h.c. \right) - m_\alpha^2 \widehat{C}^\alpha \overline{C}^{\bar{\alpha}} - \left(\frac{1}{6} A_{\alpha\beta\gamma} \widehat{Y}_{\alpha\beta\gamma} \widehat{C}^\alpha \widehat{C}^\beta \widehat{C}^\gamma + B\hat{\mu} \widehat{H}_1 \widehat{H}_2 + h.c. \right).$$
(3.69)

In the case of gravity mediation, which we consider now at first, the soft terms m_{α} , $A_{\alpha\beta\gamma}$, Band $\hat{\mu}$ are induced by the non-zero moduli F-terms $F^m = e^{\hat{\mathcal{K}}/2} \hat{\mathcal{K}}^{m\bar{n}} D_{\bar{n}} \overline{\widehat{W}}$, $m = \tau_b, \tau_s, \ldots$ They arise by expanding the $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supergravity scalar potential (2.31) in terms of the nonzero F-terms and their Kähler metric $\hat{\mathcal{K}}_m$, the matter metric $\hat{\mathcal{K}}_{\alpha}$ and superpotential. The result was computed in [100, 101] and reads:

$$m_{0}^{2} = \left(m_{3/2}^{2} + V_{0}\right) - F^{\bar{m}}F^{n}\partial_{\bar{m}}\partial_{n}\log\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{\alpha},$$

$$A_{\alpha\beta\gamma} = F^{m}\left[\hat{\mathcal{K}}_{m} + \partial_{m}\log Y_{\alpha\beta\gamma} - \partial_{m}\log(\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{\alpha}\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{\beta}\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{\gamma})\right],$$

$$B = \hat{\mu}^{-1}(\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{H_{1}}\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{H_{2}})^{-1/2} \left\{ e^{\hat{\mathcal{K}}/2}\mu \left(F^{m}\left[\hat{\mathcal{K}}_{m} + \partial_{m}\log\mu - \partial_{m}\log(\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{H_{1}}\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{H_{2}})\right] - m_{3/2}\right) + \left(2m_{3/2}^{2} + V_{0}\right)Z - m_{3/2}\overline{F}^{\bar{m}}\partial_{\bar{m}}Z + m_{3/2}F^{m}\left[\partial_{m}Z - Z\partial_{m}\log(\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{H_{1}}\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{H_{2}})\right] - \overline{F}^{\bar{m}}F^{n}\left[\partial_{\bar{m}}\partial_{n}Z - (\partial_{\bar{m}}Z)\partial_{n}\log(\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{H_{1}}\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{H_{2}})\right] \right\},$$

$$\hat{\mu} = \left(\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{H_{1}}\tilde{\mathcal{K}}_{H_{2}}\right)^{-1/2} \left(e^{\hat{\mathcal{K}}/2}\mu + m_{3/2}Z - \overline{F}^{\bar{m}}\partial_{\bar{m}}Z\right)$$
(3.70)

and

$$n_{1/2} = \frac{1}{2} (\operatorname{Re} f_a)^{-1} F^m \partial_m f_a.$$
 (3.71)

Although the formulæ are rather complicated, for the simple scaling behavior of the matter metric (3.68) and the assumption that the superpotential Yukawa couplings $Y_{\alpha\beta\gamma}$ do not depend on the Kähler moduli, the result of inserting all expressions in (3.70) turns out to yield the surprisingly simple expressions:

γ

$$m_{1/2} = \frac{F^{\tau_s}}{2\tau_s},$$

$$m_0^2 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}m_{1/2},$$

$$A_{\alpha\beta\gamma} = -m_{1/2},$$

$$B = -\frac{4}{3}m_{1/2}.$$
(3.72)

As an interesting fact it should be noted that though most of the soft terms in (3.70) scale with $m_{3/2}$, the final expressions (3.72) all scale with $\frac{F^{\tau_s}}{2\tau_s} \sim m_{3/2}/\log(m_P/m_{3/2})$. This small hierarchy between the gravitino mass and the soft terms is the result of a cancellation taking place in (3.70) whose origin will be studied in detail in chapter 6.

The suppression of the gravity mediated soft terms with respect to the gravitino mass raises the question, if anomaly mediation [102] could be the dominant mechanism for the generation of soft terms. In [103] a formula for the gaugino masses in anomaly mediation

was given:

$$m_{1/2} = -\frac{g^2}{16\pi^2} \left[(3T_G - T_R)m_{3/2} - (T_G - T_R)\mathcal{K}_i F^i - \frac{T_R}{d_R} (\ln\det\mathcal{K}|_R'')_i F^i \right].$$
(3.73)

Here, $\mathcal{K}|_R''$ denotes the Kähler metric restricted to the matter fields in the representation R. T_R and d_r are the corresponding Dynkin index and dimension; T_G denotes the Dynkin index of the respective adjoint representation. For the gauge groups SU(N) they are normalized to $T_G = N$ and $T_R = \frac{1}{2}$. With the matter metric as before, the determinant in the last term for d_R matter fields is given by:

$$\det \mathcal{K}|_{R}'' = \frac{\tau_{s}^{\frac{1}{3}d_{R}}}{\mathcal{V}_{s}^{\frac{2}{3}d_{R}}} X(\phi), \qquad (3.74)$$

with an unknown function of the complex structure moduli $X(\phi)$ which however drops out when taking the derivative of the logarithm of this expression:

$$\frac{1}{d_R} (\ln \det \mathcal{K}|_R'')_i F^i = \frac{F^s}{6\tau_s} - \frac{F^b}{2\tau_b}.$$
(3.75)

Furthermore there is the important relation:

$$\mathcal{K}_{i}F^{i} = -\frac{3F^{b}}{2\tau_{b}} \left(1 + \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{V}^{-1})\right) = 3m_{3/2} \left(1 + \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{V}^{-1})\right), \tag{3.76}$$

where i runs over the Kähler moduli. This is a consequence of the no-scale structure and will be discussed in much more detail in chapter 6 again. When putting everything together, also here cancellations occur and we have again a simple result:

$$m_{1/2}^{\text{anom.}} = \frac{g^2}{16\pi^2} \frac{1}{3} \left(\frac{F^s}{2\tau_s}\right) = \frac{g^2}{16\pi^2} \frac{1}{3} m_{1/2}^{\text{grav.}}.$$
(3.77)

We see that the anomaly mediated contribution to the gaugino mass is suppressed with respect to the gravity mediated one by the usual loop factor $\frac{g^2}{16\pi^2}$ and is thus sub-dominant. The cancellation can be traced back to the relation (3.76) and hence considered to be a consequence of the no-scale structure at leading order. One can await therefore a similar cancellation for the other soft terms induced by anomaly mediation, too. Their calculation is quite involved and (see [104, 105]) we do not carry out an analysis of them here.

3.7. Moduli Inflation

We have seen in the last section, that the no-scale structure of the Kähler moduli sector though broken — can still lead to certain cancellation effects. For instance, the soft terms are suppressed with respect to their natural value of $m_{3/2}$ by a factor of $\log(m_P/m_{3/2})$. Heuristically one might say that this is due to the fact that the mechanisms breaking the noscale structure are not at tree-level, but at higher lever in the α' -expansion of the effective field theory or even at the non-perturbative level in g_s . Moreover, the exponentially large volume can create hierarchies which are not expected in the generic case.

Thus, it might be fruitful to seek for other situations where small, fine-tuned values of a quantity are necessary for whatever reason, but the theory predicts a much larger value for the generic case.⁷ In the context of cosmology of supergravity theories, the so-called η -problem is of this kind: the slow-roll parameter $\eta = \frac{V''}{V}$ must be small in order for slow-roll inflation to work. However generically, in F-term inflation its value is expected to be of order $\mathcal{O}(1)$, unless a finely tuned cancellation is at work. Indeed the "pseudo no-scale structure" of the LVS can help here.

The prospect of implementing inflation in the context of the LVS was pioneered in [106]. A typical slow-roll potential for a field τ is given by:

$$V_{\text{infl.}} = V_0 (1 - A e^{-\tau} + \dots). \tag{3.78}$$

The scalar potential of the LARGE volume scenario contains such exponentially flat terms for the small moduli and in fact in can be recasted precisely in the form (3.78) as we will show now. Therefore, we consider again the scalar potential (3.21):

$$V_F = \frac{a_s^2 |A_s|^2 \sqrt{\tau_s} e^{-2a_s \tau_s} e^{\mathcal{K}_{cs}}}{\mathcal{V}} - \frac{a_s |A_s W_0| \tau_s e^{-a_s \tau_s}}{\mathcal{V}^2} e^{\mathcal{K}_{cs}} + \frac{\xi}{\mathcal{V}^3} |W_0|^2 e^{\mathcal{K}_{cs}}.$$
 (3.79)

For obvious reasons we assume the small modulus τ_s to be the inflaton field. At the begin of inflation it can be assumed to have a value far away from its minimum value: $a_s \tau_s \gg \ln \mathcal{V}$. In this limit, the first term scaling with $e^{-2a_s\tau_s}$ can be neglected. The second term, scaling with $e^{-a_s\tau_s}$, as being negative, decreases the potential energy when decreasing the value of τ_s . Provided that all other moduli, in particular the overall volume, are fixed, the exponential flatness in τ_s can drive inflation.

However, displacing τ_s from its minimum nullifies its contribution to the scalar potential, producing a runaway direction for the overall volume. Thus, we need at least one more small Kähler modulus, which we assume to have fallen already into its minimum, where it becomes heavy and decouples from inflationary dynamics. This induces a contribution to

⁷ The most obvious quantity falling in this category is the cosmological constant. As it is well-known, it is also the most resistant to simple explanations for its tiny value. We will comment on this subject in section 5.3.
the scalar potential of the order $\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{V}^{-3})$, stabilizing the overall volume. We have now:

$$V_F = V_0 - \frac{|W_0|}{\mathcal{V}^2} 4a_s |A_s| \tau_s e^{-a_s \tau_s} \quad \text{with} \quad V_0 \sim \frac{\beta W_0^2}{\mathcal{V}^3}, \quad (3.80)$$

which has a similar form like (3.78). However that is only half the truth. The Kähler metric for the small modulus $\mathcal{K}_{ss} = \frac{3\lambda}{8\sqrt{\tau_s}\mathcal{V}}$ is non-trivial, so τ_s has to be canonically normalized. After doing so, the scalar potential looses its simple form and we ought to analyze the slow-roll parameter:

$$\epsilon = \frac{m_{\rm P}^2}{2} \left(\frac{V'}{V}\right)^2, \qquad \eta = m_{\rm P}^2 \frac{V''}{V}, \qquad \xi = m_{\rm P}^4 \frac{V'V'''}{V^2}, \tag{3.81}$$

where the derivatives have to be taken with respect to the canonically normalized field τ_s^c . One finds:

$$\begin{aligned} \epsilon &= \frac{32\mathcal{V}^3}{3\beta^2 W_0^2} a_s^2 A_s^2 \sqrt{\tau_s} (1 - a_s \tau_s)^2 e^{-2a_s \tau_s}, \\ \eta &= -\frac{4a_s A_s \mathcal{V}^2}{3\lambda \sqrt{\tau_s} \beta W_0} \Big[\Big(1 - 9a_s \tau_s + 4(a_s \tau_s)^2 \Big) e^{-a_s \tau_s} \Big], \\ \xi &= \frac{-32(a_s A_s)^2 \mathcal{V}^4}{9\beta^2 \lambda^2 W_0^2 \tau_s} (1 - a_s \tau_s) \Big(1 + 11a_s \tau_s - 30(a_s \tau_s)^2 + 8(a_s \tau_s)^3 \Big) e^{-2a_s \tau_s}, \end{aligned}$$
(3.82)

and we see that the slow-roll conditions $\xi \ll \epsilon$ and in particular $\eta \ll 1$ are satisfied, as indeed for large initial values of τ_s we surely have $e^{-a_s\tau_s} \ll \frac{1}{V^2}$.

The requirement that the number of e-foldings $N_e = \int_{\phi_{end}}^{\phi} \frac{V}{V'} d\phi$ should be in the range 50 to 60 and the COBE normalization for the density fluctuations $\delta_H = 1.92 \times 10^{-5}$ should be matched, eventually fixes several parameters of the model. It turns out that the influence of the threshold correction A_s and the tree-level superpotential value W_0 are rather unimportant at this and it is only the overall volume which is constrained in the narrow range

$$10^5 \le \mathcal{V} \le 10^6.$$
 (3.83)

This is clearly in tension with the value of $V \sim 10^{15} - 10^{16}$ which is needed for TeV scale supersymmetry breaking.

3.8. Cosmological Moduli Problem

Inflation is not the only cosmological stage, where moduli can play a rôle. They exhibit only very weak, gravitational-strength interactions with ordinary matter. Therefore they may decay in the later history of the universe, bringing up the question, whether they can spoil nucleosynthesis or overclose the universe [107].

In contrast to the section before we assume now again a compactification volume of $\mathcal{V} \sim 10^{15}$, giving rise to TeV scale supersymmetry breaking — the case where the post-inflationary cosmological development is well-known.

We study now the decay of the Kähler moduli into a pair of photons. The relevant Lagrangian in the vicinity of the moduli minimum $\tau_i = \langle \tau_i \rangle + \delta \tau_i$ is simply given by:

$$\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{K}_{ij}\partial_{\mu}(\delta\tau_i)\partial^{\mu}(\delta\tau_j) - V_0 - (M^2)_{ij}(\delta\tau_i)(\delta\tau_j) - \mathcal{O}(\delta\tau^3) - \kappa \frac{\tau_{\alpha}}{m_{\rm P}}F_{\mu\nu}F^{\mu\nu}, \qquad (3.84)$$

where the gauge kinetic function $f_{U(1)} = \kappa \tau_{\alpha}$ for the U(1) part of the standard model, realized on D7-branes wrapping the small cycle α was used. The couplings can be read off after canonically normalizing the moduli fields in (3.84) and rewriting the Lagrangian in terms of the mass eigenstates of $(\mathcal{K}^{-1})_{ij}(M^2)_{jk}$, in the following denoted by Φ and χ . Written in terms of the new fields, the Lagrangian is:

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\mu} \Phi \partial^{\mu} \Phi + \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\mu} \chi \partial^{\mu} \chi - V_0 - \frac{1}{2} m_{\Phi}^2 \Phi^2 - \frac{1}{2} m_{\chi}^2 \chi^2 - \frac{1}{4} F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu} - \frac{\left(\Phi(v_{\Phi})_s + \chi(v_{\chi})_s\right)}{4\sqrt{2} \langle \tau_s \rangle m_P} F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu}$$
(3.85)

and likewise, in terms of the eigenvectors v_{Φ} and v_{χ} , the couplings λ of the moduli to photons can be read off. They are:

$$\lambda_{\Phi\gamma\gamma} = \frac{(v_{\Phi})_s}{\sqrt{2}\langle \tau_s \rangle}, \qquad \lambda_{\chi\gamma\gamma} = \frac{(v_{\chi})_s}{\sqrt{2}\langle \tau_s \rangle}.$$
(3.86)

The explicit diagonalization of the respective matrices can be found in the appendix of [107]. The mass eigenvalues turn out to be:

$$m_{\Phi}^{2} \sim \operatorname{Tr}(\mathcal{K}^{-1}M^{2}) \sim \left(2m_{3/2}\ln(m_{P}/m_{3/2})\right)^{2} \sim \left(\frac{\ln \mathcal{V}}{\mathcal{V}}\right)^{2} \sim (1000 \text{ TeV})^{2},$$

$$m_{\chi}^{2} \sim \frac{\det(\mathcal{K}^{-1}M^{2})}{\operatorname{Tr}(\mathcal{K}^{-1}M^{2})} \sim \frac{1}{(\ln \mathcal{V})\mathcal{V}^{3}} \sim (1 \text{ MeV})^{2}.$$
(3.87)

By comparing comparing (3.87) with (3.57) we see that the heavy eigenstate Φ is mostly given by τ_s and the light one by τ_b . However, by re-expressing the original fields $\delta \tau_b$ and $\delta \tau_s$ in terms of Φ and χ it is revealed that there is a small mixing between the fields. This has the interesting consequence that the light field, though mostly aligned with τ_b has a coupling to the photons localized on τ_s , which would not be the case for τ_b alone. This has an apparent effect on the couplings which come out to be:

$$\lambda_{\chi\gamma\gamma} = \frac{\sqrt{6}}{2m_{\rm P}\ln(m_{\rm P}/m_{3/2})}, \qquad \lambda_{\Phi\gamma\gamma} = \frac{2}{\sqrt{3}} \frac{\langle \tau_b \rangle^{3/4}}{\langle \tau_s \rangle^{3/4} m_{\rm P}} \sim \frac{\sqrt{\mathcal{V}}}{m_{\rm P}} \sim \frac{1}{m_{\rm s}}.$$
 (3.88)

The coupling of the light field is suppressed with respect to the naïve expectation of $\lambda \sim 1/m_{\rm P}$ with a factor of $\ln(m_{\rm P}/m_{3/2})$ suppressing the decay rate with $\ln(m_{\rm P}/m_{3/2})^2 \sim 1000$. Even more striking is the fact that the coupling of the heavy field Φ is suppressed with the string scale only instead of the Planck scale. As $m_{\rm s} \ll m_{\rm P}$, it will decay very rapidly, possibly imposing phenomenological problems in the early universe as we will see in a moment.

Another decay channel of the moduli is the one into an e^+e^- pair. The corresponding couplings can be obtained in a similar way as for the photons upon using the matter Kähler metric (3.68). One finds for the couplings:

$$\lambda_{\chi ee} \sim \left(1 + \frac{1}{a\langle \tau_s \rangle}\right) \frac{m_e}{\sqrt{6}m_{\rm P}}, \qquad \lambda_{\Phi ee} \sim \frac{\sqrt{\mathcal{V}}m_e}{m_{\rm P}}.$$
 (3.89)

Finally, moduli may also decay into gravitini. Generically in models with heavy moduli, one encounters a large branching ratio for this channel of the order $\mathcal{O}(1)$ [108, 109]. This is problematic as an overproduction of gravitini in the early universe may spoil nucleosynthesis or exceed the observed abundance of dark matter. However, also here the LVS turns out to be very special: as the gravitino is a bulk field, the decay of the heavy modulus $\Phi \to 2\psi_{3/2}$, as being mostly τ_s , is suppressed by a factor of $(m_s/m_P)^2 = \mathcal{V}^{-1}$. Moreover, the dominant F-term in this model is the one associated with the light modulus τ_b and not with the small and heavy modulus τ_s giving another factor of \mathcal{V} . This results in a double suppression of the $\Phi \to 2\psi_{3/2}$ decay mode and so, the branching ratio can estimated by $Br(\Phi \to 2\psi_{3/2}) \sim \mathcal{V}^{-2} \sim 10^{-30}$.

For cosmology, the lifetimes of the moduli are of interest. For a particular decay mode, they are basically given by the inverse square of the corresponding couplings: $\tau = \frac{64\pi m_p^2}{\lambda^2 m^3}$. Inserting the numerical values, we find:

$$\tau_{\chi \to \gamma \gamma} \sim 6 \times 10^{25} \text{s}, \qquad \tau_{\chi \to e^+ e^-} \sim 1.7 \times 10^{24} \text{s}, \\ \tau_{\Phi \to e^+ e^-} \sim 10^{-17} \text{s},$$
(3.90)

where we listed only the dominant decay channel for the heavy field Φ .

The small mass in the MeV range of the field χ is a result of the large overall volume and thus a generic feature of the LVS. It is well-known that light moduli fields can be problematic for early-universe cosmology: low masses imply long life-times and after inflation they may thus dominate the energy density of the universe or spoil nucleosynthesis. After inflation, the light modulus fields starts oscillating around its minimum. As radiation decreases with a^{-4} , but the energy in these coherent oscillations only with a^{-3} , it will become the dominant energy density of the universe. At the temperature T_D , the field decays, converting this energy density back into radiation of the temperature:

$$T_{\rm RH} \sim \left(\rho(T_D)\right)^{1/4} \sim \left(\frac{m_{\rm P}}{\tau}\right)^{1/2} \sim \left(\frac{m_{\phi}^3}{m_{\rm P}}\right)^{1/2}.$$
 (3.91)

A too low reheating temperature of $T_{\rm RH} \lesssim 10$ MeV causes a too large increase in the entropy of the universe given by:

$$\Delta = \left(\frac{T_{\rm RH}}{T_D}\right)^3. \tag{3.92}$$

This washes out any previously generated baryon asymmetry. The bound on the reheating temperature can be converted into a mass bound: moduli fields with a mass lower than $m_{\phi} \leq 100$ TeV will spoil nucleosynthesis. This is the so-called cosmological moduli problem.

From (3.56) we see that the complex structure and dilaton moduli have a mass of approximately ~ 10 TeV and are apparently subject to the CMP a priory. However their lower suppressed contribution to the scalar potential of \mathcal{V}^{-2} (in contrast to \mathcal{V}^{-3} for the Kähler moduli) keeps the fields trapped at the minimum, evading the dangerous oscillations.

The heavy modulus field has a mass of $\sim 10^3$ TeV. Its coupling to ordinary matter is suppressed with the string scale only rather than the Planck scale and thus its lifetime is very short. We have seen that its branching ratio for $\Phi \to 2\psi_{3/2}$ is doubly suppressed with the volume and thus 30 orders of magnitude smaller than the usual expectation of $\mathcal{O}(1)$. In all it does not suppose any cosmological problems.

However, the light field χ with its mass in the MeV range *is* clearly subject to the CMP, raising an inherent problem of the LARGE volume scenario. A possible loophole is the so-called thermal inflation [110]. By this one denotes a class of models which after the usual slow-roll inflation enter again in a short period of low-energy inflation. This can be usefully applied to the LVS as the overproduced light modulus field can be sufficiently diluted during this phase.

The mechanism driving thermal inflation works as follows: in supersymmetric theories, there are many flat directions in field space which are lifted only after supersymmetry breaking. For such a field σ usually a vacuum expectation value much larger than its mass is assumed. In thermal equilibrium with matter, its scalar potential is corrected by finite temperature effects:

$$V = V_0 + (T^2 - m_{\sigma}^2)\sigma^2 + \dots$$
(3.93)

At temperatures $T > T_c = m_{\sigma}$, the field is trapped at the origin, which is however only a false vacuum. When the potential energy density V_0 begins to dominate as the temperature falls below $T \sim V_0^{1/4} > T_c$, a short period of inflation develops which ends at $T = T_c$ when

the field σ becomes tachyonic at the origin and runs into its zero temperature minimum. The number of e-foldings during this period can be estimated to be:

$$N \sim \log(V_0^{1/4}/T_C) \sim \log(M_*/m_\sigma)^{1/2},$$
 (3.94)

where M_* denotes the zero temperature minimum of the potential. Reasonable values proposed for the so-called "flaton" field σ are $m_{\sigma} \sim 1$ TeV and $M_* \sim 10^{11}$ GeV, giving rise to about ten e-foldings. This is a preferred value as it is just enough to dilute the overproduced moduli and thus solving the CMP without interfering the density perturbations from the original slow-roll inflation.

It happens that the two scales M_* and m_{σ} are automatically present in the examples for the LVS we considered: these are the string scale m_s and the supersymmetry breaking scale $\sim m_{3/2}$. Natural candidates for flaton fields in such string compactifications could be for example open string moduli stemming from the D7-branes supporting the standard model.

The lightness of the moduli field χ may be challenging for the LARGE volume scenario. However, once having overcome the cosmological moduli problem — for instance with a phase of thermal inflation — it may also have interesting applications in the later history of the universe: as being very long lived, it may serve as a dark matter component. We saw in (3.90) that the decay channel $\chi \rightarrow e^+e^-$ is dominant. Being so, these decays could be responsible for the 511 keV line observed from the galactic center. Observations of the gamma ray spectrum puts a bound on the positron injection energy of $\lesssim 3$ MeV. This indeed fits nicely to the estimates for the mass of χ of ~ 1 MeV.

4. Moduli Stabilization and Chirality

In the last chapter, we introduced the LARGE volume scenario and pointed out some of its attractive features. After having stabilized all moduli, it is possible to address cosmological questions and to calculate the low-energy phenomenological parameters (at least their order of magnitude) as gauge couplings and particle spectra.

It must be admitted that so far, we have to not been very rigorous concerning the numerous string theoretical consistency conditions discussed in chapter 2. In particular we simply assumed that the standard model or its supersymmetric extension is realized in a consistent way on a stack of D7-branes wrapping one single small internal four-cycle. Even this alone is an extreme challenging and to this day still not completely solved problem in the type IIB context (for progress into this direction in heterotic model building see for instance [111, 112] and related work).

At the latest now, after having demonstrated that within the LVS it is possible to tackle a lot of interesting phenomenological questions, it is time to set value on accuracy and to show that this scenario can really be constructed with all consistency conditions within string theory.

Along this way, we will encounter a serious problem: an important implicit assumption made so far was that it is a valid procedure to split the construction of such string models into two steps. The first one is to fix all moduli by a combination of fluxes and non-perturbative effects. After that has been achieved, the second step is to introduce the *module* of the MSSM on some intersecting respectively magnetized D7-branes. However it will turn out that there is a fundamental problem when combining a chiral MSSM like module with the moduli stabilization module: Firstly it leads to the generation of a D-term potential, which appears at lower order in the 1/V expansion of the scalar potential. Therefore, there is the danger of destabilizing the large volume minimum. Secondly, as anticipated in section 2.7, on the intersection of the D7-branes with the E3-brane instantons, extra charged *chiral* fermionic zero modes can appear, possibly spoiling the generation of an uncharged superpotential.

As we will show, due to the chirality of the D7-brane sector, in our MSSM case the D7-branes and the E3-branes should better wrap in some sense "orthogonal" four-cycles. This means that not all the sizes of the D7-branes are fixable by instanton induced F-terms. However, it is precisely the sizes of these cycles on which some of the low-energy MSSM parameters depend. Therefore, by this effect we seem to loose part of the very predictive power of the models.

However, the combination of both aspects mentioned in the previous paragraph provides a

natural solution for the problem of fixing all Kähler moduli for an MSSM like model. Nonperturbative effects fix some of the Kähler moduli except the ones controlling the size of the MSSM branes. These latter are fixed by the vanishing of the D-term potential. Since it is a D-term, there could also be charged matter contributions. Again, by requiring not to break the MSSM gauge symmetry already at the high scale they should better have vanishing vacuum expectation values.

As we are forced so separate the moduli stabilizing instanton sector from the MSSM sector on different four-cycles, in order to stick on our intent to be more rigorous, we need to consider another compactification manifold as the standard example considered so far, the $\mathbb{P}_{[1,1,1,6,9]}[18]$, supports only one small four-cycle. This will be done in section 4.2, where we investigate some of the geometrical and topological aspects of the swiss cheese type Calabi–Yau manifold defined via the resolution of the singular hypersurface in a weighted projective space $\mathbb{P}_{[1,3,3,3,5]}[15]_{(3,75)}$. In appendix B, we will also provide the geometric data for a second new swiss cheese Calabi–Yau, namely the resolution of $\mathbb{P}_{[1,1,3,10,15]}[30]_{(5,251)}$.

4.1. Instantons and Chirality

At first, in this section, we are going to investigate the aforementioned interplay between a chiral theory realized by intersecting and magnetized D7-branes and the E3-brane instantons. More specifically, we assume again for the moment that some version of the MSSM can be described by a configuration of D7-branes wrapping four-cycles in the Calabi–Yau manifold.

To prepare our discussion let us stress the following important points: In order for an E3-brane instanton to actually generate a superpotential term like in (3.6), to be precise a term:

$$W_{\text{n.p.}} = A(S, U)e^{-\sum_{i} a_i T_i},\tag{4.1}$$

according to section 2.7, the zero mode structure must be of a special nature.¹ For the case of the $\mathbb{P}_{[1,1,1,6,9]}[18]$ example, in the original literature it was argued that such a contribution must be present as the small divisor τ_s has an F-theory uplift to a six-dimensional divisor in the Calabi–Yau fourfold with $\chi(D, \mathcal{O}) = 1$. By the zero mode criterion derived in [80], an instanton along such a cycle may contribute to the superpotential. This is however only a necessary condition. A detailed analysis of the zero mode structure along the lines of section 2.7 must be performed in order to decide whether such a contribution is really generated or not. We do so in the next section.

¹ This and likewise the problems that will follow hold equally for the KKLT construction which relies on a similar non-perturbative term in the superpotential.

4.1.1. E3-brane Instantons

We are now going to investigate E3-brane instanton effects in more detail. In particular, we turn our attention to additional zero modes which can arise from D-branes supporting chiral matter on the same cycle. These may spoil a generation of the form (4.1). We will also comment on the case that we freeze the Kähler moduli by gaugino condensates on a stack of N_c D7-branes wrapping a four-cycle D_G .

Following what we have said in 2.7, in order to contribute in whatever way to the superpotential, the following points have to be respected:

- A single, isolated instanton must wrap a four-cycle invariant under the orientifold projection and must carry an O(1) gauge symmetry [78, 79, 113]. In the case of h^(1,1)₋(X) = 0, this implies that the instanton carries a trivial gauge bundle.
- Next, we have to worry about deformation zero modes of the E3-instanton. These are clearly absent, if the E3-brane wrapping the four-dimensional divisor D does not have any further moduli. That is, there are no Wilson lines counted by $H^1(D, \mathcal{O})$ or transverse deformations counted by $H^2(D, \mathcal{O})$. If this sufficient condition is not satisfied, then fluxes or curvature on the moduli space might soak up some of the zero modes, but a more careful analysis is necessary [85, 114]. Similarly, for gaugino condensation many adjoint matter fields counted by $H^i(D_G, \mathcal{O})$ with i = 1, 2 spoil asymptotic freedom of the gauge theory on the D7_G-branes.
- If, as in our case, there are additional space-time filling D7-branes present, there can appear extra charged fermionic zero modes from the intersection of the E3-instanton and the D7-branes [34]. The chiral index of these fermionic zero modes is

$$Z_a = N_a \int_{D_a \cap D_{\mathrm{E3}}} c_1(\mathcal{L}_a) = N_a \int_{\mathcal{X}} c_1(\mathcal{L}_a) \wedge [D_a] \wedge [D_{\mathrm{E3}}].$$
(4.2)

In order to soak up these additional fermionic zero modes, one has to pull down charged matter fields in the instanton computation. The pure exponential term as in (4.1) is then multiplied by products of charged matter superfields Φ_i as [34]

$$W_{\text{string}} \sim \left[\prod_{i} \Phi_{i}\right] e^{-S_{\text{inst}}}.$$
 (4.3)

Remember that such instantons are not gauge instantons and therefore often called "stringy" or "exotic" instantons.

• For the special case when the E3-instanton lies right on top of the D7-branes², it is

² Note that in [73, 115] it was shown that for an instanton on top of a single D-brane also a superpotential of the form (4.3) can be generated.

possible to have non-trivial gauge bundles on the instanton. It can then be regarded as a gauge instanton from the perspective of the D7-brane gauge theory and additional bosonic and non-chiral fermionic zero modes arise parameterizing the ADHM instanton super moduli space [69, 76, 78, 79]. The effect of such instantons is of the same nature as gaugino condensates for the gauge theory on stacks of D7_G-branes, so that we can discuss them together. In order to soak up the ADHM zero modes one needs extra non-chiral (with respect to the $U(N_G)$ gauge group) matter zero modes from the intersection of the E3-instanton with the other D7-branes [76, 116]. If we end up with an $SU(N_c)$ gauge group with effectively N_f flavors, then for $N_f < N_c$ the contribution to the superpotential is

$$W_{\text{gauge}} \sim \frac{1}{\det_{ff'} \left[\widetilde{\Phi}_f^c \Phi_{cf'} \right]} e^{-S_{\text{inst}}}.$$
(4.4)

In writing this, it is assumed that we are on the Higgs branch, where the determinant is non-vanishing and so the flavor gauge group is completely broken. Such a configuration is not part of the MSSM and therefore the instanton respectively the D_G branes should better not have any intersection with the D-branes supporting the MSSM.

4.1.2. Moduli Stabilization for Chiral Models

We will now argue that given the structure and constraints from the previous discussion, for chiral orientifolds not all Kähler moduli can be frozen by instantons. In particular, some of the moduli controlling the size of the chiral D7-brane sector are left unfixed by the E3-brane instantons.

Let us first summarize the possible matter fields which can be present in the configurations we are considering.

- We assume that the chiral MSSM like matter fields, denoted as Φ_{SM}, are part of the chiral matter spectrum arising on a set of intersecting D7-branes carrying initial gauge group G = Π^K_{a=1} U(N_a). Typical examples discussed in the literature are G = U(5) × U(1), G = U(4) × U(2) × U(2) or G = U(3) × U(2) × U(1) × U(1).
- There can also be additional (chiral) fields, which also arise from the same set of intersecting D7-branes leading to so-called exotic matter fields. There can exist exotic matter fields transforming in non-trivial representations of the non-abelian part of the MSSM gauge group. These are denoted as Φ_{exo}.
- However, since in D-brane models we genuinely have these extra U(1) gauge factors, there might be fields which are not charged under the MSSM gauge group $SU(3) \times$

 $SU(2) \times U(1)_Y$ but carry non-trivial charges with respect to U(1)s orthogonal to $U(1)_Y$. These we denote as Φ_{abel} .

 In addition there can in principle be further hidden sector matter fields Φ_H, whose Dterms and F-terms however do not mix with the standard model ones. Therefore, we will not focus on those in the following. However, this sector might be important for the eventual uplift of the AdS minimum to de Sitter with small cosmological constant.

Consider now an E3-instanton wrapping a four-cycle which gives rise to extra standard model charged zero modes. These can either be chiral fermionic zero modes coming from stringy instantons or non-chiral zero modes from gauge instantons. To soak up all these zero modes, the superpotential coupling must contain products of the standard model matter fields Φ_{SM} and, since they appear on the same D7-branes, also products of the additional fields Φ_{exo} and Φ_{abel}

$$W \sim \prod_{i} \Phi_{\rm SM}^{(i)} \prod_{j} \Phi_{\rm exo}^{(j)} \prod_{k} \Phi_{\rm abel}^{(k)} e^{-T_{\rm E3}}.$$
(4.5)

Note that for gauge instantons or gaugino condensates there will be determinants of the matter fields in the denominator. Furthermore, in the equation above $T_{E3} = \sum_{i} m^{i} T_{i}$ denotes the Kähler modulus corresponding to the instanton on the cycle $D_{E3} = \sum_{i} m^{i} D_{i}$.

The important point is now that, for phenomenological reasons, at this high scale we do not want to break the MSSM gauge symmetry by giving vevs to these fields. If we allow for vevs of charged matter fields, the D-term potential (4.13), which we will consider in the next section, generates a mass of the generic order $m_{\text{matter}} = m_{\text{P}}/\sqrt{\mathcal{V}} = m_{\text{s}}$ for them, i. e. the matter fields become very heavy. The MSSM gauge symmetry breaking and mass generation should occur as usual at the low scale in the process of supersymmetry breaking. Therefore, we are only interested in vacua with $\langle \Phi_{\text{SM}} \rangle = \langle \Phi_{\text{exo}} \rangle = 0$, so that effectively the contribution of such an instanton to the superpotential vanishes and the F-term potential V_F does not depend explicitly on T_{E3} . What could be possible in principle is to allow vevs for GUT Higgs fields.

Of course this argumentation is not really satisfying as in a fully realistic moduli stabilization scenario, we also would like to have these charged matter fields stabilized *dynamically*. But our point of view is, that it is very likely that in a given concrete model the four contributions:³

- the soft supersymmetry breaking mass terms $V_{
 m soft}=m^2\Phi_{
 m SM}^2,$
- the perturbative and instanton induced superpotential contributions of the form $W = \prod \Phi_{SM}$,
- the D-terms and

³ See for instance [117, 118] for a recent discussion of matter fields moduli stabilization.

• the generic absence of gauge instantons or gaugino condensates for MSSM fields, i. e. terms like $W_{\rm gauge} \sim \frac{1}{\det(\Phi_{\rm SM})} e^{-S_{\rm inst}}$

suffice to freeze to MSSM matter fields at $\langle \Phi_{SM} \rangle = \langle \Phi_{exo} \rangle = 0$. If such a mechanism is indeed at work, then, since they appear in the same open string sector, also the fields Φ_{abel} are likely to be frozen at vanishing vevs. However, just from phenomenology these vevs could be non-vanishing, a fact to be kept in mind when we will mainly discuss the case $\langle \Phi_{abel} \rangle = 0$.

Therefore, if we want to fix the size of the four-cycle the E3-instanton is wrapping, it should not have any zero modes charged under the standard model gauge symmetry. Recall that we derived the analogous condition also for moduli freezing via gaugino condensates on a stack of D7-branes wrapping a four-cycle D_G . There too, D_G should not have any charged matter fields from intersections with branes supporting the MSSM.

Recalling then equation (4.2), we have to satisfy the necessary condition

$$N_a \int_{\mathcal{X}} c_1(\mathcal{L}_a) \wedge [D_a] \wedge [D_{\mathrm{E3}}] = 0, \qquad (4.6)$$

for standard model branes wrapping the divisor D_a with line bundle \mathcal{L} . Furthermore, not only the chiral instanton zero modes have to be absent but also those which are vector-like. For determining them one has to compute the cohomology classes

$$H^{i}\left(D_{a}\cap D_{\mathrm{E3}},\mathcal{L}_{a}\otimes\mathcal{K}_{D_{a}}^{\frac{1}{2}}\otimes\mathcal{K}_{D_{\mathrm{E3}}}^{\frac{1}{2}}\right) \qquad \text{for } i=0,1,$$

$$(4.7)$$

where \mathcal{K}_D denotes the canonical line bundle of the divisor $D \subset \mathcal{X}$. If these cohomology classes are non-trivial, extra pairs of instanton zero modes are present and the resulting term in the superpotential will be of the form (4.5). However we will mainly be concerned with chiral zero modes and generically do not explicitly determine the vector-like ones. But one has to keep in mind that they might be present and one has to worry about soaking them up.

Coming back to equation (4.6), we can expand the Poincaré dual of the instanton cycle $[D_{E3}]$ in a basis $\{\omega_i\}$ of two-forms in $H^{1,1}(\mathcal{X})$

$$[D_{\rm E3}] = \sum_{i} m^{i} \omega_{i}. \tag{4.8}$$

Then, we define the following matrix

$$M_{a,i} = \int_{\mathcal{X}} c_1(\mathcal{L}_a) \wedge [D_a] \wedge \omega_i, \qquad (4.9)$$

with $i = 1, ..., h^{(1,1)}(\mathcal{X})$ and a = 1, ..., K where K is the number of MSSM supporting

D7-branes carrying U(N) gauge symmetry. To not over-constrain the system, we can assume that $K \leq h^{(1,1)}$ and so the maximal number of linear independent E3-brane instantons N_{E3} one is allowed to introduce is given by the kernel of the matrix $M_{a,i}$.

Since the kernel of the matrix (4.9) is not equal to $h^{(1,1)}(\mathcal{X})$ because of the chirality of the MSSM, it is clear that not all Kähler moduli can be stabilized by E3-brane instantons. Here we want to stress again that this equally holds for the KKLT model, as soon as a chiral matter sector is included.

4.1.3. The Chiral D7-brane Sector

The formula for the chiral spectrum between two D7-branes (2.50) implies that in order to obtain chirality, it is necessary that at least one of the D7-branes carries a non-trivial U(N) gauge bundle. For our purposes, it is not crucial to have a complete MSSM sector, but we will just take one of the main features of the standard model, namely its chirality, and assume the minimal chiral configuration. We consider K stacks of N_a D7-branes wrapping the cycle D_a with vector bundle V_a . However, in order to avoid stability issues of higher rank vector bundles and vector bundle moduli, from now on we just choose line bundles \mathcal{L}_a on the D7-branes.

For such chiral intersecting D-brane models, it is known that generically they contain anomalous U(1) gauge symmetries. For D7-branes, these anomalies are canceled by the four-dimensional axions

$$\rho_a = \int_{D_a} C_4,\tag{4.10}$$

arising from the dimensional reduction of the R–R four-form along the four-cycle D_a . Indeed, the Chern–Simons action for a D7-brane on a four-cycle D_a contains terms of the form

$$S_{\rm CS} \sim \int_{\mathbb{R}^{1,3} \times D_a} C_4 \wedge F \wedge F,$$
 (4.11)

which give rise to the following Green–Schwarz couplings. First, there is the mass term for the gauge field obtained by choosing two legs of C_4 along D_a and F to be the curvature of the internal line bundle \mathcal{L} . Second, the $\rho - A^2$ vertex arises from choosing all four legs of C_4 along D_a . Such a gauging of the axionic shift symmetry leads to a Fayet–Iliopoulos term for a U(1), which in our case turns out to be

$$\xi_a = \frac{1}{\widehat{\mathcal{V}}} \int_{\mathcal{X}} c_1(\mathcal{L}_a) \wedge [D_a] \wedge \hat{J}.$$
(4.12)

Therefore, a chiral D7-brane sector necessarily gives rise to a D-term potential V_D of the

following form

$$V_D = \sum_{a=1}^{K} \frac{1}{\text{Re}(f_a)} \left(\sum_i Q_i^{(a)} |\phi_i|^2 - \xi_a \right)^2,$$
(4.13)

where $m_{\rm P} = 1$ and $Q_i^{(a)}$ are the $U(1)_a$ charges of the canonically normalized matter fields ϕ_i . Furthermore, $\operatorname{Re}(f_a)$ denotes the real part of the gauge kinetic function for the corresponding D-brane. It is effectively the DBI action of a supersymmetric E3-brane instanton along the cycle D_a and reads

$$\operatorname{Re}(f_a) = e^{-\phi} \frac{1}{2} \int_{D_a} J \wedge J - e^{-\phi} \int_{D_a} \operatorname{ch}_2(B + \mathcal{L}_a) = \hat{\tau}_a - \operatorname{Re}(S)c_a.$$
(4.14)

Here, c_a denotes the integrated second Chern character of $B + \mathcal{L}_a$ on the respective D7brane and $\hat{\tau}_a$ is the (Einstein frame) volume of D_a .

Note that this D-term is generically only of order \mathcal{V}^{-2} in the volume expansion (3.21) so that an additional (natural) D-term supersymmetry breaking destabilizes the large volume minimum found at order \mathcal{V}^{-3} . Therefore, for preserving the large volume minimum we will require that the D-term vanishes, i. e. $V_D = 0$. The other option is to allow for significant fine-tuning and use this D-term in a hidden sector for up-lifting the AdS minimum to a small and positive vacuum energy [90, 119–121].

4.1.4. Moduli Stabilization with D-Terms

After having shown that the D-terms stemming from the chiral matter sector do not destabilize the LARGE volume minimum, we now explore their impact on moduli stabilization. Therefore let us expand the Kähler form J in the basis $\{\omega_i\}$ as $J = \sum_i t^i \omega_i$. Recalling then equation (4.12), we find that the Fayet–Iliopoulos parameter can be expressed as

$$\xi_a = \frac{1}{\widehat{\mathcal{V}}} \int_{\mathcal{X}} c_1(\mathcal{L}_a) \wedge [D_a] \wedge \hat{J} = \frac{1}{\widehat{\mathcal{V}}} \sum_i M_{a,i} \hat{t}^i, \qquad (4.15)$$

so that the Kähler moduli will also appear in the D-terms. The vanishing of the D-terms then provides additional restrictions on the t^i . Indeed, the number of moduli fixed through these equations is given by the rank of the matrix $M_{a,i}$, defined in (4.9), which satisfies $\operatorname{rk}(M) \geq K_{\text{anom}}$ where K_{anom} denotes the number of anomalous U(1) gauge factors supported on the MSSM branes. To be more precise, the Kähler moduli counted by the defect of $M_{a,i}$ are fixed by the D-term. These are orthogonal to the ones possibly fixed by E3-instantons and are in the kernel of $M_{a,i}$. Since the MSSM matter spectrum is chiral, it is clear from the definition of $M_{a,i}$ that there must be at least one anomalous U(1) gauge factor.

To summarize: at most $h^{(1,1)} - K_{anom}$ Kähler moduli can be fixed by E3-instantons whereas for the remaining moduli, which control the size of the D7-branes supporting the MSSM

sector, there appears a D-term potential. For not destabilizing the large volume minimum due to the $1/\mathcal{V}^2$ factor in front, this D-term has to vanish. Therefore, despite our initial concern, with sufficient rigid instantons being present in a model, we have enough constraints to fix all Kähler moduli.

For the case that we cannot fix all remaining Kähler moduli via instantons and D-terms, there still exists the possibility that they are frozen similar to the volume \mathcal{V} by perturbative corrections to the F-term scalar potential.

Clearly, the general arguments presented above need to be investigated more carefully in every concrete model. As in this section, we focus more on the question of moduli stabilization rather than the detailed realization of a complete standard model sector with D7-branes, from now on, though not dynamically proven but at least phenomenologically motivated, we generally assume

$$\langle \Phi_{\rm SM} \rangle = \langle \Phi_{\rm exo} \rangle = \langle \Phi_{\rm abel} \rangle = 0,$$
 (4.16)

so that the vanishing of the D-terms in the MSSM sector effectively implies the vanishing of the Fayet–Iliopoulos parameters (4.15). We will mention at certain points the changes once vevs of Φ_{abel} are non-vanishing, but as we stressed already so far we do not have a complete theory to dynamically freeze these fields.

4.1.5. F-term Scalar Potential

From the discussion in the previous sections it is clear now that within the framework of the LVS, just one small four-cycle is not enough to account for both, moduli stabilization and a chiral matter sector. At least one additional small four-cycle without chiral intersections with the cycle supporting the matter branes is needed to stabilize the overall volume.

In the original work about the large volume scenario [30], only the case with *one* E3-brane instanton along *one* small four-cycle was studied in detail. Later it was argued that similar results carry over to configurations where more than one four-cycle stays small supporting instantons [122]. For our purpose it is useful and illustrative to start again from a general set-up and perform the steps along the lines of [30], including now also the possibility that the cycles that the instantons and D-branes wrap can be (effective) linear combinations of the base cycles.

Similarly to section 3.2, we assume that the complex structure moduli U and the axiodilaton S have been fixed by fluxes via $D_U W = D_S W = 0$ and the value of the Gukov–Vafa-Witten superpotential (2.40) in the minimum will again be denoted by W_0 . For the stabilization of the Kähler moduli we use the usual α' -corrected Kähler potential (3.5) and introduce E3-instantons. However, we we allow for instantons wrapping general four-cycles $D_{\alpha} = M_{\alpha}^i D_i$ where M_{α}^i are the wrapping numbers of the instanton α and $\{D_i\}$ is a basis of four-cycles on \mathcal{X} . The superpotential then takes the form

$$W = W_0 + \sum_{\alpha} A_{\alpha} e^{-2\pi M_{\alpha}^i T_i},$$
(4.17)

where the sum is over all contributing instantons in the large radius limit. Computing the Kähler metric similarly to [89], we can write the scalar F-term potential as

$$V_{F} = e^{\mathcal{K}} \left(-\frac{(2\pi)^{2}}{2} (2\widehat{\mathcal{V}} + \widehat{\xi}) \sum_{\alpha,\beta} \operatorname{vol}(D_{\alpha} \cap D_{\beta}) A_{\alpha} \overline{A}_{\beta} e^{-2\pi M_{\alpha}^{i} T_{i}} e^{-2\pi M_{\beta}^{j} \overline{T}_{j}} \right. \\ \left. + \frac{(2\pi)^{2}}{4} \frac{4\widehat{\mathcal{V}} - \widehat{\xi}}{\widehat{\mathcal{V}} - \widehat{\xi}} \sum_{\alpha,\beta} \widehat{\tau}_{\alpha} \widehat{\tau}_{\beta} A_{\alpha} \overline{A}_{\beta} e^{-2\pi M_{\alpha}^{i} T_{i}} e^{-2\pi M_{\beta}^{j} \overline{T}_{j}} \right. \\ \left. + \frac{2\pi}{2} \frac{4\widehat{\mathcal{V}}^{2} + \widehat{\mathcal{V}}\widehat{\xi} + 4\widehat{\xi}^{2}}{(2\widehat{\mathcal{V}} + \widehat{\xi})(\widehat{\mathcal{V}} - \widehat{\xi})} \sum_{\alpha} \widehat{\tau}_{\alpha} \left(A_{\alpha} e^{-2\pi M_{\alpha}^{i} T_{i}} \overline{W} + \overline{A}_{\alpha} e^{-2\pi M_{\alpha}^{i} \overline{T}_{i}} W \right) \\ \left. + 3\widehat{\xi} \frac{\widehat{\mathcal{V}}^{2} + 7\widehat{\mathcal{V}}\widehat{\xi} + \widehat{\xi}^{2}}{(2\widehat{\mathcal{V}} + \widehat{\xi})^{2}(\widehat{\mathcal{V}} - \widehat{\xi})} |W|^{2} \right).$$

$$(4.18)$$

Here we have used $\hat{\mathcal{V}}$ and $\hat{\tau}_{\alpha}$ to respectively denote in Einstein frame the volume of the Calabi–Yau manifold and the volume of the four-cycle wrapped by the instanton α . Furthermore, to simplify the formulas we used

$$\operatorname{vol}(D_{\alpha} \cap D_{\beta}) = M_{\alpha}^{i} M_{\beta}^{j} \kappa_{ijk} \hat{t}^{k}$$

$$(4.19)$$

for the volume of the intersection of two four-cycles D_{α} and D_{β} (in Einstein frame) and we have defined $\hat{\xi} = \xi/g_s^{3/2}$.

Let us now perform the large volume expansion of V_F . Note that in this limit the second term in (4.18) is sub-leading. Keeping also only the leading term W_0 in the superpotential, we find up to an overall constant

$$V_F \simeq -\frac{(2\pi)^2}{\widehat{\mathcal{V}}} \sum_{\alpha,\beta} \operatorname{vol}(D_\alpha \cap D_\beta) A_\alpha \bar{A}_\beta e^{-2\pi M_\alpha^i T_i} e^{-2\pi M_\beta^j \overline{T}_j} + \frac{2\pi}{\widehat{\mathcal{V}}^2} \sum_\alpha \hat{\tau}_\alpha \Big(A_\alpha e^{-2\pi M_\alpha^i T_i} \overline{W}_0 + \bar{A}_\alpha e^{-2\pi M_\alpha^i \overline{T}_i} W_0 \Big) + \frac{3}{4} \frac{\hat{\xi}}{\widehat{\mathcal{V}}^3} |W_0|^2.$$

$$(4.20)$$

In the one instanton case, the second term in equation (4.20) was the only place where the axion corresponding to the instanton appeared. Recalling $T_i = \hat{\tau}_i + i\rho_i$, such a term could be written as $Xe^{i\rho} + \overline{X}e^{-i\rho}$ and upon minimizing the potential with respect to ρ , it was rendered real and negative [30,98]. The negativity of this term was crucial for the existence

of the minimum of the F-term potential at exponentially large volume.

In the general case of more than one instanton, the first term in (4.20) also depends on the axions, provided the volume of the intersection locus of the respective instanton cycles is non-vanishing. In this case, a more careful analysis of V_F is needed. We do not consider this case here but require instead that

$$\operatorname{vol}(D_{\alpha} \cap D_{\beta}) = 0, \tag{4.21}$$

for all pairs of instantons with $\alpha \neq \beta$. This guarantees that the respective axions are stabilized in the way described above by the second term in (4.20).

For the following, we will restrict ourselves to the case of an instanton wrapping a general four-cycle D_{E3} in the Calabi–Yau manifold. Employing then the stabilization of the axion associated to the instanton illustrated above, the F-term potential for one E3-brane instanton simplifies to

$$V_F \simeq -\frac{(2\pi)^2}{\hat{\mathcal{V}}} \operatorname{vol}(D_{\mathrm{E3}} \cap D_{\mathrm{E3}}) |A_{\mathrm{E3}}|^2 e^{-4\pi\hat{\tau}_{\mathrm{E3}}} -\frac{4\pi}{\hat{\mathcal{V}}^2} \hat{\tau}_{\mathrm{E3}} e^{-2\pi\hat{\tau}_{\mathrm{E3}}} |A_{\mathrm{E3}}W_0| + \frac{3}{4} \frac{\hat{\xi}}{\hat{\mathcal{V}}^3} |W_0|^2.$$
(4.22)

This expression is nearly similar to the well-known expression of V_F (3.21) in the original LARGE volume scenario. The only difference is the first term. If we find that

$$\operatorname{vol}(D_{\mathrm{E3}} \cap D_{\mathrm{E3}}) \simeq -\sqrt{\hat{\tau}_{\mathrm{E3}}},\tag{4.23}$$

then as shown in section 3.2, we are guaranteed to find a minimum of V_F at exponentially large values of \mathcal{V} and with $\tau_{E3} \simeq \log(\mathcal{V})$. However, in general the minima of V_F will depend on the concrete model and on the way the moduli are stabilized.

Let us summarize the results of this section. Performing the LARGE volume expansion of the scalar F-term potential for a general instanton configuration leads to an expression where the axions corresponding to the instantons cannot be stabilized easily. We did not attempt to address this question but restricted us to the case of one instanton along a general four-cycle.

The main question is now whether it is indeed possible to freeze the Kähler moduli controlling the size of the MSSM D7-branes via the D-terms of the U(1) gauge factors supported on these D7-branes and whether these sizes are of the same order of magnitude as the instantonic four-cycles. Let us collect the formal constraints we have to successfully implement in a concrete model for this scenario to work:

• Find a Calabi-Yau of swiss cheese type with one large four-cycle controlling the size

of the manifold and small cycles typically arising from resolutions of singularities.⁴

- Define an orientifold projection of this space leading to O3- and O7-planes and freeze the complex structure and dilaton moduli by G_3 -form flux. This latter will contribute to the D3-brane tadpole.
- Introduce a set of intersecting (magnetized) D7-branes supporting the chiral MSSM spectrum and a hidden D7-brane sector such that the D7- and D3-brane tadpole cancellation conditions are satisfied. Moreover, the D7-branes must be free of Freed–Witten anomalies [68].
- Classify all E3-instantons on this space which from the zero mode structure can contribute to the uncharged superpotential. For this, a sufficient condition is that the instanton is rigid and has no other chiral or vector-like zero modes from E3–D7 intersections. Furthermore, one also needs to ensure that the instantons are free of Freed–Witten anomalies [123].
- Compute the effective F- and D-term potential and analyze whether the combination of both freezes all Kähler moduli inside the Kähler cone with the size of the D7-branes coming out of the same order as the sizes of the instantons $\tau \simeq \log(\mathcal{V})$.

Moreover, since in the non-supersymmetric large volume minimum the D-terms vanish, we still only have F-term supersymmetry breaking and the soft-terms can be computed in the usual way [101].

In the next section, we will explicitly carry out some of the steps mentioned above for a concrete Calabi–Yau orientifold model. Our simple (toy) model is neither realistic nor can all conditions mentioned above be met explicitly, but it nevertheless shows how this program can partly be realized even on a simple Calabi–Yau manifold.

4.2. An Example on the $\mathbb{P}_{[1,3,3,3,5]}[15]$ Calabi–Yau

From the previous section it is now clear that in the LVS, we need at least three Kähler moduli to have both, stabilization of all moduli by D-brane instantons and a chiral D7-brane sector. The exponentially large cycle, controlling the overall size of the manifold, is usually frozen by the competing effects of the leading order α' -corrections to the Kähler potential and the E3-instanton contribution. On the small cycles of a swiss cheese type Calabi–Yau, the instantons and the D7-branes will be distributed.

⁴ It would be interesting to investigate whether also for instance Calabi–Yaus with a fibration structure can lead to large volume moduli freezing. For these the volume can usually be brought to the schematic form $\mathcal{V} = \tau_1 \sqrt{\tau_2} - \sum_I \tau_I^{3/2}$.

A well studied class of Calabi–Yau three-folds is given by hypersurfaces in weighted projective spaces. A candidate which actually is of swiss cheese type and has more than one small blow-up cycle is the resolution of the $\mathbb{P}_{[1,3,3,3,5]}[15]$ manifold. It will turn out that this Calabi–Yau is still not rich enough to allow for complex structure moduli stabilization by fluxes and a complete MSSM sector, but serves as a simply toy model to give a proof of principle how the combination of F- and D-term moduli stabilization can work in more realistic models. We describe now the algebraic geometry of this Calabi–Yau in more detail in the next subsections.

4.2.1. The Topology of $\mathbb{P}_{[1,3,3,3,5]}[15]$

Toric Resolution

The $\mathbb{P}_{[1,3,3,3,5]}[15]$ manifold has a \mathbb{Z}_3 singularity along the complex line $x_1 = x_5 = 0$, which is met by the hypersurface constraint. The resolution of this A_2 orbifold singularity introduces two intersecting \mathbb{P}^1 s over the line.

This resolution is easily described invoking the methods of toric geometry. Besides the five divisors $v_1^* = (1,0,0,0)$, $v_2^* = (0,1,0,0)$, $v_3^* = (0,0,1,0)$, $v_4^* = (0,0,0,1)$, $v_5^* = (-3, -3, -3, -5)$ one introduces the two blowing-up divisors $v_6^* = (-2, -2, -2, 3)$ and $v_7^* = (-1, -1, -1, -1)$. The unique maximal triangulation is then given by

$$\begin{aligned} \text{Triangle} &= \Big\{ [1, 2, 3, 4], \ [1, 2, 3, 5], \ [1, 2, 4, 7], \ [1, 2, 6, 7], \ [1, 2, 5, 6], \ [1, 3, 4, 7], \\ & [1, 3, 6, 7], \ [1, 3, 5, 6], \ [2, 3, 4, 7], \ [2, 3, 6, 7], \ [2, 3, 5, 6] \Big\}. \end{aligned} \tag{4.24}$$

The data of the associated linear sigma model is the following. We have seven complex coordinates x_i with three U(1) symmetries. The corresponding charges are shown in (4.25).

| | $p \mid p$ | x_7 | x_6 | x_5 | x_4 | x_3 | x_2 | x_1 |
|-------|------------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|
| (4.25 | 15 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 5 | 3 | 3 | 3 |
| | 10 | 0 | 1 | 0 | 3 | 2 | 2 | 2 |
| | 5 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 1 | 1 | 1 |

The divisors D_i are defined by the constraints $x_i = 0$ and the resulting Stanley–Reisner ideal, found with the Maple package *Schubert*, reads:

$$SR = \{x_4x_5, x_4x_6, x_5x_7, x_1x_2x_3x_6, x_1x_2x_3x_7\}.$$
(4.26)

The triple intersection numbers in the basis $\eta_1 = D_5$, $\eta_2 = D_6$, $\eta_3 = D_7$ are calculated as

$$I_3 = 9\eta_1^3 - 40\eta_2^3 - 40\eta_3^3 - 15\eta_1^2\eta_2 + 25\eta_1\eta_2^2 - 5\eta_2^2\eta_3 + 15\eta_2\eta_3^2.$$
(4.27)

From section 3.2 we recall that the volume τ_i of the divisor D_i and the overall volume of the manifold (in string frame) are expressed in terms of the Kähler form in the following way

$$\tau_i = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathcal{X}} [D_i] \wedge J \wedge J, \qquad \mathcal{V} = \frac{1}{6} \int_{\mathcal{X}} J \wedge J \wedge J.$$
(4.28)

Expanding then the Kähler form in the basis $\{\eta_1, \eta_2, \eta_3\}$ from above as $J = \sum_{i=1}^{3} t_i[\eta_i]$ we find for the volumes of the divisors D_5 , D_6 and D_7

$$\tau_{5} = \frac{1}{2}(3t_{1} - 5t_{2})^{2},$$

$$\tau_{6} = \frac{5}{6} \Big[(3t_{3} - t_{2})^{2} - (5t_{2} - 3t_{1})^{2} \Big],$$

$$\tau_{7} = -\frac{5}{2}(t_{2} - 4t_{3})(t_{2} - 2t_{3}).$$
(4.29)

The Kähler Cone

Next, we are going to determine the Kähler cone, which is defined by the condition that the volumes of all effective curves C are positive. The first step is to compute the cone of all effective curves, which is called the Mori cone and then deduce from this the Kähler cone by the condition $\int_{C} J > 0$. The resulting constraints describing the Kähler cone are

$$t_2 - 2t_3 > 0, t_1 - 2t_2 + t_3 > 0, -3t_1 + 5t_2 > 0.$$
 (4.30)

These conditions ensure also that the overall volume \mathcal{V} is positive, that all volumes of effective divisors are positive and, by construction, that all volumes of holomorphic curves are positive.

Swiss Cheese Structure

For a large volume compactification we want to make one four-cycle large while keeping the others small. Let us therefore take a closer look at the volume. Using the Kähler cone restrictions above, we find that V can be written as

$$\mathcal{V} = \sqrt{\frac{2}{45}} \left(\left(5\tau_5 + 3\tau_6 + \tau_7 \right)^{3/2} - \frac{1}{3} \left(5\tau_5 + 3\tau_6 \right)^{3/2} - \frac{\sqrt{5}}{3} \tau_5^{3/2} \right).$$
(4.31)

From this expression we see that this model admits a swiss cheese structure. Indeed, we can make τ_7 large so that the total volume \mathcal{V} becomes large while keeping the four-cycles volumes τ_5 and τ_6 small. On the latter ones the D-branes supporting the MSSM will be wrapped.

In such a set-up, we are thus not allowed to wrap D-branes supporting the MSSM on (some combination involving) D_7 because then the gauge coupling $1/g_{\rm YM}^2 \sim \tau_7$ would

be too small. Similarly, we ignore instantons along this divisor, because its contribution to the superpotential is exponentially suppressed. We are then left with the two divisors D_5 and D_6 . Note however that not all combinations of D_5 and D_6 are allowed. We have to wrap D-branes and instantons along effective cycles, i. e. positive linear combinations of the divisors.

Rigid Cycles

Furthermore, we require the instanton to be rigid in the sense that no extra fermionic zero modes from the deformations of the cycle or from Wilson lines along one-cycles do appear. The transverse deformations of a holomorphic four-cycle D are counted by the global sections of the normal bundle N of D. By the adjunction formula and Serre duality on D we get $H^0(D, N_D) = H^2(D, \mathcal{O}_D)$. The Wilson lines are counted by the non-contractable one-cycles on D, which are counted by $H^1(D, \mathcal{O}_D)$. Therefore, for an instanton to not have additional deformation zero modes we will require

$$H^0(D, \mathcal{O}_D) = 1, \qquad H^i(D, \mathcal{O}_D) = 0, \qquad \text{for } i = 1, 2.$$
 (4.32)

A necessary criterion for this is that the Euler characteristic of the trivial line bundle over D is equal to one, i. e.

$$\chi(D, \mathcal{O}_D) = \sum_{i=0}^{2} (-1)^i H^i(D, \mathcal{O}_D) = 1.$$
(4.33)

Employing the Koszul sequence

$$0 \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{X}}[-D] \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{X}} \to \mathcal{O}_D \to 0, \tag{4.34}$$

and the resulting long exact sequence in cohomology, one obtains the relation $\chi(D, \mathcal{O}_D) = \chi(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{O}[-D]).$

In our concrete example, for a four-cycle $D = m\eta_1 + n\eta_2 + l\eta_3$ the Euler characteristic is calculated as

$$\chi(D, \mathcal{O}_D) = \frac{15}{2}nl^2 + \frac{25}{2}mn^2 - \frac{5}{2}n^2l - \frac{15}{2}m^2n - \frac{20}{3}l^3 - \frac{20}{3}n^3 + \frac{5}{3}n + \frac{5}{3}l + \frac{3}{2}m^3 - \frac{1}{2}m.$$
(4.35)

Looking via a computer search for combinations with $\chi(D, \mathcal{O}_D) = 1$ and l = 0 we have found the solutions

$$(m, n, l) = \{(1, 0, 0), (1, 1, 0), (2, 1, 0), (2, 2, 0)\}.$$
(4.36)

In order to compute the precise cohomology classes $H^i(D, \mathcal{O}_D)$, we use the cohomology



Figure 4.1.: Singular rigid divisors

classes of general line bundles on the toric ambient space shown in appendix A and then run them through the Koszul sequences for the restrictions on the Calabi–Yau hypersurface and the divisors D. The result is that the first four divisors in (4.36) really have $H^i(D, \mathcal{O}_D) =$ (1, 0, 0), i. e. these are irreducible effective divisors without any Wilson lines or transverse deformations.

One comment is in order here. Note that the three rigid divisors (1, 1, 0), (2, 1, 0), (2, 2, 0) are singular. Let us explain this for the first one $D_5 + D_6$. The only constraint one can write down of this degree is $Q = x_5x_6 = 0$. This defines two complex divisors $x_5 = 0$ and $x_6 = 0$ intersecting along the curve $x_5 = x_6 = 0$, where the manifold becomes singular. Since the four-cycle has no deformations, the singularity cannot be smoothed out. A lower dimensional analogy is shown in figure 4.1. In the following we allow E3-instantons and D7-branes to also wrap these rigid cycles, though we know that strictly speaking, our method for the calculation of the Euler characteristic is not valid here. However, in order to demonstrate our ideas we tacitly ignore this.

Diagonal Basis

In the following it will be more convenient to work in a basis where the volume \mathcal{V} as well as the triple intersection numbers become particularly simple. Guided by (4.31), we introduce the new basis of divisors as

$$D_a = 5D_5 + 3D_6 + D_7, \qquad D_b = 5D_5 + 3D_6, \qquad D_c = D_5,$$
 (4.37)

for which the triple intersection numbers diagonalize

$$I_3 = 5D_a^3 + 45D_b^3 + 9D_c^3. ag{4.38}$$

The total volume in terms of the divisor volumes τ_a , τ_b and τ_c reads

$$\mathcal{V} = \sqrt{\frac{2}{45}} \left(\tau_a^{3/2} - \frac{1}{3} \tau_b^{3/2} - \frac{\sqrt{5}}{3} \tau_c^{3/2} \right). \tag{4.39}$$

Expanding also the Kähler form in this diagonal basis as $J = t_a D_a - t_b D_b - t_c D_c$, we find that the Kähler cone conditions have the very simple form

$$\frac{1}{3}t_a > t_b > t_c > 0. (4.40)$$

As one can see from the above, the large divisor is now simply D_a . For the gauge couplings not to be unrealistically small, we do not wrap the D7-branes supporting the MSSM along the large cycle. Moreover, significant E3-instanton contributions only arise from instantons wrapped on the small four-cycles. Therefore, we can make the general ansatz for the D-brane and instanton cycles

$$D_{\rm D7} = n_b D_b + n_c D_c, \qquad D_{\rm E3} = m_b D_b + m_c D_c,$$
 (4.41)

where now the wrapping numbers n and m need not be integer. They are related to the wrapping numbers n_i in the $\{\eta_i\}$ basis by

$$n_b = \frac{1}{3}n_2, \qquad n_c = n_1 - \frac{5}{3}n_2,$$
 (4.42)

and similarly for (m_b, m_c) .

4.2.2. Moduli Stabilization

Now that we have collected all the topological data, we can develop our model further. It will turn out that the tadpole cancellation conditions for the present set-up impose strong restrictions so that we cannot consider a full MSSM set-up but only a chiral toy model. We will have two stacks of D7-branes wrapping rigid four-cycles D_A and D_B where only on the first one a non-trivial line bundle \mathcal{L}_A is turned on. We consider the standard model as being part of the $U(N_A)$ gauge group on the first stack of branes (even though in the eventual model it will not have large enough gauge group). Then we get MSSM matter from the intersections AA' and AB where the prime denotes the orientifold image. Connecting to our discussion in section 4.1.2, we in general allow the gauge group $U(N_A)$ to be larger than just the MSSM gauge group. Then from the two intersections AA' and AB we get matter Φ_{SM} which is part of the standard model. Furthermore, we get other matter Φ_{abel} transforming in singlet representations of the MSSM gauge group, but carrying certain charges under abelian U(1)s orthogonal to $U(1)_Y$. In addition, in order for satisfying the D7-brane tadpoles we need extra hidden sector branes.

Before we give the complete model, let us first elaborate on the D- and F-term constraints.

D-Term Constraints

In section 4.1.3 we have explained that the D-terms in large volume scenarios should vanish in order not to spoil the $1/\mathcal{V}$ expansion of the scalar F-term potential and the resulting minimum. The D-term contains the Fayet–Iliopoulos parameter ξ and the possible matter fields Φ_{SM} , Φ_{exo} and Φ_{abel} . However, as argued previously, for the simple reason that the SM gauge symmetry is unbroken at low energies, at least the vevs of the first two matter fields have to vanish and for Φ_{abel} it is likely to vanish. For the MSSM sector, we are thus left with the requirement that $\xi_A = \xi_B = 0$. Recalling the precise form of the FI-parameter (4.12), the condition $\xi_A = 0$ reads

$$0 = \int c_1(\mathcal{L}_A) \wedge [D_{\mathrm{D7}_A}] \wedge J.$$
(4.43)

For the second D7-brane the condition $\xi_B = 0$ is trivially satisfied because of $c_1(\mathcal{L}_B) = 0$. Next, we consider the (chiral) zero mode constraint from the D7–E3 intersections. The only non-trivial equation comes from D7_A and reads

$$0 = \int c_1(\mathcal{L}_A) \wedge [D_{\mathrm{D7}_A}] \wedge [D_{\mathrm{E3}}].$$
(4.44)

Using then our ansatz (4.41) in the diagonal basis, we find that the only suitable solution to the two equations above is

$$J = t_a[D_a] - t[D_{\rm E3}]. \tag{4.45}$$

Let us note that this solution implies $t_b = \frac{1}{3}m_bt$ and $t_c = \frac{1}{3}m_ct$. Comparing with the Kähler cone constraint $t_b > t_c > 0$ and going back to the basis in $\{\eta_1, \eta_2, \eta_3\}$, we see that only wrapping numbers with $2m_2 > m_1 > \frac{5}{3}m_2$ are possible. This cannot be solved by any of the rigid cycles $(m_1, m_2, m_3) \in \{(1, 0, 0), (1, 1, 0), (2, 1, 0), (2, 2, 0)\}$. However, the choice $(m_1, m_2, m_3) = (2, 1, 0)$, i. e. $D_{E3} = \frac{1}{3}(D_b + D_c)$, is at least on the boundary of the Kähler cone at $t_b = t_c$. Of course, we cannot choose instantons at will but have to take all of them into account. But we can arrange our set-up in such a way that only an instanton along the cycle $(m_1, m_2, m_3) = (2, 1, 0)$ contributes to the stabilization of the Kähler moduli. We will come back to this point after we specified the D-brane configuration in our model. Note furthermore, by allowing a non-vanishing vev for Φ_{abel} , it might be possible to fix t_b and t_c on a ray inside the Kähler cone via the instanton above.

Let us now choose the stacks of D7-branes to wrap the rigid four-cycles

$$D_{\mathrm{D7}_A} = D_5 + D_6 = \frac{1}{3}(D_b - 2D_c), \qquad D_{\mathrm{D7}_B} = D_5 = D_c,$$
 (4.46)

with the line bundles

$$\mathcal{L}_A = \frac{1}{3}(2D_b + 5D_c), \qquad \mathcal{L}_B = \mathcal{O}.$$
(4.47)

With this choice, as shown above, there are no chiral zero modes on the D7–E3 intersections. However, similar to [124], we expect both vector-like bosonic and fermionic zero modes, because, as shown in figure 4.1, the rigid E3-instanton actually contains both $D_{D7_A} = D_5 + D_6$ and $D_{D7_B} = D_5$ as a sub-locus. One way to get rid of these zero modes, would be to turn on discrete Wilson lines or discrete displacement on the D7-brane resp. E3-instanton. It is beyond the scope of this thesis to analyze mathematically this possibility for these divisors. From now on, we proceed by assuming that such non-chiral zero modes can be made massive so that indeed the E3-instanton on $D_{E3} = 2D_5 + D_6$ contributes to the uncharged superpotential.

Before concluding this part, let us note that the vanishing of the D-term gives rise to a minimum of the scalar D-term potential. Moreover, we have argued that the F-term potential does not depend on at least one linear combination of Kähler moduli $\bar{\tau}$ which however appears in the D-term. For moduli stabilization this means that $\partial V/\partial \bar{\tau} = \partial V_D/\partial \bar{\tau} = 0$ is solved by the vanishing D-term and thus in our set-up fixes

$$t_b = t_c =: t. \tag{4.48}$$

In the diagonal basis this solution implies that D_6 shrinks to zero size but D_5 stays finite. Note first, our standard model branes do both involve D_5 and so their volume is always non-zero. Second, for a non-vanishing vev of Φ_{abel} we expect the volume of D_6 to be finite.

F-Term Constraints

Let us now go on and study the F-term potential. Since we only have a single instanton contributing to the potential, we can refer to equation (4.22). Using then the concrete data of our model, we find $vol(D_{E3} \cap D_{E3}) = -5t_b - t_c$ and therefore

$$V_F \simeq \frac{(2\pi)^2}{\hat{\mathcal{V}}} (5\hat{t}_b + \hat{t}_c) |A_{\rm E3}|^2 e^{-4\pi\hat{\tau}_{\rm E3}} - \frac{4\pi}{\hat{\mathcal{V}}^2} \hat{\tau}_{\rm E3} e^{-2\pi\hat{\tau}_{\rm E3}} |A_{\rm E3}W_0| + \frac{3}{4} \frac{\hat{\xi}}{\hat{\mathcal{V}}^3} |W_0|^2.$$
(4.49)

The first term cannot be expressed as a square root of $\hat{\tau}_{E3} = \frac{1}{6}(45\hat{t}_b^2 + 9\hat{t}_c^2)$ and so the analysis of section 3.2 for the minimum of V_F at large volumes is not applicable. However, employing equation (4.48), we find the following relation between the volume of the instanton cycle

and the volume of its self-intersection

$$\operatorname{vol}(D_{\mathrm{E3}} \cap D_{\mathrm{E3}}) = -6\hat{t} = -2\sqrt{\hat{\tau}_{\mathrm{E3}}}.$$
 (4.50)

Note that this volume formally is negative, which simply reflects the fact that the four-cycle D_{E3} is exceptional with a self-intersection not corresponding to an effective two-cycle. Using this relation, the above expression becomes

$$V_F \simeq \frac{8\pi^2}{\hat{\mathcal{V}}} \sqrt{\hat{\tau}_{\text{E3}}} |A_{\text{E3}}|^2 e^{-4\pi\hat{\tau}_{\text{E3}}} - \frac{4\pi}{\hat{\mathcal{V}}^2} \hat{\tau}_{\text{E3}} e^{-2\pi\hat{\tau}_{\text{E3}}} |A_{\text{E3}}W_0| + \frac{3}{4} \frac{\hat{\xi}}{\hat{\mathcal{V}}^3} |W_0|^2.$$
(4.51)

Recalling our discussion in section 4.1.5, the $1/\hat{\mathcal{V}}$ expansion of the F-term potential is of the form which allows for a minimum of V_F at large values of $\hat{\mathcal{V}}$.

We can then treat these variables as fixed and use their relation to the Kähler moduli. We obtain

$$t_b = t_c = t = \frac{1}{3}\sqrt{\tau_{\text{E3}}}, \qquad t_a = \left(\frac{6}{5}\mathcal{V}_0 + \frac{2}{5}\tau_{\text{E3}}^{3/2}\right)^{1/3},$$
 (4.52)

where we denoted the value of \mathcal{V} in the minimum by \mathcal{V}_0 . Therefore, in this model all Kähler moduli have been stabilized. To be more precise, we have seen that all coefficients t_a in the expansion of J are fixed and so are the real parts of the Kähler moduli T_i . Furthermore, through the F-term potential the axion corresponding to the instanton cycle is stabilized and via the D-term and Green–Schwarz mechanism the axion associated with the matter sector gets massive.

For the Kähler moduli, we now get three different mass scales. Since the D-term vanishes in the minimum, the mass of the large volume modulus and the small cycle fixed by the instanton do not change. Just keeping track of the $1/V_0$ factor they scale like $m_{\tau_b} \simeq m_P/V_0^{3/2}$ and $m_{\tau_s} \simeq m_P/V_0$ [98]. The orthogonal Kähler modulus fixed by the D-term then has mass $m_{\tau_D} \simeq m_P/\sqrt{V_0}$, which being of string scale size is much heavier than the other two.

Numerical Analysis

In order to explicitly check that the LARGE volume minimum of the full scalar potential persists in our model, we have numerically evaluated equation (4.49). Installing the appropriate factors of 2π and g_s , and choosing $|A_{E3}| = 1$, $|W_0| = 5$, we minimized the function⁵

$$V_{F+D}(\mathcal{V},\tau_b,\tau_c) = \frac{18.6}{\mathcal{V}} \left(\sqrt{5\tau_b} + \sqrt{\tau_c} \right) g_{\rm s} e^{-\frac{4\pi}{3} \frac{1}{g_{\rm s}}(\tau_b + \tau_c)} - \frac{20.9}{\mathcal{V}^2} (\tau_b + \tau_c) g_{\rm s}^2 e^{-\frac{2\pi}{3} \frac{1}{g_{\rm s}}(\tau_b + \tau_c)} + \frac{6.5}{\mathcal{V}^3} g_{\rm s}^3 + \frac{13.3}{\mathcal{V}^2} \frac{1}{\tau_b - 2\tau_c} g_{\rm s}^3 \left(\sqrt{5\tau_c} - \sqrt{\tau_b} \right)^2.$$
(4.53)

Note that we have not yet fixed the value of g_s which is determined by the vev of the dilaton. We have assumed that it is stabilized by fluxes and since we did not perform an explicit analysis of this mechanism, we choose $g_s = 1/10$ for convenience. However, as noted in [31], the stabilized volume \mathcal{V} will depend exponentially on g_s through $\mathcal{V} \sim e^{c/g_s}$ where c is some constant. Thus, a more careful analysis of the flux sector is inevitable.

Coming back to the potential above, we observe that the dominant part of (4.53) is given by the D-term potential fixing the combination $\tau_b = 5\tau_c$. On top of that direction, we found a minimum of the potential in the variables \mathcal{V} and τ_b . In figures 4.2 and 4.3, we have plotted two sections through the parameter space showing the potential in the vicinity of the minimum. The numerical values (in string units) in the minimum are $\mathcal{V} \approx 2.2 \cdot 10^{16}$ and the four-cycle volumes are stabilized at $\tau_b \approx 1.63$, $\tau_c \approx 0.33$.⁶ For the volume of the standard model cycles we find $\tau_{\rm SM} \simeq 0.33$ and the value of the scalar potential in the minimum is of the order $V_{\rm min} \simeq -10^{-54} m_{\rm P}^4$.

The stabilized four-cycle volumes are in a region where we have to worry whether we can trust the supergravity approximation. Let us investigate more closely what the numerical reason is. Recall from section 3.3 the approximate formulas for the volume \mathcal{V} and the four-cycle in the minimum

$$\mathcal{V} \simeq \frac{\mu g_{\rm s} |W_0|}{2\lambda a_s |A_s|} \left(\frac{4\nu\lambda\xi}{\mu^2}\right)^{1/3} e^{\frac{a_s}{g_s} \left(\frac{4\nu\lambda\xi}{\mu^2}\right)^{2/3}}, \qquad \tau \simeq \left(\frac{4\nu\lambda\xi}{\mu^2}\right)^{2/3}, \tag{4.54}$$

where we have used the notation from equation (3.32). Note that λ contains the information about the intersection of the instanton cycles and thus depends on the topology of the manifold and on the cycles suitable for instantons. Furthermore, ξ is proportional to the Euler characteristic χ and so the above formulas depend strongly on the topology of the compactification manifold.

For our present model, using the data after D-term fixing but leaving the Euler character-

⁵ A very similar potential appeared in [125], but without the D-term part.

⁶ If we minimize the potential (4.18) instead of its large volume expansion (4.53), we find the minimum at $\tau_c \simeq 0.53$, $\tau_b \simeq 2.64$ and $\mathcal{V} \simeq 1.1 \cdot 10^{13}$ for $g_s = 1/10$. The difference in the value of \mathcal{V} can be compensated by arranging $g_s = 1/12$ so that the minimum is at $\tau_c \simeq 0.53$, $\tau_b \simeq 2.64$ and $\mathcal{V} \simeq 7 \cdot 10^{15}$.



Figure 4.2.: The potential $V(\mathcal{V}, \tau_b, \tau_c)$ for $\mathcal{V} = 2.15 \cdot 10^{16}$



Figure 4.3.: The potential $V(\mathcal{V}, \tau_b, \tau_c)$ for $\tau_c = 0.33$

istic χ and the string coupling g_s unspecified, we obtain

$$\mathcal{V} \simeq 6.1 \cdot 10^{-2} g_{\rm s} (-\chi)^{1/3} e^{0.145 \frac{1}{g_{\rm s}} (-\chi)^{2/3}}, \qquad \tau_{\rm SM} \simeq 1.2 \cdot 10^{-2} (-\chi)^{2/3}. \tag{4.55}$$

Therefore the prefactor of order 10^{-2} in (4.55) and the smallness of the Euler characteristic $\chi = -144$ of our Calabi–Yau manifold are the reasons for the string frame four-cycle volume τ_{SM} to come out so small.

Just as a rough estimate, let us analyze for which values of g_s and χ the formulas (4.55) give more realistic values of the Kähler moduli. Choosing for instance $\tau_{\rm SM} = 1.2$ leads to $\chi \simeq -1000$. For the string coupling $g_s = \frac{3}{8}$ we then get $\mathcal{V} = 5 \cdot 10^{15}$. This points towards choosing Calabi–Yau manifolds with Euler characteristics just at the limit of presently known examples for χ .

To conclude we have demonstrated at a specific swiss cheese Calabi–Yau manifold with $h^{(1,1)}(\mathcal{X}) = 3$ that a combination of E3-instantons and D7-brane D-terms can fix all three Kähler moduli in the large volume regime with all small cycles wrapped by D7-branes of order log(\mathcal{V}). In our case, the D-terms (only) fixed the moduli on the boundary of the Kähler cone, where the four-cycle D_6 collapses. Furthermore, we have argued that out of the rigid divisors (4.36) only $D_{E3} = 2\eta_1 + \eta_2$ contributes to the uncharged superpotential. However, actually the complete vector-like zero mode spectrum has to be computed for such overlapping singular divisors and presumably also discrete Wilson lines and displacements have to be included. We do not perform this complete mathematical investigation for this specific model here, as our intention was rather to exemplify for a concrete Calabi–Yau that the F- and D-term freezing scenario has a good chance to be realizable in concrete LARGE volume type IIB model with a chiral D7-brane sector.

5. GUT Models in the LARGE Volume Scenario

In the last chapter we investigated the robustness of the LARGE volume (and also the KKLT) scenario upon taking serious the D-brane instanton calculus. We learned that *charged zero modes*, which are present if the instanton cycle is also populated by D7-branes supporting chiral matter, spoil the generation of the usually assumed non-perturbative term in the superpotential (4.1). As a consequence, the usual mechanism stabilizing the Kähler moduli with a combination of instanton-generated non-perturbative contribution to the superpotential and α' -corrections to the Kähler potential does not work for all Kähler moduli at the same time.

Recent work on D-brane instanton calculus revealed that also the gauge kinetic function receives non-perturbative corrections induced by euclidean D3-branes. We will see that with the help of those, it is relatively easy to obtain a racetrack-like superpotential, generating effective parameters W_0^{eff} and A^{eff} , i. e.

$$W = W_0^{\text{eff}} + A^{\text{eff}} e^{-aT},\tag{5.1}$$

which can be tuned to exponentially small values without fine-tuning. The strength of this fact is the following: remember that in the LVS, the two crucial scales m_s and $m_{3/2}$ depend on the model parameters like this:

$$m_{\rm s} \sim \frac{m_{\rm P}}{\sqrt{\mathcal{V}}}, \qquad m_{3/2} \sim \frac{|W_0|}{\mathcal{V}} m_{\rm P}.$$
 (5.2)

Up to now it was always assumed that the natural value for W_0 , generated by G_3 flux is of the order $\mathcal{O}(1) - \mathcal{O}(10)$. Hence the two scales are controlled by only one parameter, the overall volume \mathcal{V} . If we require for phenomenological reasons TeV scale supersymmetry breaking, the string scale is already fixed in the intermediate range of $m_{\rm s} \sim 10^{11}$ GeV. Though this scenario may have its virtues, it would be nice if we could also realize a conventional supersymmetric GUT scenario with $m_{\rm s} \sim m_X \sim 10^{16}$ GeV. From (5.2) it is clear that therefore an overall volume of $\mathcal{V} \sim 10^5$ is required. If we require in addition TeV scale supersymmetry breaking, a value of W_0 as small as $\sim 10^{-10}$ is necessary. For a purely flux-generated W_0 , although possible, this is probably not natural.

In section 5.1 we will see how poly-instanton corrections to the superpotential can induce exponentially small values of W_0 without fine-tuning. We will then explore this kind of models with the help of three examples in section 5.2. In the first one, the dominating me-

diation mechanism is gravity mediation. While the gravitino mass is at about $m_{3/2} \simeq 1$ TeV, the soft terms come out by far to small. This is the result of a hierarchical suppressions which occurs when the D7-branes wrap a cycle where gaugino condensates generate a racetrack superpotential. The second one makes use of precisely this fact. Here, the gravitino and soft scalar masses are chosen in an intermediate regime while the gaugino masses are found at the weak scale, dominantly generated by anomaly mediation. This is a dynamical realization of split supersymmetry [126]. The third example is a modification of the first one, in which our original goal of TeV scale soft terms is realized again with gravity mediation only. Finally we comment on the cosmological constant problem in section 5.3.

5.1. Instanton Corrections and Gaugino Condensates

As usual in the LARGE volume scenario, we assume non-trivial R–R and NS–NS fluxes, combined into the three-form $G_3 = F_3 + SH_3$. They give rise to a tree-level superpotential of the form:

$$W_{\rm flux} = \int_{\mathcal{X}} G_3 \wedge \Omega_3, \tag{5.3}$$

which in general stabilizes all complex structure moduli U_i together with the axio-dilaton S by the supersymmetry conditions $D_{U_i}W_{\text{flux}} = D_S W_{\text{flux}} = 0$.

Now, in contrast to the usual LVS set-up (and also to the KKLT scenario), we consider the special case that the flux-induced value of the superpotential vanishes in the minimum, i. e.

$$W_{\rm flux}|_{\rm min.} = 0. \tag{5.4}$$

Although this condition (5.4) together with the supersymmetry conditions mentioned above is an over-constrained system of equations, the set of solutions are not highly suppressed. Indeed it was suggested in [127] that the number of minima fulfilling (5.4) compared to all flux minima is roughly given by

$$\frac{\#(W_{\text{flux}}|_{\min.}=0)}{\#(\text{tot})} \sim \frac{1}{L^{n/2}},\tag{5.5}$$

with L the upper limit on the flux quanta and n an integer.

Taking this additional assumption as satisfied, we use again the fact that the stabilization of the complex structure moduli and the axio-dilaton takes places at a higher order in the \mathcal{V}^{-1} expansion of the scalar potential than the Kähler moduli such that it is a valid procedure to stabilize the two different classes of moduli independently of each other.

For reasons that will become clear in a moment, we require the compactification space to have three Kähler moduli and the geometry to be of the swiss cheese form such that we can write the overall volume as:

$$\mathcal{V} = (\eta_b \tau_b)^{3/2} - (\eta_1 \tau_1)^{3/2} - (\eta_2 \tau_2)^{3/2}.$$
(5.6)

Here, as usual, τ_b controls the overall volume \mathcal{V} and $\tau_{(1,2)}$ are small holes in this geometry. The constants η_b , η_1 , η_2 are determined by a specific choice of a compactification manifold.

As we want to engineer a racetrack superpotential [91, 128, 129], we need to place gaugino condensates in the model. The respective gauge theories shall be realized on two stacks of D7-branes supporting a U(N) and a U(M) gauge theory respectively. They wrap the four-cycle Γ_1 corresponding to the Kähler modulus T_1 .¹ As it is well-known, this leads to a racetrack superpotential containing exponentials of the two gauge kinetic functions:

$$W_{\rm np} = Ae^{-af_a} + Be^{-bf_b}.$$
 (5.7)

The constants $a = \frac{2\pi}{N}$ and $b = \frac{2\pi}{M}$ are determined by the ranks N and M of the two gauge groups on the two D7-branes.

In further developing the D-brane instanton calculus, it has been argued in [131, 132] that also the gauge kinetic function receives non-perturbative corrections from euclidean Dbrane instantons. In analogy to the case of D9- and D5-branes, analyzed in [132] for the gauge theory on the D7-branes we make the following ansatz for the instanton generated non-perturbative correction:

$$\Delta_{\rm np} f_a = g(U) e^{2\pi T_{\rm E3}},\tag{5.8}$$

where T_{E3} denotes the Kähler modulus corresponding to the cycle wrapped by the instanton.

For such an instanton to contribute, it must have a zero mode structure specified by $h^{(2,0)}(\Gamma_{E3}) = 1$ and $h^{(1,0)}(\Gamma_{E3}) = 0$. Let us assume that such corrections can indeed arise from an instanton wrapping the four-cycle Γ_2 with Kähler modulus T_2 . Note that, because of its zero mode structure, this instanton will not contribute as a single instanton and so the superpotential, after integrating out the complex structure moduli, reads at leading order (see also [133])

$$W_{\rm np} = A e^{-a \left(T_1 + C_1 e^{-2\pi T_2}\right)} - B e^{-b \left(T_1 + C_2 e^{-2\pi T_2}\right)},\tag{5.9}$$

with all Kähler moduli in Einstein frame. The exponential of the non-perturbative correction can be developed into a power series. Only including the leading terms, we obtain:

$$W_{\rm np} \approx \left[Ae^{-aT_1} - Be^{-bT_1}\right] - \left[AC_1ae^{-aT_1} - BC_2be^{-bT_1}\right]e^{-2\pi T_2}.$$
 (5.10)

From this it is clear that after stabilization of the modulus T_1 , the superpotential is of the

¹ On the type I side, such a set-up can be realized for instance by discrete Wilson lines as it has been shown in [130].

form (5.1) where the first term in brackets can play the rôle of an effective W_0^{eff} and the second term that of A^{eff} . Because of their exponential dependence on T_1 it should be possible to drive them to very small values without fine-tuning.

Now, we are going to estimate the LARGE volume minimum of this scenario analytically. We would like to emphasize that the specific models of the following sections have been analyzed also numerically for the Kähler potential (3.5) and superpotential (5.9) without any approximations. We start from the scalar F-term potential $V_F = e^{\mathcal{K}} (|DW_{np}|^2 - 3|W_{np}|^2)$ with U and S stabilized. Since we are interested in a minimum at large \mathcal{V} , we expand this expression in powers of $1/\mathcal{V}$ and keep only the leading order term in T_1 :

$$V_F \sim \frac{\sqrt{\tau_1} |\partial_{T_1} W_{\rm np}|^2}{\mathcal{V}} + \mathcal{O}\big(\mathcal{V}^{-2}, e^{-4\pi\tau_2}\big).$$
(5.11)

The minimum of (5.11) is determined by $\partial_{T_1} W_{np} = \partial_{\overline{T}_1} \overline{W}_{np} = 0$ stabilizing T_1 at

$$\tau_1^* \simeq \frac{1}{a-b} \ln\left(\frac{Aa}{Bb}\right), \qquad \rho_1^* = 0, \tag{5.12}$$

where without loss of generality we assumed A > B are real and a > b.

We proceed and study the resulting effective potential for \mathcal{V} and T_2 with T_1 stabilized at values (5.12). As for the LARGE volume scenario, we take the limit $\mathcal{V} \gg 1$ and keep only the leading term in \mathcal{V} at each order of $\exp(-2\pi\tau_2)$. The resulting potential then reads (in Einstein frame)

$$\begin{split} V_F \sim & \frac{8}{3} \left(\frac{\sqrt{\tau_1^*}}{\eta_1} \big| \gamma W_0^{\text{eff}} \big|^2 + (2\pi)^2 \frac{\sqrt{\tau_2}}{\eta_1} \big| A^{\text{eff}} \big|^2 \right) \frac{e^{-4\pi\tau_2}}{\mathcal{V}} \\ & -4 \big| W_0^{\text{eff}} \big| \big| \tau_1^* \gamma W_0^{\text{eff}} + 2\pi\tau_2 A^{\text{eff}} \big| \frac{e^{-2\pi\tau_2}}{\mathcal{V}^2} \\ & + \frac{3\hat{\xi}}{4} \big| W_0^{\text{eff}} \big|^2 \frac{1}{\mathcal{V}^3}, \end{split}$$

with $\gamma = (aC_1 - bC_2)(\frac{1}{a} - \frac{1}{b})^{-1}$ and the axion ρ_2 stabilized such that the second term in (5.13) is minimized. The analytical analysis of this potential reveals that \mathcal{V} is fixed at

$$\mathcal{V}^* = P(A^{\text{eff}}, W_0^{\text{eff}}, \tau_1^*, \tau_2^*, \ldots) e^{2\pi\tau_2^*},$$
(5.13)

where P is a rather complicated algebraic function of various quantities and τ_2^* is determined by an implicit equation. However, using the scaling $2\pi\tau_2 \sim \ln \mathcal{V}$ obtained from (5.13), we observe that those terms in (5.13) involving τ_1^* scale as \mathcal{V}^{-3} and can therefore be absorbed into $\hat{\xi}$. The resulting potential is of a form as in the LVS and so we expect to find a nonsupersymmetric AdS minimum for large values of \mathcal{V} . In order to obtain a positive cosmological constant, eventually the AdS minimum has to be uplifted. This is achieved for instance by anti D3-branes at the bottom of a Klebanov–Strassler warped throat [134] as usual. The corresponding uplift potential has the form

$$V_{\rm up} \sim \frac{a^4}{\mathcal{V}^2} m_{\rm P}^4 \qquad \text{and} \qquad a = e^{-\frac{2\pi K}{3g_{\rm s}M}}$$
(5.14)

is the warp factor at the bottom of the throat with M, K the A- respectively B-cycle fluxquanta.

5.2. Supersymmetric GUT Scenarios

In the previous section, we described a set-up in which we have exponential control over the effective parameters W_0^{eff} and A^{eff} in the superpotential.

As we will show in the following, by tuning the initial parameters mostly at the order of 10%, it is possible to dynamically fix the moduli such that $\mathcal{V} \sim 10^5$ and $|W_0^{\text{eff}}| \sim 10^{-10}$. As already anticipated in the introduction to this section, these values give rise to a string scale at the GUT scale $m_s \simeq m_X \simeq 1.2 \cdot 10^{16}$ GeV and $m_{3/2}$ in the TeV range. Note that for the usual LVS, a high degree of tuning is needed to have $m_s \simeq m_X$ while keeping the SUSY breaking scale in the TeV regime.

So war we focused only on the D7-branes supporting the gauge theories undergoing gaugino condensation. They wrap the small cycle Γ_1 . Let us now investigate where in such a scenario the MSSM respectively the Grand Unified Theory might be localized.

- If the D7-branes supporting the MSSM wrap the big four-cycle Γ_b with Kähler modulus T_b , the gauge coupling $\alpha^{-1} \simeq \tau_b \sim \mathcal{V}^{2/3}$ is by far too small. This is similar to the original LVS set-up.
- A second possibility is to place the branes on Γ_2 with Kähler modulus T_2 giving roughly with the value of the overall volume we have chosen $\alpha^{-1} \simeq \tau_2 \simeq \frac{1}{2\pi} \ln \mathcal{V} \simeq 1.8$. This differs from the GUT gauge coupling $\alpha_X^{-1} = 25$ by an order of magnitude.
- Last but not least, we can wrap the D7-branes along Γ_1 with gauge coupling $\alpha^{-1} \simeq \tau_1 \sim -\ln |W_0^{\text{eff}}| \sim 21$ which is in the right ballpark.

Unfortunately, the most appealing third possibility clashes with the "chirality problem" described in chapter 4: as the cycle Γ_1 is already populated by D-branes supporting gaugino condensates, further D7-branes with a chiral matter spectrum would spoil the generation of the superpotential we consider here. In principle, a solution is be to consider a manifold with a further small Kähler modulus T_4 and wrapping the branes along $\Gamma_1 + \Gamma_4$ with chiral intersection on Γ_4 . The additional modulus then has to be stabilized by D-terms or, as



Figure 5.1.: Distribution of $m_{3/2}$ with $\tau_1 = 25 \pm 0.25$ and $\mathcal{V}/\sqrt{g_s} \simeq 1.26 \cdot 10^5$ for a scan over natural values of a, b, A, B. The statistical mean of this distribution is $\langle \log_{10} (m_{3/2}/\text{TeV}) \rangle = 1.79$ and the standard deviation is $\sigma = 0.98$.

suggested in [135], by string loop effects [95]. As we do not want to further complicate our set-up, we ignore the chirality issue from now on, keeping in mind that it can be solved with the aid of another small four-cycle.

Having identified a suitable choice for the MSSM branes in our set-up, let us now take a different point of view and fix $\mathcal{V}/\sqrt{g_s} \simeq 1.26 \cdot 10^5$ together with $\tau_1 \simeq \alpha_X^{-1} \simeq 25$. By scanning the parameters $a = \frac{2\pi}{N}$, $b = \frac{2\pi}{M}$, A, B in a natural range, $M \in [2, 12]$, 0 < N < Mand $\ln A \in [\ln 0.1, \ln 10]$, $\ln B \in [\ln \frac{4}{10}, \ln A)$ in equidistant steps, we find the distribution of resulting values for $m_{3/2}$ shown in figure 5.1. This illustrates that in our set-up with input $m_s = m_X$ and $\alpha^{-1} = 25$, a gravitino mass in the TeV region is obtained rather naturally.

In the following subsections, we investigate the scalar F-term potential resulting from the Kähler potential (3.5) and the superpotential (5.9) numerically, that is we are searching for minima at large volume with $\ln \mathcal{V} \sim 2\pi \tau_2$. We analyze three different models where for each one, we calculate the masses scales of the complex structure and Kähler moduli, given by (see also section 3.5):

$$m_U \sim \frac{m_{\rm P}}{\mathcal{V}}, \qquad m_{T_1} \sim |W_0^{\rm eff}| m_{\rm P},$$

$$m_{T_2} \sim \frac{|W_0^{\rm eff}|}{\mathcal{V}} m_{\rm P}, \quad m_{T_b} \sim \frac{|W_0^{\rm eff}|}{\mathcal{V}^{3/2}} m_{\rm P}.$$
(5.15)

We also compare the gravity and anomaly mediated gaugino masses given by (3.71) and (3.73) respectively in order to identify the dominant mediation mechanism.² For the Kähler metric of the chiral matter we assume the form (3.66). The parameter λ therein can take values between 0 and 1 in principle. We will use the value $\lambda = \frac{1}{3}$ of the minimal swiss cheese set-up [31]. The scalar masses for gravity mediation of supersymmetry breaking are given in (3.70) where we set the potential in the minimum V_0 is set to zero. Generically, the two-

² We can safely ignore the effect of the uplifting [136] which gives only sub-dominant contributions to the soft terms.
loop generated scalar masses for an anomaly mediated scenario are always smaller than the supergravity mediated masses. Therefore, we do not calculate them here.

5.2.1. Model 1: A Starter

In the following subsections, we investigate the scalar F-term potential resulting from the Kähler potential (3.5) and the superpotential (5.9) numerically, that is we are searching for minima at large volume with $\ln \mathcal{V} \sim 2\pi \tau_2$.

Taking the observations from the beginning of this section into account, we first assume that the MSSM is localized on D7-branes wrapping the cycle Γ_1 associated to the racetrack modulus T_1 with size $\tau_1 \simeq 25$. As easily to be checked by inserting the following values in (5.12), a particular set of parameters realizing this set-up without fine-tuning is the following

$$A = 1.6, \quad B = 0.2, \quad C_1 = 1, \quad C_2 = 3, \quad a = \frac{2\pi}{8}, \quad b = \frac{2\pi}{9},$$

$$g_s = \frac{2}{5}, \quad \eta_b = 1, \quad \eta_1 = \frac{1}{53}, \quad \eta_2 = \frac{1}{6}, \quad \chi = -136.$$
 (5.16)

For realizing $\tau_1 \sim 25$ we have a great freedom of choice of course. We determined the parameters by requiring that they are in their natural order of magnitude only and chose them randomly apart from that. Then we computed the scalar potential using the Kähler potential (3.5) and the superpotential (5.9) without any approximations and employed the computer program *Mathematica* to determine the minimum with high numerical precision. The resulting values are

$$\mathcal{V}^* = 78559, \qquad T_1^* = 25.18, \qquad T_2^* = 2.88, \qquad V_F^* = -1.5 \cdot 10^{-36} \, m_{\rm P}^4, \qquad (5.17)$$

which is indeed the AdS LARGE volume minimum argued for in the last section. Three plots showing different sections of the potential in the vicinity of the minimum can be found in figures 5.2.



Figure 5.2.: F-term potential of the GUT model 1 in the vicinity of the minimum.

The various masses are computed using the formulas, mentioned above. Let us however emphasize that for the gaugino and scalar masses it is crucial to work with very high numerical precision for T_1^* , T_2^* and \mathcal{V}^* , as there appear certain cancellations. The origin of these will concern us later.

| Fundamental masses | Moduli masses | Soft masses |
|---|--------------------------------------|--|
| m_{s} = $1.2 \cdot 10^{16} \mathrm{GeV}$ | $m_U = 3.1 \cdot 10^{13} { m GeV}$ | $m_{1/2}^{ m gravity} = 1.1 \cdot 10^{-5} { m GeV}$ |
| $m_{3/2} = 1.6 \cdot 10^4 { m GeV}$ | $m_{T_1} = 1.2 \cdot 10^9 { m GeV}$ | $m_{1/2}^{ m anomaly} = 1.2 \cdot 10^{-3} { m GeV}$ |
| | $m_{T_2} = 1.6 \cdot 10^4 { m GeV}$ | $m_0^{\text{gravity}} = 64 \text{GeV}$ |
| | $m_{T_b} = 56 \mathrm{GeV}$ | |

Let us comment on these scales:

- By construction, the string scale m_s coincides with the GUT scale and the gravitino mass $m_{3/2}$ is in the TeV regime.
- The closed sector moduli masses are ordered from heavy to light and take acceptable values except for T_b which is too small. For $m_s = m_X$, the lower bound for moduli masses not to be subject to the cosmological moduli problem is around 1 TeV as described in section 3.8. Hence this model cannot be convincing when taking serious cosmology.
- In addition, the gaugino as well as the scalar masses are far too small. The main reason is that we realized the MSSM on the cycle Γ_1 which is related to the racetrack modulus T_1 . For this modulus we observe numerical cancellations giving $F^1 \simeq 2 \cdot 10^{-22} m_P \sim 10^{-8} m_{3/2}$, i. e. supersymmetry breaking on the racetrack cycle is eight orders of magnitude smaller than naïvely expected. The explanation is that the exact racetrack minimum, in leading order given by the globally supersymmetric minimum (5.12), is almost supersymmetric. For the gravity mediated gaugino masses we therefore obtain a strong suppression

$$m_{1/2}^{\text{gravity}} = \frac{1}{2\tau_1} F^1 \sim \frac{1}{2 \cdot 25} 2 \cdot 10^{-22} \, m_{\text{P}} \sim 10^{-5} \, \text{GeV}.$$
 (5.18)

• For the anomaly mediated gaugino masses $m_{1/2}^{\text{anomaly}}$, we find the expected cancellation of $m_{3/2}$ at leading order (see [31] for a detailed derivation), however the sub-leading

order in \mathcal{V} dominates over F^1

$$m_{1/2}^{\text{anomaly}} \sim \frac{\alpha_a}{4\pi} \left(3T_G m_{3/2} \left(1 - 1 + \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{V}^{-1}) \right) + 2\lambda T_R \frac{F^1}{2\tau_1} \right) \\ \sim \frac{1}{300} \left(3 \cdot 3 \cdot 10^4 \,\text{GeV} \cdot 10^{-5} + 2\lambda \cdot 6 \cdot \frac{2 \cdot 10^{-22} \,m_P}{2 \cdot 25} \right)$$
(5.19)
~ $10^{-3} \,\text{GeV}.$

This value is of course still too small but note it is larger than the gravity mediated term. The gaugino masses are thus dominantly generated via anomaly mediation.

• A similar mechanism is at work for the scalar masses where $m_{3/2}^2$ is canceled at leading order and sub-leading corrections in \mathcal{V} give the main contribution (see again [31] for a detailed derivation of this expression)

$$(m_0^{\text{gravity}})^2 \sim m_{3/2}^2 (1 - 1 + \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{V}^{-1})) + \lambda \left(\frac{F^1}{2\tau_1}\right)^2 \sim (10^4 \,\text{GeV})^2 \cdot 10^{-5} + \lambda \left(\frac{2 \cdot 10^{-22} \,m_P}{2 \cdot 25}\right)^2$$
(5.20)
 $\sim (10^{3/2} \,\text{GeV})^2.$

In conclusion, although we were able to easily arrange for $m_s \simeq m_X$, $\alpha^{-1} \simeq \alpha_X^{-1} \simeq 25$ and a gravitino mass in the TeV range, the soft terms are much too small.

In order to obtain realistic soft masses, two options seem viable: either we take the present set-up and scale the mass parameters by a factor of 10^6 , or we wrap the MSSM branes not only along Γ_1 but on $\Gamma_1 + \Gamma_2$ giving also a contribution from F^2 to the soft terms. In the following two subsections, we discuss these two possibilities in more detail.

5.2.2. Model 2: A Mixed Anomaly-Gravity Mediated Model

Recall that the minimum for the racetrack modulus T_1 is approximately supersymmetric. To construct a model with gaugino masses in the TeV range, we use the same set of parameters (5.16) of the previous set-up but scale A and B to the admittedly more unrealistic values of

$$A = 1.6 \times 8 \cdot 10^5, \qquad B = 0.2 \times 8 \cdot 10^5. \tag{5.21}$$

In view of (5.12) it is obvious that a common scaling of A and B does not change the value of τ_1 in the minimum, which determines the gauge coupling of the GUT theory on the matter branes. On the other hand, the value of the superpotential (5.9) in minimum is increased by a factor of 10^5 . This should affect the soft-masses by the same amount as F^1 is proportional

to W in the minimum. Numerically minimizing the scalar potential with the new set of parameters gives:

$$\mathcal{V}^* = 78559, \qquad T_1^* = 25.18, \qquad T_2^* = 2.88, \qquad V_F^* = -9.5 \cdot 10^{-25} \, m_{\rm P}^4.$$
 (5.22)

Three plots showing the potential in the vicinity of the minimum can be found in figures 5.3 on page 106. The mass scales for the new set-up are the following:

| Fundamental masses | Moduli masses | Soft masses |
|---|--|--|
| m_{s} = $1.2 \cdot 10^{16} \mathrm{GeV}$ | $m_U = 3.1 \cdot 10^{13} {\rm GeV}$ | $m_{1/2}^{ m gravity}=8.6~{ m GeV}$ |
| $m_{3/2} = 1.3 \cdot 10^{10}{\rm GeV}$ | $m_{T_1} = 9.9 \cdot 10^{14} { m GeV}$ | $m_{1/2}^{\mathrm{anomaly}} = 962 \mathrm{GeV}$ |
| | $m_{T_2} = 1.3 \cdot 10^{10} { m GeV}$ | $m_0^{\text{gravity}} = 5.1 \cdot 10^7 \text{GeV}$ |
| | $m_{T_b} = 4.5 \cdot 10^7 ~\mathrm{GeV}$ | |

We again comment on these scales:

- Since the value of the volume modulus is not changed compared to the previous setup, we similarly obtain $m_s \simeq m_X$. However, as intended, the gravitino mass is in an intermediate regime due to the change in W_0^{eff} .
- With the gravitino mass in the intermediate regime, the cosmological moduli problem has been evaded, as T_b is much heavier then the TeV scale now. We also see that $m_{T_1} > m_U$, but since we have a well-defined expansion in $1/\mathcal{V}$ we can safely stabilize U and then study the stabilization of T_1 .
- Concerning the gravity mediated gaugino mass, the scaling (5.21) results in a value of W_0^{eff} which is $8 \cdot 10^5$ times larger than in the previous set-up leading to $F^1 \sim 10^{-16} m_{\text{P}}$. The gravity mediated gaugino mass $m_{1/2}^{\text{gravity}}$ is still too small but the anomaly mediated masses are now in the TeV regime.
- As expected from the first example, the gravity mediated scalar masses are at $m_0^{\text{gravity}} \sim 10^7 \text{ GeV}$ and therefore much heavier than the gaugino masses. However, they come in complete SU(5) multiplets and therefore do not spoil gauge coupling unification.
- With this hierarchy between the gaugino masses and the scalar masses, we have a dynamical realization of the split supersymmetry scenario [126]. The Higgs sector masses, i. e. the canonically normalized $\hat{\mu}$ -term and the soft term μB , are expected to be of the same order of magnitude as the scalar masses, simply for the reason that here both $F^b \sim m_{3/2}$ and F^1 contribute. Therefore, in order to keep these at the weak scale, a fine-tuning of the supersymmetric μ -term is necessary.

To summarize, tuning the initial parameters such that $\alpha^{-1} \simeq \alpha_X^{-1} \simeq 25$ and $m_s = m_X$, and localizing the MSSM solely on the racetrack cycle Γ_1 , we find a high suppression of the gravity mediated gaugino masses due to the quasi-supersymmetry of the racetrack minimum. Fixing the gaugino masses at the TeV scale leads to an intermediate supersymmetry breaking scenario with gravitino masses and scalar masses in the intermediate regime. Due to the large value of $m_{3/2}$, this evades the CMP and gives a stringy realization of the split supersymmetry scenario proposed in [126].³

5.2.3. Model 3: An LVS like Supergravity Mediated Model

We now consider the second possibility from the end of section 5.2.1 which indeed realizes our initial goal, namely to naturally find large volume minima with the string scale at the GUT scale, gauge coupling unification and soft masses in the TeV regime. This provides a concrete moduli stabilization scenario for which the analysis of [33] is applicable. There, the computation of soft masses and running to the weak scale has been studied quite systematically for moduli dominated supersymmetry breaking in F-theory respectively type IIB orientifold compactifications realizing the MSSM.

We modify our original set-up such that the soft terms are dominantly generated via T_2 similarly to the original LVS. To do so, we place the MSSM D7-branes on the combination of cycles $\Gamma_1 + \Gamma_2$. A concrete set of parameters realizing this set-up without fine-tuning is

$$A = 1.5, \quad B = 0.25, \quad C_1 = 1, \qquad C_2 = 3, \quad a = \frac{2\pi}{8}, \qquad b = \frac{2\pi}{9},$$

$$g_s = \frac{2}{5}, \qquad \eta_b = 1, \qquad \eta_1 = \frac{1}{40}, \qquad \eta_2 = \frac{1}{6}, \quad \chi = -153.$$
 (5.23)

The minimum of the scalar F-term potential is again determined with the help of *Mathematica* giving

$$\mathcal{V}^* = 92158, \qquad T_1^* = 21.58, \qquad T_2^* = 2.91, \qquad V_F^* = -1.4 \cdot 10^{-34} \, m_{\rm P}^4, \qquad (5.24)$$

so that the gauge coupling of the D7-branes $\alpha^{-1} = \tau_1 + \tau_2 = 24.8$ is again the unified gauge coupling at the GUT scale. Three plots showing the potential in the vicinity of the minimum can be found in figures 5.4 on page 106. The mass scales in this set-up are calculated as follows:

³ For a local realization of split supersymmetry see [137], and a realization by mixed anomaly-D-term mediation has been reported in [119].

| Fundamental masses | Moduli masses | Soft masses |
|---|---|--|
| $m_{\rm s} = 1.1 \cdot 10^{16} {\rm GeV}$ | $m_U = 2.6 \cdot 10^{13} { m GeV}$ | $m_{1/2}^{ m gravity} = 819{ m GeV}$ |
| $m_{3/2}=168{\rm TeV}$ | $m_{T_1} = 1.5 \cdot 10^{10} { m GeV}$ | $m_{1/2}^{\text{anomaly}} = 10 \text{GeV}$ |
| | $m_{T_2} = 168 \text{ TeV}$ | $m_0^{ m gravity} = 817 { m GeV}$ |
| | $m_{T_b} = 553 \mathrm{GeV}$ | |

Let us again comment on the various scales arising in this LARGE volume minimum:

- We arranged the parameters for the present set-up such that $m_s \simeq m_X$ together with the gravitino mass in the TeV range.
- The closed sector moduli masses take (almost) acceptable values with m_{T_b} close to the regime where the cosmological moduli problem may be avoided. (Note that we were not careful with factors of 2π .)
- The soft masses are dominantly generated via the supersymmetry breaking of T_2 specified by $F^2 \sim 10^{-14} m_{\rm P}$. Since T_2 is stabilized as in the original LARGE volume scenario, similar mechanisms generating the soft masses are at work [31]. In particular, using the fact that $F^1 \sim 10^{-20} m_{\rm P} \ll F^2$, the common term determining the gaugino as well as the scalar masses can be expressed as

$$\frac{F^1 + F^2}{2(\tau_1 + \tau_2)} \sim \frac{F^2}{2(\tau_1 + \tau_2)} \sim \frac{\tau_2}{\tau_1 + \tau_2} \frac{m_{3/2}}{\ln(m_P/m_{3/2})}.$$
(5.25)

Here we used that $F^2 \simeq 2\tau_2 m_{3/2} / \ln(m_P/m_{3/2})$ which was obtained in [138]. For the gravity mediated gaugino mass we thus find

$$m_{1/2}^{\text{gravity}} = \frac{F^1 + F^2}{2(\tau_1 + \tau_2)} \sim \frac{3}{25} \frac{1.7 \cdot 10^5 \,\text{GeV}}{\ln(10^{18} \cdot 10^{-5})} \sim 700 \,\text{GeV}.$$
 (5.26)

• For the anomaly mediated gaugino mass we use equation (5.19) to obtain

$$m_{1/2}^{\text{anomaly}} \sim \frac{\alpha_a}{4\pi} \left(3T_G m_{3/2} \left(1 - 1 + \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{V}^{-1}) \right) + 2\lambda T_R \frac{F^1 + F^2}{2(\tau_1 + \tau_2)} \right) \\ \sim \frac{1}{300} \left(3 \cdot 3 \cdot 10^5 \,\text{GeV} \cdot 10^{-6} + 2\lambda \cdot 6 \cdot 700 \,\text{GeV} \right)$$
(5.27)
~ 10 GeV,

with $\lambda = \frac{1}{3}$ [31]. Note that again the contribution of $m_{3/2}$ is canceled at leading order but the sub-leading correction $m_{3/2}/\mathcal{V}$ is suppressed compared to F^2 .

Furthermore, in this supersymmetry breaking scheme, the anomaly mediated gaugino masses are significantly smaller than the gravity mediated ones. This is contrast to the so-called mirage mediation scheme arising for instance in the original KKLT scenario [139–141], where both are of the same order of magnitude.

• Finally, we consider the gravity mediated scalar masses. Referring to formula (5.20), we obtain

$$(m_0^{\text{gravity}})^2 \sim m_{3/2}^2 (1 - 1 + \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{V}^{-1})) + \lambda \left(\frac{F^1 + F^2}{2(\tau_1 + \tau_2)}\right)^2 \\ \sim (10^5 \,\text{GeV})^2 \cdot 10^{-6} + \lambda (700 \,\text{GeV})^2 \\ \sim (10^2 \,\text{GeV})^2.$$
(5.28)

Note that for the scalar masses, the contribution from $m_{3/2}$ is canceled at leading order but now the sub-leading corrections scale as $m_{3/2}/\sqrt{\mathcal{V}}$. Therefore, by accident, the two terms in the equation above are of the same order which is in contrast to the relation $m_0^{\text{gravity}} = m_{1/2}^{\text{gravity}}/\sqrt{3}$ obtained in the original LVS [31].

 Assuming that the supersymmetric μ-term vanishes, the canonical normalized Higgs parameters are also in the TeV regime. This would solve the μ-problem via the Giudice-Masiero mechanism [142].

In summary, by wrapping the MSSM supporting D7-branes along $\Gamma_1 + \Gamma_2$, we obtain a LARGE volume scenario with supergravity mediated soft masses in the TeV region and $m_s = m_X$. This is different compared to the original LVS where the string scale is usually at an intermediate scale. It would be interesting to calculate the soft-terms at the weak scale along the lines of [32, 33] to see whether distinctive patterns for the supersymmetric phenomenology to be tested at the LHC can be obtained.

5.3. Comment on the Cosmological Constant

For the GUT set-up discussed in the previous section, the tree-level cosmological constant is $V_F^* = -1.4 \cdot 10^{-34} m_P^4$ and therefore a high degree of fine-tuning in the uplift potential (5.14) is needed to obtain the observed value of $\Lambda \simeq +10^{-120} m_P^4$. Note that after such a fine-tuning has been achieved, a LARGE volume scenario with $m_s \simeq m_X$ contains a natural candidate serving as a quintessence field [143, 144]: indeed, taking into account also non-perturbative corrections corresponding to the large four-cycle Γ_b , the scalar potential depending on the (canonically normalized) axion σ_b takes the form

$$\frac{V_Q}{m_P^4} \simeq \left(\frac{m_P m_{3/2}}{m_X^2}\right) e^{-\frac{2\pi}{L}\tau_b} \left(1 - \cos\left(\frac{2\pi}{L}\sigma_b\right)\right).$$
(5.29)

For the minimum $\mathcal{V}^* \simeq \tau_b^{2/3} \simeq 92158$ of our model from section 5.2.3 and L of the order $L = 40, \ldots, 50$, the prefactor in (5.29) is of the right order of magnitude.

Although the GUT models from the previous section may contain a quintessence field, let us now take a different point of view. Since in our scenario we have exponential control over W_0^{eff} and A^{eff} , one might ask whether it is possible to dynamically find a minimum $V_F^* \simeq -|W_0^{\text{eff}}|^2 \mathcal{V}^{-3} \simeq -10^{-120} m_p^4$ realized without fine-tuning. Ignoring the weak scale for a moment, for the string scale we have $m_s \sim \mathcal{V}^{-1/2} m_p >$ TeV which implies that $\mathcal{V} < 10^{30}$. To keep the tuning of a, b, A, B moderate, we identify $|W_0^{\text{eff}}| \sim 10^{-15}$ and thus $\mathcal{V} \sim 10^{30}$ as a natural choice to realize $V_F^* \simeq -10^{-120} m_p^4$. A set of parameters dynamically leading to such values is for instance

$$A = 1, \quad B = 0.1, \quad C_1 = 1, \quad C_2 = 3, \quad a = \frac{2\pi}{13}, \quad b = \frac{2\pi}{14},$$

$$g_s = \frac{1}{5}, \quad \eta_b = 1, \quad \eta_1 = \frac{1}{30}, \quad \eta_2 = \frac{1}{6}, \quad \chi = -452,$$
 (5.30)

and the plots showing the potential in the vicinity of the minimum can be found in figures 5.5 on page 106. The numerical values specifying the minimum are

$$\mathcal{V}^* = 6.4 \cdot 10^{28}, \qquad T_1^* = 68.84, \qquad T_2^* = 11.53, \qquad V_F^* = -7.8 \cdot 10^{-121} \, m_{\rm P}^4,$$
 (5.31)

and because the AdS minimum is at $V_F^* \sim -10^{-120} m_P^4$, the warp factor $a = 10^{-15}$ in the uplift potential (5.14) does not involve any fine-tuning of the flux parameters K and M.

We conclude that there exist vacua of the scalar potential (5.13) whose tree-level cosmological constant has the right order of magnitude. However, this clearly does not solve the cosmological constant problem, as we have not yet identified the standard model and the origin of the weak scale. Once we try to introduce the MSSM into this set-up, we are confronted with the usual problems. Let us briefly explain three possibilities:

- Localizing the MSSM on D7-branes wrapping the cycles $\Gamma_{(1,2)}$ leads to soft masses below the gravitino mass scale $m_{3/2} \simeq 10^{-18}$ eV which itself is ridiculously small.
- Since $m_{\rm s} \sim \text{TeV}$, we could break supersymmetry at the string scale and place a nonsupersymmetric anti D3-brane configuration realizing the MSSM at the bottom of a throat, i. e. on the TeV brane in the RS scenario. The uncanceled NS–NS tadpole of the non-supersymmetric brane configuration would be the red-shifted uplift term. However, all mass scales in the throat are red-shifted as well [145] so that the stringy excitations such as squarks have masses $m_0 \simeq am_{\rm s} \simeq \Lambda^{1/4} = 10^{-3}$ eV.
- A third option is to place an explicitly supersymmetry breaking D-brane configuration in the bulk, i. e. on the Planck brane in the RS scenario. Then the superpartners have

string scale masses in the TeV region, but we get an additional positive contribution $V \sim O(m_s^4)$ to the scalar potential.

In conclusion, even though we have exponential control over the effective parameters W_0^{eff} and A^{eff} , the cosmological constant problem is not even touched. It can be phrased as the problem of hiding the TeV scale supersymmetry breaking of the standard model such that it does not induce a large contribution to the tree-level value Λ_0 .



Figure 5.3.: F-term potential of the GUT model 2 in the vicinity of the minimum.



Figure 5.4.: F-term potential of the GUT model 3 in the vicinity of the minimum.



Figure 5.5.: F-term potential of the Λ model in the vicinity of the minimum.

6. SUSY Breaking in Local String/F-Theory Models

In the previous chapter we analyzed a modified LARGE volume scenario in which the string scale is at the GUT scale $m_{\rm s} \sim m_X \sim 10^{16}$ GeV. In order to get a suitable value for the gauge coupling in these GUT scenarios, the matter D7-branes had to wrap the same four-cycle in the internal space as the D7-branes supporting the gaugino condensates, needed for moduli stabilization.

In the numerical calculation of the soft terms in the visible sector, we found a rather unexpected cancellation leading to a hierarchical suppression of the soft masses compared to the gravitino mass. We credited this with the fact that the minimum of the scalar potential for the Kähler modulus Γ_1 associated to this particular four-cycle was almost supersymmetric, and correspondingly the F-term F^1 was smaller than expected. Still, under certain circumstances, gravity mediation was the dominant supersymmetry breaking mediation mechanism.

In this chapter we investigate supersymmetry breaking in these kinds of set-ups more carefully. As a refinement compared to the models in chapter 5, we no longer assume that the branes from the matter sector and the moduli stabilizing sector populate the same four-cycle in the internal space, accounting for the "chirality problem" described in chapter 4. Remember, we found that the four-cycles supporting the chiral matter sector cannot be stabilized directly by the F-term potential induced by non-perturbative effects as usually done in the LARGE volume or KKLT scenario, but rather by D-terms. Consequently, the corresponding F-term is zero and gravity mediated soft terms are induced only by F-terms associated to other Kähler moduli or the dilaton. Hence we await a similar, or even stronger kind of suppression of the soft terms as in the models in chapter 5.

Beside the motivation from the chirality problem, such "sequestered" set-ups can also be found in other contexts: a way of realizing interesting gauge theories is given by D3-branes at the singular point as discussed in [146, 147]. Various low-energy models were studied on the first two del Pezzo surfaces dP₀ and dP₁, allowing for both GUT-like and extended MSSM scenarios. From the effective field theory point of view, these are quite similar to the models we studied in chapter 4. Remember that there, the D-term potential was such that Kähler modulus associated to the chiral matter branes was stabilized at zero size (without taking into account higher α' -corrections).

Another related scenario was proposed in the context of F-theory [25]. Model building on elliptically fibered Calabi–Yau fourfolds has come into vogue recently [26–28, 148–152]. The appeal of these constructions is due to the fact that F-theory is genuinely non-perturbative and as such admits in a relatively easy way to engineer spinor representations of an SO(10)

or the top quark Yukawa coupling 10 10 5_H in SU(5). Both is not possible in perturbative orientifold constructions. Another advantage is that these F-theory models allow for an essentially local treatment [27] if there exists a limit in which gravity decouples from the gauge theory on the GUT brane. This is the case if the space transverse to the brane can become arbitrary large which equivalently means that the four-cycle the branes are wrapping can shrink to zero size. A class which is often considered for these divisors is given again by del Pezzo surfaces. If gravity can be decoupled from the GUT sector, usually a suppression for the gravity induced soft terms of the order m_s/m_P relative to their general values is expected, suggesting that gauge mediation is the dominant mechanism for the mediation of SUSY breaking. This kind of models has a number of interesting phenomenological properties [153, 154].

In view of the similarity to the F-theory models, we await a similar suppression of the gravity mediated soft terms in our LARGE volume set-up. Indeed, after introducing the geometric framework of local GUTs in section 6.1, we compute the gravity mediated soft terms in section 6.2 and find a cancellation at $\mathcal{O}(m_{3/2})$. Sub-leading contributions to the soft terms appear at order $\mathcal{O}(m_{3/2}/\sqrt{\mathcal{V}}) = \mathcal{O}(m_{3/2}^{3/2}/m_{\rm P}^{1/2})$. In certain circumstances these contributions can also cancel and we give a set of well posed assumptions when this can occur. In section 6.3 we discuss the implications from these soft terms for both gauge mediation and the cosmological moduli problem.

6.1. Effective Field Theories and Moduli Stabilization

Let us describe in more detail the set-up we are going to investigate in this chapter. We require a Calabi–Yau three-fold with at least three four-cycles: one large cycle and two small del Pezzo four-cycles, i. e. the three-fold is of the (strong) swiss cheese type. One of the del Pezzos supports the SU(5)/MSSM gauge theory while the other supports a D3-brane instanton. We exclude chiral intersections between the two small four-cycles along the lines of chapter 4. Then the D3-brane instanton induces a non-perturbative contribution to the superpotential of the form (4.1), such that there exists the non-supersymmetric AdS-type LARGE volume minimum. Since the GUT brane is localized on a del Pezzo surface "orthogonal" to the instantonic del Pezzo and the size of the GUT brane is fixed by D-terms at small values, the previous computations of the gravity induced soft terms should be modified. The same calculation is also necessary for the case that the GUT cycle is collapsed at the quiver locus.

Obviously there are two basic regimes where the effective field theory (EFT) for light modes is reliable:

• The geometric regime, where all of the four-cycles, including the standard model or GUT cycle are larger than the string scale.

• The size of the standard model cycle is much smaller than the string scale. It is a blow-up mode expanded around its vanishing value corresponding to the del Pezzo singularity. Fortunately string theory is under control at the singularity and the EFT can be safely defined in an expansion on the blow-up mode.

Since the D-term conditions tend to prefer a small value of the standard model cycle, it is important to understand the physics in both regimes of validity of EFT. It is clear that these are two different effective field theories for standard model physics. But, as we will see, since the standard model cycle does not participate in the breaking of supersymmetry, the structure of soft breaking terms will be the same in both cases.

Gauge Couplings on the GUT Brane

In orientifold models we can realize a GUT theory on a stack of five D7-branes giving rise to the Chan-Paton gauge group U(5). This allows for a non-vanishing gauge flux \mathcal{F}_a in the diagonal $U(1) \subset U(5)$. We assumed the four-cycles to be del Pezzo surfaces. These are rigid and do not even contain any discrete Wilson lines. The gauge symmetry is broken to $SU(3) \times SU(2) \times U(1)_Y$ by a non-trivial $U(1)_Y$ gauge flux \mathcal{F}_Y supported on a two-cycle $C_a \in H_2(D_a, \mathbb{Z})$ which is trivial in $H_2(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Z})$ [27, 28]. As explained in [155], this way of breaking the SU(5) gauge group leads to a specific pattern of MSSM gauge couplings at the unification scale

$$f_i = T_a - \frac{1}{2}\kappa_i S, \qquad i \in \{1, 2, 3\},$$
(6.1)

with

$$\kappa_{3} = \int_{D_{a}} \mathcal{F}_{a}^{2}, \qquad \kappa_{2} = \int_{D_{a}} \mathcal{F}_{a}^{2} + \mathcal{F}_{Y}^{2} + 2\mathcal{F}_{a}\mathcal{F}_{Y},$$

$$\kappa_{1} = \int_{D_{a}} \mathcal{F}_{a}^{2} + \frac{3}{5} \left(\mathcal{F}_{Y}^{2} + 2\mathcal{F}_{a}\mathcal{F}_{Y} \right).$$
(6.2)

For concreteness we are using these orientifold relations in the following.

In the limit that the cycle is collapsed to the singularity, the gauge kinetic function takes a similar form:

$$f_i = \delta_i S + s_{ik} T_k, \tag{6.3}$$

where now T_k has to be understood as the blow-up modes that resolve the singularity. For \mathbb{Z}_n singularities δ_i is universal; however for more complicated singularities δ_i can be non-universal. For applications to unification, we are interested in singularities where the different gauge groups have universal couplings at the singularity.

For both classes of local models the GUT unification scale and string scale differ significantly by a factor of the bulk radius. More precisely, the GUT unification scale m_X is given by $m_X = Rm_s$, where $R \sim V^{1/6}$ is the bulk radius of the Calabi–Yau in string units. This can be seen through the Kaplunovsky–Louis relation between physical and holomorphic gauge couplings [156]

$$g_{a}^{-2}(\Phi,\bar{\Phi},\mu) = \operatorname{Re}\left(f_{a}(\Phi)\right) + \frac{\left(\sum_{r} n_{r} T_{a}(r) - 3T_{a}(G)\right)}{8\pi^{2}} \ln\left(\frac{m_{P}}{\mu}\right) + \frac{T(G)}{8\pi^{2}} \ln g_{a}^{-2}(\Phi,\bar{\Phi},\mu) + \frac{\left(\sum_{r} n_{r} T_{a}(r) - T(G)\right)}{16\pi^{2}} \widehat{K}(\Phi,\bar{\Phi}) - \sum_{r} \frac{T_{a}(r)}{8\pi^{2}} \ln \det Z^{r}(\Phi,\bar{\Phi},\mu).$$
(6.4)

Using the IIB Kähler potential $\hat{K} = -2 \ln \mathcal{V}$ and the behavior for local models $\hat{Z} = \mathcal{V}^{-2/3}$ we obtain

$$g_a^{-2}(\mu) - \frac{T(G)}{8\pi^2} \ln g_a^{-2}(\mu) = \operatorname{Re}\left(f_a(\Phi)\right) + \beta_a \ln\left(\frac{(Rm_s)^2}{\mu^2}\right),\tag{6.5}$$

giving effective unification at Rm_s . As described in [157, 158], at the string level this dependence arises from the presence of tadpoles that are sourced in the local model but are only canceled globally. This comes from the fact that the $U(1)_Y$ flux that breaks the GUT group is on a two-cycle that is non-trivial in $H_2(D_a, \mathbb{Z})$ and trivial in $H_2(\mathcal{X}, \mathbb{Z})$. Locally the $U(1)_Y$ flux sources an RR tadpole, which is in fact absent globally due to the triviality of the cycle. The finiteness of threshold corrections is tied to the absence of RR tadpoles, but the triviality of C_a requires knowledge of the global geometry, leading to the presence of the scale Rm_s .

Moduli Stabilization

We take the zero mode arguments of chapter 4 serious and assume that the GUT branes wrap a four-cycle Γ_a which has no chiral intersection with the instanton cycle in order to avoid the generation of charged term in the non-perturbative superpotential. As mentioned, in type IIB orientifolds we allow for an additional gauge flux \mathcal{F}_a in the diagonal $U(1)_a \subset U(5)$ perturbative Chan–Paton gauge group. Vanishing of the Fayet–Iliopoulos $U(1)_a$ D-term constraint (at order \mathcal{V}^{-2})

$$\int_{D_a} J \wedge \mathcal{F}_a = 0 \tag{6.6}$$

implies that the volume of the cycle Γ is driven to zero, i. e. $\tau_a \to 0$, so that we are at the quiver locus where α' -corrections cannot be ignored. In the EFT, the condition (6.6) is essentially that the field dependent FI-term vanishes $\mathcal{K}_{T_a} = 0$. Using the Kähler potential (3.5) in both the geometric and quiver regimes, this condition show explicitly a dynamical preference for a collapsed cycle $\tau_a \to 0$ as for a swiss cheese manifold with volume (3.29) we

have

$$\mathcal{K}_{T_a} = \frac{3}{2} \frac{\eta_a^{3/2} \tau_a^{1/2}}{\mathcal{V} + \frac{\hat{\xi}}{2}}.$$
(6.7)

The F-term of the field T_a is of the form

$$F_a = e^{\mathcal{K}/2} \left(W_{T_a} + W \mathcal{K}_{T_a} \right). \tag{6.8}$$

Since the superpotential W does not depend on the modulus T_a and the D-term condition implies $\mathcal{K}_{T_a} = 0$, we can see that this field does *not* break supersymmetry, i. e. $F_a = 0$. Notice that this conclusion will not be modified by including perturbative and non-perturbative corrections to the Kähler potential since these corrections will equally modify the D- and F-terms.

Now it is instructive to take a look at the Kähler metric derived from (3.5):

$$\mathcal{K}^{a\bar{b}} = \pm 2\left(\mathcal{V} + \frac{\hat{\xi}}{2}\right) \frac{3}{16\eta_a^{3/2}} \tau_a^{1/2} \delta_{ab} + \frac{4\mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi}}{\mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi}} \tau_a \tau_b,$$

$$\mathcal{K}^{a\bar{S}} = -\frac{3}{2} \left(S + \bar{S}\right) \frac{\hat{\xi}}{\mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi}} \tau_a,$$

$$\mathcal{K}^{S\bar{S}} = \frac{\left(S + \bar{S}\right)^2}{4} \frac{4\mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi}}{\mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi}},$$
(6.9)

where we included this time also the dilaton part. Since $\tau_a = 0$ it is clear from (6.9) that also $F^a = e^{\mathcal{K}/2} \mathcal{K}^{a\bar{j}} F_{\bar{j}} = 0$. This is a very important conclusion, as it indicates that the standard model is somehow sequestered from the sources of supersymmetry breaking.

A loophole to this argument is that it implicitly assumes that the standard model fields, charged under the corresponding U(1), will not get a vev. Otherwise they would contribute to the D-terms and cancel the contribution from the FI-term. Even though this is desirable phenomenologically to avoid a large scale breaking of the standard model symmetries, such as color, it should be the outcome of a calculation. We illustrate in the appendix in a toy model that this is actually the case as long as the soft scalar masses are not tachyonic.

A direct consequence is that the soft terms on the GUT brane can only be generated at "sub-leading" order by F^b , F^s and F^S , i. e. by moduli which are sort of sequestered from the GUT brane.

Including Matter Fields

So far we have concentrated only on the EFT for the moduli fields and their stabilization. In order to study soft-supersymmetry breaking we need to properly introduce the matter field dependence in the EFTs in both the geometric and singular cycle regimes. The important

term to be included is the matter fields' Kähler potential $\widetilde{K} = Z_{\alpha\beta}\varphi_{\alpha}\varphi_{\beta}^{*} + \cdots$ with $Z_{\alpha\beta}$ a function of the moduli fields.

At this state, only the dependence on τ_b and τ_s is relevant, as all the other fields do not break supersymmetry (to leading order). Z should only depend on τ_b , S and the Kähler modulus of the GUT brane τ_a , so $Z = Z(\tau_b, \tau_a, S)$. We found the leading order expression for Z in section 3.6 to be $Z \sim 1/\mathcal{V}^{2/3}$. This applies to both chiral matter at magnetized D7-branes and to the better understood fractional D3-branes at singularities. Since the α' -corrections to the Kähler potential are crucial to determine the large volume vacuum, consistency requires that these corrections should also be included in the matter field Kähler potential. Unfortunately these corrections are not known at present but as in the tree-level case, we are mostly interested on their overall volume dependence.

Let us parametrize the α' -corrections by a so far unknown function f:

$$Z_{\alpha} = \frac{k_{\alpha}}{\tau_b} \left(1 + f\left(\frac{\operatorname{Re}(S)}{\tau_b}\right) \right). \tag{6.10}$$

The dependence of f on the variables can only be in the indicated way in order to have the right power in g_s . Now consider the next-to-leading order correction in α' to the tree-level result, which, we claim, must be of the form:

$$Z_{\alpha} = \frac{k_{\alpha}}{\tau_b} \left(1 - \delta \left(\frac{\operatorname{Re}(S)}{\tau_b} \right)^{\frac{\mu}{2}} + \cdots \right), \tag{6.11}$$

with n = 1, 2, ... denoting the $(\alpha')^n$ order of this term. The question now is at which order in $(\alpha')^n$ the first correction appears. Since we are only interested in the correction which does not include τ_a , we can use a scaling argument like in section 3.6. Assuming that the physical Yukawa couplings do not depend on the overall volume of the space and taking into account the Kähler potential (3.5), the leading order correction to the Kähler metrics were shown to scale as $\frac{k_{\alpha}}{\tau_b}$. Then it is expected that also at next-to-leading order the scalings must match, which means that also the Kähler metrics are corrected at order $(\alpha')^3$. This argument shows that n = 3 is the smallest expected correction in (6.11) and then

$$Z_{\alpha} = \frac{k_{\alpha}}{\tau_b} \left(1 - \delta \left(\frac{\operatorname{Re}(S)}{\tau_b} \right)^{3/2} \right).$$
(6.12)

Summary of EFTs

We can finally summarize the expressions for the EFTs we are using for the two relevant regimes:

1. In the geometric regime the EFT is determined by:

$$\mathcal{K} = -2\ln\left(\mathcal{V} + \frac{\hat{\xi}}{2}\right) - \ln\left(S + \bar{S}\right) + \mathcal{K}_{\rm CS} + Z\varphi\varphi^* + \cdots, \qquad (6.13)$$

$$W = W_0 + Ae^{-aT_s} + W_{\text{matter}},$$
 (6.14)

$$f_i = T_a - \frac{1}{2}\kappa_i S,\tag{6.15}$$

where
$$\mathcal{V} = (\eta_b \tau_b)^{3/2} - (\eta_s \tau_s)^{3/2} - (\eta_a \tau_a)^{3/2}$$
 and $Z = k \Big(1 - \delta \big(\operatorname{Re}(S) \big)^{3/2} / \mathcal{V} \Big) / \mathcal{V}^{2/3}$.

2. In the singular cycle (blow-up) regime there is a slight change in the standard model cycle dependence of \mathcal{K} :

$$\mathcal{K} = -2\ln\left(\mathcal{V} + \frac{\hat{\xi}}{2}\right) + \alpha \frac{\tau_a^2}{\mathcal{V}} - \ln\left(S + \bar{S}\right) + \mathcal{K}_{\rm CS} + Z\varphi\varphi^* + \cdots, \qquad (6.16)$$

$$W = W_0 + Ae^{-aT_s} + W_{\text{matter}},$$
(6.17)

$$f = \delta_i S + s_{ik} T_k, \tag{6.18}$$

with now
$$\mathcal{V} = (\eta_b \tau_b)^{3/2} - (\eta_s \tau_s)^{3/2}$$
 and $Z = (\beta - \delta/\mathcal{V} + \gamma \tau_a^m)/\mathcal{V}^{2/3}$ with $m > 0$.

Since in both cases the standard model/GUT cycle does not break supersymmetry, the structure of soft breaking terms will be essentially the same.

6.2. Gravity Mediated Soft Terms

As we have seen, the LARGE volume minimum of the scalar potential breaks supersymmetry, so that this breaking induces soft supersymmetry breaking terms on the GUT brane. There are two sources which are relevant here. First, there are of course the gravity mediated soft terms. However, since the GUT brane is sequestered from the non-supersymmetric bulk one might expect that anomaly mediation is the leading order contribution. In this section we compute the gravity mediated soft terms, i. e. the gaugino- and sfermion-masses as well as the μ -, A- and B-terms. Moreover, we compute the anomaly mediated gaugino masses. Let us emphasize again that the scenario differs from the usual intermediate scale LARGE volume scenario in that the string scale is much higher (we assume $m_{\rm s} \sim 10^{15}$ GeV for consistency with unification at $m_X \sim 10^{16}$ GeV), and that the GUT or MSSM branes are wrapping a four-cycle completely sequestered from the four-cycles supporting D3-brane instantons.

From the relation between the string scale and the Planck scale (3.48) we see that for $m_s = 10^{15}$ GeV, which implies in our set up the usual unification scale at $m_X \sim 1.2 \cdot 10^{16}$ GeV, an internal volume of roughly $\mathcal{V} = \mathcal{O}(10^6 - 10^7)$ is needed (in Einstein frame). This is a value large enough to trust the \mathcal{V}^{-1} expansion. Moreover, we immediately realize that the LARGE

volume expansion parameter is directly related to the local GUT expansion parameter, i. e. $\mathcal{V}^{-1/2} \simeq m_{\rm s}/m_{\rm P}$.

6.2.1. Structure of Soft Terms

We are now in a position to compute each of the gravity mediated soft supersymmetry breaking terms in this class of scenarios.

Gaugino Masses

Remember, for gravity mediated supersymmetry breaking, the gaugino masses are calculated as

$$m_{1/2} = \frac{1}{2\operatorname{Re}(f_i)} F^I \partial_I f_i, \qquad (6.19)$$

for i = 3, 2, 1, where for the gauge kinetic functions we use (6.1) with $\tau_a \simeq 0$ due to the D-term constraint.

The distinctive feature of our set-up is the fact that the GUT brane is sequestered from the bulk, which implies $F^a = 0$. The only contribution to the gaugino masses can come from the dilaton F-term $F^S = e^{\mathcal{K}/2} \mathcal{K}^{S\bar{J}} \bar{F}_{\bar{J}}$.

Here, a subtlety arises concerning $F_S = D_S W = \partial_S W + W(\partial_S \mathcal{K})$: in the LARGE volume scenario, the Kähler potential depends on the dilaton not only in the usual way via $-\ln(S + \bar{S})$, but there is also a contribution in the α' -correction in the Kähler moduli part (see (3.5)). Thus, $\partial_S \mathcal{K}$ receives \mathcal{V}^{-1} corrections:

$$D_S W \approx \partial_S W_0 - \frac{g_s}{2} W_0 - \frac{3}{4} \frac{\xi}{g_s^{1/2}} \frac{W_0}{\mathcal{V}} + \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{V}^{-2}).$$
 (6.20)

Also as a consequence of the α' -corrections, the minimum of the scalar potential for the dilaton is shifted away from the supersymmetric locus $D_S W = 0$ at order \mathcal{V}^{-1} . In order to determine the new minimum, one would have to minimize the full potential, before integrating out the dilaton. However, since we do not have an explicit model with a full flux sector, in order to capture this effect, we assume that the two leading order terms in (6.20) cancel and keep only the next-to-leading order terms in the \mathcal{V}^{-1} expansion. The expression we get in this way has certainly the correct order in \mathcal{V} and we include an order one constant γ' in the expression for the F-term, comprising the uncertainty about the true location of the new minimum:

$$D_S W \approx -\frac{3}{4} \gamma' \frac{\xi}{g_s^{1/2}} \frac{W_0}{\mathcal{V}}.$$
(6.21)

In the sum over $D_I W$ in the dilaton F-Term $F^S = e^{\mathcal{K}/2} \mathcal{K}^{SJ} D_J W$, there are finally two contributions at order \mathcal{V}^{-2} : one from $\mathcal{K}^{Sb} F_b$ and another one from $\mathcal{K}^{SS} F_S$. They have both the same dependence on W_0/\mathcal{V}^2 and ξ/g_s^2 . We combine the former constant γ' with other order one constants into a new variable γ such that we can write the dilaton F-term as follows:

$$F^S \approx \frac{3}{2\sqrt{2}} \gamma \frac{\xi}{g_s^2} \frac{W_0}{\mathcal{V}^2}.$$
(6.22)

This can be inserted into the expression for the gravity mediated gaugino masses (6.19). The result reads:

$$m_{1/2} = \frac{3}{4\sqrt{2}} \gamma \frac{\xi}{g_{\rm s}} \frac{|W_0|m_{\rm P}}{\mathcal{V}^2} = \frac{3}{4} \gamma \frac{\xi}{g_{\rm s}^{3/2}} \frac{m_{3/2}}{\mathcal{V}}.$$
(6.23)

We see that this is independent of the MSSM gauge group factor, as the factor κ_i in (6.1) cancels. Here we have assumed that the D-term fixes the size of the GUT four-cycle at small volume in string units, so that the leading contribution to $\text{Re}(f_i) \simeq 25$ comes from the gauge flux induced correction $\simeq \kappa_i \text{Re}(S)$.

Squark/Slepton Masses

For convenience we repeat the formula for the scalar masses in gravity mediation of supersymmetry breaking:

$$m_0^2 = m_{3/2}^2 + V_0 - F^I \bar{F}^{\bar{J}} \partial_I \partial_{\bar{J}} \ln Z_\alpha.$$
(6.24)

From now on we assume that the potential in the minimum V_0 is already uplifted so that $V_0 \simeq 0$.

Let us first discuss the tree-level term in Z_{α} as deduced in (3.68). In this case and with the assumption $V_0 \simeq 0$, (6.24) reduces to

$$m_0^2 = m_{3/2}^2 - \frac{\left(F^b\right)^2}{4\tau_b^2}.$$
(6.25)

For the F-term F^b we have to perform again a careful analysis, as it will turn out that at leading order there is a precise cancellation between the gravitino mass squared and the second term in (6.25).

For this purpose, we start with the derivation of several approximation formulas, which we will need later. Consider the scalar potential (3.21), where we introduce again the usual prefactors $\lambda = \frac{g_s}{2} \frac{8}{3\eta_s^{3/2}}$, $\mu = 2g_s$ and $\nu = \frac{3}{8}$. Upon minimizing it with respect to the two independent variables τ_s and \mathcal{V} , we get two expressions: first, from the condition $\frac{\partial V_F}{\partial \tau_s} = 0$, it follows:

$$e^{-a\tau_s} = \frac{\mu}{\lambda} \frac{|W_0|}{aA\mathcal{V}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\tau_s}} \frac{(1-a\tau_s)}{(-2a+\frac{1}{2\tau_s})}.$$
 (6.26)

After developing the denominator in powers of $1/(a\tau_s)$ and inserting the expressions for μ

and λ we get

$$e^{-a\tau_s} \approx \frac{3}{4} \frac{\eta_s^{3/2}}{aA} \sqrt{\tau_s} \frac{W_0}{\mathcal{V}} \left(1 - \frac{3}{4a\tau_s}\right). \tag{6.27}$$

The second approximation formula arises upon solving $\frac{\partial V_F}{\partial V} = 0$ for $\tau_s^{3/2}$ and thereby using (6.27). The result is

$$\tau_s^{3/2} \approx \frac{\hat{\xi}}{2\eta_s^{3/2}} \left(1 + \frac{1}{2a\tau_s}\right).$$
 (6.28)

Another useful approximation which we need in the following is given by:

$$\mathcal{K}^{ab}(\partial_b \mathcal{K}) = -\frac{4\mathcal{V}^2 + \mathcal{V}\hat{\xi} + 4\hat{\xi}^2}{2(\mathcal{V} - \hat{\xi})(\mathcal{V} + \frac{\hat{\xi}}{2})}\tau_a \approx -2\tau_a - \frac{3}{2}\hat{\xi}\frac{\tau_a}{\mathcal{V}},\tag{6.29}$$

where the sum runs only over Kähler moduli. The first equality can be derived using the expressions for the Kähler metric and the derivatives of the Kähler potential with respect to the moduli in terms of two-cycle volumes t^a instead of four-cycle volumes τ_a (see [30, 89] for details).

We are now in a position to calculate F^b :

$$F^{b} = e^{\mathcal{K}/2} \mathcal{K}^{bJ} D_{J} W = e^{\mathcal{K}/2} \left(\mathcal{K}^{b\tau_{j}} (\partial_{\tau_{j}} \mathcal{K}) W + \mathcal{K}^{bs} (\partial_{s} W) + \mathcal{K}^{bS} D_{S} W \right).$$
(6.30)

The term involving D_SW turns out to be sub-leading in the \mathcal{V}^{-1} expansion with respect to the other terms and thus can be neglected (see below). The derivative of the superpotential with respect to T_s undergoes a sign-flip due to the minimization with respect to the corresponding axion as it was already described in section 3.2. We insert now the approximations (6.27), (6.28) and (6.29) in (6.30) and we get:

$$F^{b} = -2\tau_{b}\frac{\sqrt{g_{s}}}{\sqrt{2}}\frac{W_{0}}{\mathcal{V}} - \frac{3}{8\sqrt{2}}\frac{\tau_{b}}{a\tau_{s}}\left(1 + \frac{3}{2a\tau_{s}}\right)\frac{W_{0}}{\mathcal{V}^{2}} + \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{V}^{-3}).$$
(6.31)

For the later comparison with the other soft-terms, it is instructive to express this result in terms of the gravitino mass $m_{3/2} = e^{\mathcal{K}/2}W \sim \frac{\sqrt{g_s}}{\sqrt{2}}\frac{W_0}{\mathcal{V}}$ and the gaugino mass (6.23):

$$F^{b} = -2\tau_{b}m_{3/2} - \frac{\tau_{b}}{2a\tau_{s}} \left(1 + \frac{3}{2a\tau_{s}}\right)m_{1/2} + \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{V}^{-3}).$$
(6.32)

From (6.27) we can be estimate that $a\tau_s \approx \ln \mathcal{V} \approx 10$. Thus, for the sake of shorter formulæ, we may also neglect the second term in the parenthesis such that:

$$F^b \approx -2\tau_b m_{3/2} - \frac{\tau_b}{2a\tau_s} m_{1/2}.$$
 (6.33)

We square now (6.31) and clearly see the cancellation at leading order in the scalar mass formula (6.25):

$$(F^b)^2 \approx 4\tau_b^2 \left[m_{3/2}^2 + \frac{3}{8a\tau_s} \frac{\xi}{g_s^{3/2}} \left(1 + \frac{3}{2a\tau_s} \right) \frac{m_{3/2}^2}{\mathcal{V}} \right].$$
 (6.34)

We insert this into (6.25) and finally get for the soft sfermion masses squared

$$m_0^2 = -\frac{3}{16a\tau_s} \frac{\xi}{g_s^{1/2}} \left(1 + \frac{3}{2a\tau_s}\right) \frac{|W_0|^2 m_{\rm P}^2}{\mathcal{V}^3} = -\frac{3}{8a\tau_s} \frac{\xi}{q_s^{3/2}} \frac{m_{3/2}^2}{\mathcal{V}},$$
(6.35)

which at this stage come out tachyonic.

Next we need to discuss the higher α' -corrections in (6.11). The term with the highest power in $1/\mathcal{V}$ is the one with $(F^b)^2 \partial_b \partial_b \log \cdots$. It is straightforward, that for $\tau_a/\tau_b \ll 1$ this simplifies to

$$F^{m}F^{n}\partial_{m}\partial_{n}\log\left(1-\delta\left(\frac{\operatorname{Re}S}{\tau_{b}}\right)^{\frac{n}{2}}+\cdots\right)\simeq F^{b}F^{b}\frac{\delta n(n+2)(\operatorname{Re}S)^{\frac{n}{2}}}{4\tau_{b}^{\frac{n}{2}+2}}\sim\frac{\delta}{g_{s}^{\frac{n-2}{2}}}\frac{|W_{0}|^{2}m_{\mathrm{P}}^{2}}{\mathcal{V}^{\left(2+\frac{n}{3}\right)}}.$$
(6.36)

Therefore, if there were corrections of order n = 1, 2, they would dominate over the corrections in (6.35). It is precisely the third order corrections in α' which contribute to the sfermion masses at the same order in $1/\mathcal{V}$. Including also the other moduli fields in (6.36), the overall value of the squared scalar masses will then be proportional to $\delta - \xi/3$:

$$m_0^2 = m_{3/2}^2 \left(-\frac{1}{4a\tau_s} \frac{\xi}{g_s^{3/2} \mathcal{V}} + \frac{15(\delta - \xi/3)}{4g_s^{3/2} \mathcal{V}} \right).$$
(6.37)

Depending on the relative size of these two contributions one can get tachyonic or nontachyonic sfermion masses. Moreover, it also shows that for $\delta = \xi/3$ there are further cancellations taking place at this order. This is precisely the value one expects from the above mentioned scaling argument of the physical Yukawa couplings.

Later we will give an argument under which quite general assumptions such cancellations should occur. One of the assumptions will be that really the uplifting sector is correctly taken into account, which leads to a further dependence of the Kähler metric on a supersymmetry breaking field. Note that indeed the soft sfermion masses (6.35) are of the same order as the AdS vacuum energy $V_0 \sim W_0^2/\mathcal{V}^3$, indicating that in these computations the uplift sector cannot be neglected.

$\hat{\mu}/\hat{\mu}B$ -terms

The formula for the $\hat{\mu}$ -term is

$$\hat{\mu} = \left(e^{\mathcal{K}/2}\mu + m_{3/2}Z - \bar{F}^{\bar{I}}\partial_{\bar{I}}Z\right) \left(Z_{H_1}Z_{H_2}\right)^{-1/2},\tag{6.38}$$

where μ denotes the supersymmetric μ -parameter, which we keep for completeness, although it can be argued to vanish under very general assumptions [99]. We assume again the Kähler metric (6.11) for the Higgs fields as well as for Z. Here again, a cancellation of the second and the third term occurs. Note, if the μ parameter is not equal to zero, it dominates over the sub-leading terms stemming from F^b . Dropping the factors of order one, we are left with:

$$\hat{\mu} \approx \frac{\sqrt{g_s}}{\sqrt{2}} \frac{\tau_b}{\mathcal{V}} \mu - \frac{m_{1/2}}{4a\tau_s}.$$
(6.39)

The expression for $B\hat{\mu}$ is more complicated:

$$B\hat{\mu} = (Z_{H_1}Z_{H_2})^{-1/2} \Big(e^{\mathcal{K}/2} \mu \big(F^I \partial_I \mathcal{K} + F^I \partial_I \log \mu - F^I \partial_I \log(Z_{H_1}Z_{H_2}) - m_{3/2} \big) \\ + (2m_{3/2}^2 + V_0) Z - m_{3/2} \bar{F}^{\bar{I}} \partial_{\bar{I}} Z + m_{3/2} F^I \big(\partial_I Z - Z \partial_I \log(Z_{H_1}Z_{H_2}) \big) \\ - F^{\bar{I}} F^J \big(\partial_{\bar{I}} \partial_J Z - (\partial_{\bar{I}} Z) \partial_J \log(Z_{H_1}Z_{H_2}) \big) \Big).$$
(6.40)

However, due to the simple Kähler metric and assuming that μ is just an input parameter without any moduli dependence, after a long but straightforward calculation, the result is rather simple:

$$B\hat{\mu} = -\left(\frac{\sqrt{g_s}}{\sqrt{2}}\frac{\tau_b}{\mathcal{V}}\mu + \frac{m_{3/2}}{2a\tau_s}\right)m_{1/2},$$
(6.41)

where we have dropped again the order one constants k_{H_i} and z.

A-terms

The A-terms are given by:

$$A_{\alpha\beta\gamma} = F^{I}(\partial_{I}\mathcal{K}) + F^{I}\partial_{I}\log Y_{\alpha\beta\gamma} - F^{I}\partial_{I}\log Z_{\alpha}Z_{\beta}Z_{\gamma}.$$
(6.42)

The Peccei–Quinn shift symmetry forbids a dependence of the holomorphic superpotential on the axio-dilaton or Kähler moduli, thus the Yukawa couplings $Y_{\alpha\beta\gamma}$ can only depend on the complex structure moduli and they drop out.

There is a cancellation of F^b in the remaining two sums and we are left with

$$A_{\alpha\beta\gamma} = F^s(\partial_s \mathcal{K}) + F^S(\partial_S \mathcal{K}). \tag{6.43}$$

The first term, $F^s(\partial_s \mathcal{K})$ is suppressed with respect to the second one $F^S(\partial_s \mathcal{K})$ by a factor of $1/a\tau_s$. As we are interested only in orders of magnitude, we keep only the latter term and get as result:

$$A_{\alpha\beta\gamma} \approx F^S(\partial_S \mathcal{K}) = -\frac{3}{4\sqrt{2}} \frac{\xi}{g_{\rm s}} \frac{|W_0|}{\mathcal{V}^2} m_{\rm P} = -m_{1/2}. \tag{6.44}$$

Anomaly Mediated Gaugino Masses

Let us also now estimate the anomaly mediated gaugino mass. It is clear that, for such a sequestered observable sector, one would have guessed that not gravity mediation but anomaly mediation induces the leading order soft terms. General formulæ for all the different soft terms are not available, so that in this section we just compute the anomaly mediated gaugino masses. Remember from eq. (3.73) that the formula for $m_{1/2}^{\text{anom.}}$ contains terms proportional to $m_{3/2}$ such that one would await a gaugino mass of the order W_0/\mathcal{V} . However also here, there is a cancellation at leading order stemming from the F-term $F^b \approx -2\tau_b m_{3/2} - \frac{\tau_b}{2a\tau_s}m_{1/2}$. The gravitino mass drops out and the final expression for the anomaly mediated gaugino mass for a SU(N) gauge group is:

$$m_{1/2}^{\text{anom}} = -\frac{g^2}{16\pi^2} \left[\left(N - \frac{1}{2} \right) - \frac{1}{4a\tau_s} \left(3N - \frac{1}{2} \right) \right] m_{1/2}.$$
 (6.45)

The surprising conclusion is: though the gravity mediated contribution to the gaugino mass is suppressed with respect to the gravitino mass by a factor of $(m_X/m_P)^2$, anomaly mediation is not the dominating source for the gaugino mass. It is suppressed by the usual one-loop factor with respect to the gravity mediated contribution. We expect a similar suppressed behavior for the other soft terms, so that anomaly mediation is sub-leading to gravity mediation.

6.2.2. Summary of Gravity Mediated Soft Masses

In the above computation of soft terms we have seen that the leading terms cancel and that we need to include higher order corrections in \mathcal{V}^{-1} . Since this scale is directly correlated with $\zeta = m_{\rm s}/m_{\rm P}$, we can express these gravity mediated soft terms in terms of the scales $m_{3/2}$ and $\zeta = m_{\rm s}/m_{\rm P}$. The results are listed in table 6.1, where we have set the supersymmetric μ parameter to zero and estimated

$$\sqrt{\frac{\pi}{3\xi}} \simeq \sqrt{\frac{400}{\chi(\mathcal{X})}} \simeq 1, \quad \text{and} \quad g_{s} \simeq 1.$$
 (6.46)

All soft terms in table 6.1 are suppressed by $(m_{\rm s}/m_{\rm P})^2$ relative to the naïve expectation

| soft term | scale |
|--------------------|--|
| $m_{1/2}$ | $\frac{1}{4}m_{3/2}\zeta^2$ |
| m_0^2 | $\tfrac{1}{16\log\zeta}m_{3/2}^2\zeta^2$ |
| $\hat{\mu}$ -term | $\frac{1}{8\log\zeta}m_{1/2}$ |
| $B\hat{\mu}$ -term | $\frac{1}{4\log\zeta}m_{3/2}m_{1/2}$ |
| A-term | $-m_{1/2}$ |

Table 6.1.: Classical gravity mediated soft terms for a naïve computation of soft terms. Here the expansion parameter is $\zeta = m_s/m_P$. We have assumed the supersymmetric μ -term to vanish [99].

 $m_{3/2}^n$ with n = 1, 2 depending on the mass-dimension. This explicitly demonstrates that gravity effects from the bulk are suppressed on the shrinkable GUT cycles, which is *the* main assumption of the local F-theory GUTs.

However, as seen in the text in certain cases there can be more cancellations leading to even higher suppressions. Indeed so far we have neglected the uplift sector, but have seen that the sfermion masses are actually of the same order of magnitude as the uplift so that it should better not be neglected. We now discuss under which well posed assumptions further cancellations are present.

6.2.3. Uplift and Cancellations

In the last section we have computed the gravity induced soft terms on the GUT brane. As we have explained, the computation relies on assumptions about the expansions of the matter metrics at higher orders in α' . While such corrections must surely be present, it is difficult to know the precise form of these corrections. We have explicitly seen for the sfermion masses that these corrections contribute at the same order in $1/\mathcal{V}$ as the next-to-leading order contributions from F^b . Indeed, as seen in eq. (6.37) there can potentially be further cancellations at this order. We have also computed the soft terms under the assumption of $V_0 = 0$, but have not taken into account the contribution of the supersymmetry breaking from the uplifting sector to the soft terms. To consider these possibilities, let us argue in this section, how one can arrive at quite general statements by making some well posed assumptions and exploiting the consequences of using the supergravity formalism.

Recall that the physical Yukawas are given by

$$\widehat{Y}_{\alpha\beta\gamma} = e^{\mathcal{K}/2} \frac{Y_{\alpha\beta\gamma}}{\sqrt{Z_{\alpha}Z_{\beta}Z_{\gamma}}}.$$
(6.47)

The shift symmetries of the Kähler moduli imply that they do not appear perturbatively in the superpotential Yukawa couplings $Y_{\alpha\beta\gamma}$. Let us make the assumption that the physical Yukawas, being local renormalizable couplings, do not depend on the fields breaking supersymmetry. This includes the volume and also the hidden sector fields that are responsible for uplifting and giving vanishing cosmological constant. We also assume pure F-term uplifting.

Such supersymmetry breaking fields appear in the overall Kähler potential, and the constraints of holomorphy then imply that in order for the physical Yukawas to be independent of such fields,

$$Z_{\alpha} = e^{\mathcal{K}/3}.\tag{6.48}$$

Note that this includes the tree-level behavior of local matter fields, $Z_{\alpha} \sim \frac{1}{\mathcal{V}^{2/3}} \sim \frac{1}{(T_b + \overline{T}_b)}$. In this case it follows that

$$m_0^2 = V_0 + m_{3/2}^2 - F^m \bar{F}^{\bar{n}} \partial_m \partial_{\bar{n}} \ln Z_\alpha$$

= $V_0 + m_{3/2}^2 - F^m \bar{F}^{\bar{n}} \frac{\mathcal{K}_{m\bar{n}}}{3} = \frac{2}{3} V_0 = 0,$ (6.49)

for the case of vanishing cosmological constant.

The A-terms also vanish under this assumption. In this case the A-terms can be most intuitively written as

$$A_{\alpha\beta\gamma}Y_{\alpha\beta\gamma} = F^I \partial_I \widehat{Y}_{\alpha\beta\gamma}, \tag{6.50}$$

with $\widehat{Y}_{\alpha\beta\gamma}$ the physical Yukawa couplings. So it immediately follows that if the physical Yukawa couplings do not depend on the fields breaking supersymmetry, the A-terms all vanish.

The anomaly mediated contribution for gaugino masses gives

$$m_{1/2}^{\text{anom}} = \frac{b_a}{16\pi^2} m_{3/2} - \frac{\left(\sum_r n_r T_a(r) - T(G)\right)}{16\pi^2} F^m \partial_m \mathcal{K}(\Phi, \bar{\Phi}) + \sum_r \frac{n_r T_a(r)}{8\pi^2} F^m \partial_m \ln Z^r(\Phi, \bar{\Phi}) = \frac{b_a}{16\pi^2} m_{3/2} - \frac{\left(\sum_r n_r T_a(r) - 3T(G)\right)}{16\pi^2} \frac{F^m \partial_m \mathcal{K}(\Phi, \bar{\Phi})}{3} = \frac{b_a}{16\pi^2} (m_{3/2} - \frac{1}{3} F^m \partial_m \mathcal{K}),$$
(6.51)

where we have used $Z = e^{\mathcal{K}/3}$. The size of the anomaly mediated contributions to gaugino masses then depends on the size of $m_{3/2} - \frac{1}{3}F^m\partial_m\mathcal{K}$. The no-scale cancellation for τ_b implies the $\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{V}^{-1})$ terms cancel with non-vanishing terms at $\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{V}^{-2})$. However (6.51) also includes the hidden uplifting sector, which must have $\mathcal{K}_{\phi\bar{\phi}}F^{\phi}F^{\bar{\phi}} \sim \frac{1}{\mathcal{V}^3}$ (in order to uplift the vacuum energy to Minkowski). At this level we therefore cannot rule out that $F^{\phi}\partial_{\phi}\mathcal{K}\sim \mathcal{V}^{-3/2}$, giving gaugino masses of order $\frac{g^2}{16\pi^2}\frac{1}{\mathcal{V}^{3/2}}$.

For the μ -term, we obtain

$$\hat{\mu} = e^{\mathcal{K}/6} \mu + \left(m_{3/2} - \frac{1}{3} F^I \partial_I \mathcal{K} \right).$$
(6.52)

For the B-term, we have (assuming no moduli dependence in μ)

$$(B\mu) = (Z_{H_1} Z_{H_2})^{-1/2} \left(e^{\mathcal{K}/2} \mu \left(F^I \partial_I \mathcal{K} - F^I \partial_I \ln(Z_{H_1} Z_{H_2}) - m_{3/2} \right) + (2m_{3/2}^2 + V_0) Z - m_{3/2} F^{\bar{I}} \partial_{\bar{I}} Z + m_{3/2} F^I \left(\partial_I Z - Z \partial_I \ln(Z_{H_1} Z_{H_2}) \right) - F^I F^{\bar{J}} \left(\partial_{\bar{I}} \partial_J Z - (\partial_{\bar{I}} Z) \partial_J \ln(Z_{H_1} Z_{H_2}) \right) \right).$$
(6.53)

If we take $Z = Z_{H_1} = Z_{H_2} = e^{\mathcal{K}/3}$ then we eventually obtain

$$B\mu = e^{\mathcal{K}/6}\mu \left(\frac{1}{3}F^I\partial_I \mathcal{K} - m_{3/2}\right) + \left|\frac{1}{3}F^I\partial_I \mathcal{K} - m_{3/2}\right|^2.$$
(6.54)

This implies that the μ - and B-terms involve the same expression as appeared in the anomaly mediated expression (6.51) and that the μ - and $B\mu$ -term are of the same order as required for successful electroweak symmetry breaking.

As we do not currently know the form of α' -corrections to the matter metrics, we do not know whether the form $Z = e^{\mathcal{K}/3}$ is correct. However it is a natural choice in the sense that it simply says that the physical Yukawa couplings, being local, do not depend on the value of bulk fields. In the context of the $\zeta(3)\chi(\mathcal{X})\alpha'^3$ -correction that entered the moduli stabilization, this is equivalent to the statement that physical Yukawa couplings do not alter if you perform a conifold transition in the bulk (which alters the Calabi–Yau Euler number).

The advantage of phrasing the computation in this way is that we can say that moduli generate soft scalar masses to the extent to which the physical Yukawa couplings depend on the moduli. While not straightforward, it is in principle easier to compute the dependence of physical Yukawa couplings on the moduli. String CFT computations give the directly physical couplings and therefore one could analyze for certain local models (for example for a stack of D3-branes at an orbifold singularity in a compact space) whether the physical couplings do depend on the volume through a direct vertex operator string computation.

We can also use (6.49) to compute the minimal value of the soft scalar masses. The complete cancellation in (6.49) arose from the assumption that the physical Yukawa couplings has no dependence on all fields with non-zero F-terms. However we know this statement is not true. The dilaton has an irreducible F-term of $\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{V}^{-2})$ and enters the physical Yukawas. This provides a minimal value for the scale of the physical Yukawa couplings.

6.3. Consequences for Supersymmetry Breaking

In this previous section we have seen that both, gravity and anomaly mediated contributions to soft terms occur at levels far lower than naïve expectation. This gives novel phenomenological consequences for various aspects of supersymmetry breaking, which we now discuss.

6.3.1. Gauge Mediated Scenarios

In local F-theory models an interesting proposal was made assuming a model of gauge mediation to dominate supersymmetry breaking in the observable sector. This is very interesting since it incorporates the positive properties of gauge mediation, such as positive squared scalar masses and flavor universality and yet address its problems, such as the $\mu/B\mu$ problem. This proposal though requires the following implicit assumptions:

- 1. The mechanism responsible for moduli stabilization, which was not considered, fixes moduli at a high mass and decouples from supersymmetry breaking.
- 2. Introduce a new matter sector that breaks supersymmetry dynamically and a set of messengers that communicate this breaking to the standard model fields.
- 3. An anomalous U(1) was proposed to communicate both sectors and address the $\mu/B\mu$ problem of gauge mediation. The anomalous U(1) is naturally as heavy as the string scale but has low-energy implications after being integrated out.

These conditions look at first sight too strong and unnatural. Achieving moduli stabilization without supersymmetry breaking and small cosmological constant is a very strong assumption not realized in any of the moduli stabilization scenarios so far. It is known that a supersymmetric vacuum in supergravity, such as in KKLT before the uplifting, is naturally anti de Sitter since in that case the vacuum energy is $V_0 = -3m_{3/2}^2 m_P^2$, which is very large unless the superpotential is tuned in such a way that it almost vanishes at the supersymmetric minimum. Also a positive cosmological constant has to be induced after supersymmetry breaking. If the local supersymmetry breaking is responsible for this lifting then its effect should not have been neglected for moduli stabilization in the first place. Finally, it is not consistent to consider the low-energy effects of a very heavy anomalous U(1) without also including the effects of the moduli fields which are generically much lighter than the string or compactification scale. In particular the Fayet–Iliopoulos term of the anomalous U(1) is a function of the moduli.

Nevertheless, our explicit results here show that a scenario similar to this may not be impossible to realize. The main point is that although moduli are stabilized at a non-supersymmetric point, the breaking of supersymmetry is suppressed by inverse powers of the volume or equivalently by powers of m_s/m_P . This makes the first point above approximately correct. The second point still has to be assumed as in all models of gauge mediation

and requires an explicit realization. Here the relevant observation is to compare the strength of gauge mediation F_X/x to the strength of gravity mediation which is usually taken to be $m_{3/2}$. However as we have seen the proper comparison is between F_X/x with the size of the gravity mediation soft breaking terms which are much smaller than the gravitino mass. Regarding the third point an explicit analysis should be performed in which both the anomalous U(1) and the moduli are taken into account in the process of moduli stabilization and supersymmetry breaking.

Very similar to the recently discussed local F-theory models, we may expand our model assuming that there exists a source for gauge mediation, which is parametrized by the vacuum expectation values of a scalar field $\langle X \rangle = x + \theta^2 F_X$. This supersymmetry breaking happens in a sector hidden from the GUT brane and is being mediated by messenger fields, which are charged under the GUT gauge group. In order not to spoil gauge coupling unification, this is generically assumed to be a vector-like pair in the $5 + \bar{5}$ representation of SU(5). For our purposes, we won't present a viable dynamical stringy realization of this supersymmetry breaking, but just assume that there exists an extra sector, which stabilizes the new moduli such that just the field F_X develops a non-zero vev without spoiling the LARGE volume minimum for the bulk moduli. This is clearly a strong assumption, as a dynamical realization of gauge mediation is known to be challenging [159–161]. We will comment more on this towards the end of this section.

The gauge mediated gaugino and sfermion masses are of order

$$m_{1/2}^{\text{gauge}} \sim m_0^{\text{gauge}} = \frac{\alpha_X}{4\pi} \frac{F_X}{x},$$
 (6.55)

where the $\alpha_X/4\pi$ prefactor is due to the fact that these masses are induced via a one-loop effect for the gauginos and via a two-loop diagram for the sfermions. Note that these formulæ use a canonical normalized superfield X.

Now, we would like these gauge mediated soft masses to dominate the gravity mediated ones. In particular, we want the gauge mediated sfermion masses to dominate over the gravity mediated ones. To get a first impression of the numerology we get, we also impose the strong constraint that the supersymmetry breaking F_X already uplifts the negative vacuum energy of the LARGE volume minimum. By inserting the approximation relations found in section 6.2.1 into the scalar potential (3.21) we find the precise value of the vacuum energy to be:

$$V_0 = -\frac{3}{16a\tau_s} \frac{\xi}{g_s^{3/2}} \frac{W_0^2}{\mathcal{V}^3} \approx -\frac{m_{3/2}^2}{16\log\left(\frac{m_{\rm P}}{m_s}\right)} \frac{m_s^2}{m_{\rm P}^2}.$$
(6.56)

We therefore require

$$\frac{F_X^2}{m_{\rm P}^2} \simeq \frac{m_{3/2}^2}{16\log\left(\frac{m_{\rm P}}{m_{\rm s}}\right)} \frac{m_{\rm s}^2}{m_{\rm P}^2},\tag{6.57}$$

leading to the relation

$$F_X \simeq \frac{1}{4\sqrt{\log\left(\frac{m_{\rm P}}{m_{\rm s}}\right)}} m_{3/2} \, m_{\rm s}. \tag{6.58}$$

Remember from table 6.1 that $m_0^{\text{grav}} \simeq \frac{m_{3/2}}{4\sqrt{\log\left(\frac{m_p}{m_s}\right)}} \frac{m_s}{m_p}$. Requiring now that $m_0^{\text{gauge}} > \left| m_0^{\text{grav}} \right|$ leads to the moderate bound

 $x < \frac{\alpha_X}{4\pi} m_{\rm P} \simeq 10^{16} \,{\rm GeV}.$ (6.59)

If there is a further suppression, i. e. $m_0 \simeq m_{3/2}/\mathcal{V}$, then this bound becomes even more relaxed. For solving the hierarchy problem, one also needs $F_X/x \simeq 10^5$ GeV. Once one has specified the favorite values for x and F_X , one can use (6.58) to determine the value of the gravitino mass, which we would like to stress will be gravity-dominated. Let us discuss two examples.

• In the local F-theory models, it was argued that the best values are

$$x \simeq 10^{12} \,\text{GeV}, \qquad F_X \simeq 10^{17} \,\text{GeV}^2, \tag{6.60}$$

which lead to $m_{3/2} \simeq 1$ TeV, which needs a certain amount of tuning of W_0 . However, the light modulus τ_b has a mass of the order

$$m_{\tau_b} \simeq m_{3/2} \frac{m_{\rm s}}{m_{\rm P}},$$
 (6.61)

which in this case gives $m_{\tau_b} \simeq 1 \text{ GeV}$. For such a light modulus, we expect to face the cosmological moduli problem.

- Let us now require that the light modulus avoids the CMP by having a mass $m_{\tau_b} \simeq 100$ TeV. Then according to (6.61), the gravity mediated gravitino mass has to be of the order $m_{3/2} \simeq 10^5$ TeV. Using (6.58), this leads to $F_X \simeq 10^{22}$ GeV². For gauge mediated soft masses of the order 500 GeV, we therefore get $x \simeq 5 \cdot 10^{16}$ GeV, which is slightly beyond the stronger limit (6.59). For further suppression of the sfermion masses there is no problem.
- In the first case one could ameliorate this problem by allowing for a certain tuning of the Higgs mass, so that the supersymmetry breaking scale for the visible sector can be larger than 500 GeV. Let us still have F_X ≈ 10²² GeV² to avoid the CMP and require x ≈ 5 · 10¹⁴ GeV to satisfy the constraint (6.59) for gauge mediation dominance. Then the gauge mediated soft masses are of the order 50 TeV.

Finally, let us discuss in which way this simple model of gauge mediation needs to be improved in order to show that it can really be embedded into string theory. As we already mentioned, we did not dynamically explain where the SUSY breaking field X gets its vev from. Recently, various kinds of models have been suggested, which are not completely convincing from a string theory point of view. One promising model is the so-called Fayet–Polonyi model. It combines an anomalous Peccei–Quinn symmetry with a linear superpotential in X generated by another D3-instanton wrapping a del Pezzo surface of size $T_{\rm FP}$. This gives rise both to a D-term potential with a $T_{\rm FP}$ dependent Fayet–Iliopoulos term and an F-term potential form the linear superpotential. Note, that the latter also depends on $T_{\rm FP}$. Now, also taking the Kähler potentials into account one has to show that dynamically really supersymmetry can be broken in such a way that the desired values for x and F_X arise.¹ Moreover, one expects that also $F_{T_{\rm FP}} \neq 0$, which gives another source of supersymmetry breaking. Finally, one has to ensure that the moduli stabilization in the bulk, i. e. of the τ_b and τ_s moduli and the moduli stabilization of the local X and $T_{\rm FP}$ moduli decouple.

6.3.2. Implications for the Cosmological Moduli Problem

Let us comment on the cosmological moduli problem, discussed in section 3.8. Remember that moduli fields are expected to be displaced from their minimum during the inflationary epoch, subsequently oscillating about their minimum and red-shifting as matter. The lifetime of such moduli is $\tau \sim \frac{m_P^2}{m_\phi^3} \gg 1$ s for $m_\phi \lesssim 1$ TeV. They come to dominate the energy density of the universe, but if they decay too late then they fail to reheat the universe to temperatures sufficient for nucleosynthesis.

The results in this chapter suggest a novel approach to this problem. One of the properties of local LARGE volume GUTs with D-term stabilization is that the soft terms appear at a scale hierarchically smaller than the gravitino mass. Depending on the extent of cancellations, we have seen that soft terms appear at an order not larger than $m_{\text{soft}} \sim m_{3/2}^{3/2}/m_{\text{P}}^{1/2}$, in the case when the dilaton F-term is responsible for uplifting. In all other cases gaugino masses will be further suppressed, with at least an extra loop factor as in anomaly mediation, and possibly even as far as $m_{\text{soft}} \sim m_{3/2}^2/m_{\text{P}}^2$. For the two extreme cases the gravitino mass appropriate to TeV soft terms is

$$m_{\rm soft} \sim \frac{m_{3/2}^{3/2}}{m_{\rm p}^{1/2}} \longrightarrow m_{3/2} \sim 10^8 \,\text{GeV}, \qquad m_{\rm soft} \sim \frac{m_{3/2}^2}{m_{\rm P}} \longrightarrow m_{3/2} \sim 10^{11} \,\text{GeV}.$$
 (6.62)

Instead of solving the moduli problem by making the moduli heavy and keeping soft terms

¹ It was shown in [160], that this model with a simple choice of the Kähler potential actually still posses supersymmetric minima.

comparable to the gravitino mass, this suggests making the gravitino heavy and having soft terms much lighter than the gravitino mass.

In the LARGE volume models the volume modulus T_b is relatively light and has a mass $m_{T_b} \sim m_{3/2}^{3/2}/m_{\rm P}^{1/2}$, while all other moduli have masses comparable to $m_{3/2}$. In the first case listed above, with a gravitino mass of around 10^8 GeV, the volume modulus has $m \sim 1$ TeV and still poses cosmological problems. However in the other cases m_{T_b} is sufficiently large to decay before nucleosynthesis. In the case of maximal suppression, with $m_{3/2} \sim 10^{11}$ GeV, then we have $m_{T_b} \sim 10^7$ GeV with no cosmological problems. In all cases the other moduli (for example dilaton and complex structure moduli) have masses comparable to the gravitino mass and decay very rapidly.

It would also be interesting to study whether these suppressed soft terms would affect the thermal behavior of the LARGE volume models studied in [162].

6.3.3. Implications for Model Building

Several scenarios regarding gravity and anomaly mediation are possible and which of these is actually realized may be model dependent. The main possibilities are:

- If the F-term of the dilaton field is responsible for the uplifting to de Sitter space, then $F^S \sim \mathcal{V}^{-3/2}$ and all the soft masses are of order $\frac{m_P}{\mathcal{V}^{3/2}} \sim \frac{m_{3/2}}{\sqrt{\mathcal{V}}}$. This is of the same order as the mass of the lightest modulus, the volume modulus, and this field remains dangerous for the cosmological moduli problem.
- If any other field is responsible for the de Sitter uplifting, the dilaton induces gravity mediated gaugino masses of order $\frac{m_P}{V^2}$ or from anomaly mediation, barring any further cancellation, of order $\alpha \frac{m_P}{V^{3/2}}$ where α is a loop factor. In both of these cases, identifying the gaugino masses with the TeV scale, the cosmological moduli problem is absent since the volume modulus would be at least as heavy as 10 TeV.
- For each of the two cases of the previous item, gravity mediated scalar masses, if not tachyonic, are of order $\frac{m_P}{\mathcal{V}^{3/2}}$ and therefore hierarchically heavier than the gaugino masses, indicating a minor version of split supersymmetry [126, 163, 164]. However if we have perfect sequestering in the sense that physical Yukawa couplings do not depend on the Kähler moduli fields that break supersymmetry, such terms will cancel. However scalar masses will always receive a contribution from the dilaton F-term at order $\frac{m_P}{12^2}$.
- Since leading order gravity and anomaly mediation contributions to the soft terms are suppressed, then other effects have to be considered. In particular string loop corrections could be relevant, e. g. as in [94,95], (giving potential contributions to scalar masses of order $\frac{m_{\rm P}}{124/3}$ [165]) but also a novel scenario may be conceived in which the

main source of supersymmetry breaking for the observable sector is gauge mediation, however the gravitino mass remains very large and unlike previous models of gauge mediation, the LSP is no longer the gravitino but can be a more standard neutralino.

Even though there are several scenarios, we can still extract some general conclusions from this analysis. First, as emphasized in [166], the effects of the de Sitter uplifting play an important rôle on the soft breaking terms. This is unlike previous scenarios based on the LARGE volume in which they were negligible. Second, in all scenarios the gravitino mass is much heavier than the TeV scale $m_{3/2} \ge 10^8$ GeV which relaxes the cosmological problems associated to low-energy supersymmetry. Generically (except in the case that the dilaton is responsible for uplifting) the lightest modulus is heavier than the soft terms and therefore cosmologically harmless also.

There is an interesting conclusion we can draw concerning the overall volume of the compactification manifold: even though there are several cancellations that reduce the value of the volume to have the TeV scale, there is a minimum value that can be extracted from this analysis. Namely, the universal source of gaugino masses due to the dilaton dependence of the gauge kinetic function, implies that the gaugino masses cannot be smaller than $\frac{m_P}{V^2}$. The same limit appears for scalar masses for the case of perfect sequestering ($Z = e^{\mathcal{K}/3}$). This provides a bound for the size of the overall volume. In string units it is given by

$$\mathcal{V} \sim 10^6 - 10^7.$$
 (6.63)

This corresponds to a string scale of order $m_{\rm s} \sim 10^{15}$ GeV. Combining this with the recent result [157] that in local models the GUT unification scale is given by $m_{\rm GUT} \sim m_{\rm s} \mathcal{V}^{1/6}$ this gives a unification scale of the same order as the one expected for supersymmetric GUT models from LEP precision results of

$$m_{\rm GUT} \sim 10^{16} \,{\rm GeV}.$$
 (6.64)

If this scenario is actually realized it would provide an example in which a string model addresses simultaneously the two positive properties of the MSSM, namely the full hierarchy problem, without tuning, and obtaining the preferred scale of gauge unification.

Interestingly, this value of the volume is also of the order of magnitude preferred by models of inflation in order for the inflaton to give rise to density perturbations of the right amplitude, normalized by COBE. In particular a volume $V \sim 10^5 - 10^7$ was needed to achieve Kähler moduli inflation as we have seen in section 3.7. It also ameliorates the gravitino mass problem pointed out in [167, 168].

7. Summary and Discussion

Since its proposal in 2005, the LARGE volume scenario has shaped up as phenomenologically very interesting set-up for both, particle and astrophysics. The topic of this thesis was to explore the implications of recent developments in the D-brane instanton calculus, in particular the influence of charged zero modes and poly-instanton effects, to the LVS. On our path, we gained new insights into supersymmetry breaking in local GUT models or corresponding F-theory constructions.

Models in the context of the LARGE volume scenario are usually described in an effective supergravity formalism. In chapter 2 we reviewed in detail its origin, type IIB string theory. Starting with the world-sheet action of a single superstring, we explained how to extract the low-energy effective action and identified the relevant degrees of freedom. Moreover, we introduced all concepts appearing in the LVS including compactification to four space–time dimensions, orientifolding, fluxes, D-branes, instantons and moduli stabilization.

We further set the stage in chapter 3, where we showed that α' -corrections to the Kähler potential in a flux vacuum shift the minimum of the scalar potential for the Kähler moduli to exponentially large volume, the LARGE volume minimum. This scenario requires special geometrical properties of the compactification manifold. The class of appropriate spaces has been given the name "swiss cheese manifolds". A concrete example was studied on the hypersurface $\mathbb{P}^4_{[1,1,1,6,9]}[18]$, which has been the only one so far in the literature. After showing that the new minimum is robust against quantum corrections, we presented some of the most prominent phenomenological virtues in particle physical and astrophysical applications.

In chapter 4, for the first time we brought together our knowledge about the D-brane instanton calculus and the LARGE volume scenario. We entered into the question of combining Kähler moduli stabilization by instantons resp. gaugino condensation with a chiral D7-brane sector carrying the unbroken chiral gauge theory which we would like to have in four dimensions. Clearly, in order to make progress in deriving viable and predictive string compactifications, this question is of utmost importance.

We argued quite generally, employing both string consistency conditions as well as phenomenological input, that for chiral D7-brane sectors only a combination of F- and D-terms can fix all Kähler moduli. Then we investigated whether the unquestionable nice features of the LARGE volume scenario can be preserved once these D-terms are taken into account. We showed that for more than one E3-instanton also the F-term scalar potential contains new terms containing the axionic fields, which potentially destabilize the LARGE volume minimum. Requiring these terms to be absent means that the instanton cycles should not intersect. Moreover, we also allowed for singular four-cycles, which homologically are linear combinations of the elementary ones. These also induce a different moduli dependence in the F-term scalar potential.

All these general arguments about F-and D-terms were exemplified by constructing a concrete type IIB model on a new swiss cheese type Calabi–Yau manifold with three Kähler moduli. Ignoring the details of the three-form flux sector, we constructed an example which showed all the features we do expect for a realistic model including a chiral intersecting D7-brane sector. Due to chirality there was an induced D-term, fixing (for vanishing vevs of matter fields) one combination of the Kähler moduli at the boundary of the Kähler cone. We had one rigid small cycle unoccupied by the D7-branes, so that a stringy O(1) E3-instanton wrapped on this cycle contributed to the superpotential. Then the F- and D-terms together fixed the overall volume \mathcal{V} at large values and the two diagonal small ones at size $\tau_i \simeq \log(\mathcal{V})$ in a such a way that another four-cycle collapsed.

This simple toy model can be considered as a proof of principle that the LVS can be robust enough that also chiral D7-brane sectors can be introduced. Of course, phenomenologically it was not satisfying yet: the gauge group and matter content is not realistic and the D3-brane tadpole constraint leaves probably not enough freedom to fix all complex structure moduli by three-form fluxes. Moreover, our analysis of the non-chiral zero modes was not complete. Presumably, these shortcoming only reflect the simplicity of the used Calabi–Yau space. Using Calabi–Yau manifolds with larger Euler characteristics will remedy these problems. To this end, it would be very important to know which of the toric Calabi–Yau manifolds in the list of [169] have a swiss cheese like structure, respectively can lead to large volume moduli stabilization. It might be technically very challenging but would be a major step forward to really build completely predictive concrete string compactifications with fluxes and intersecting D7-branes on such more involved Calabi–Yau manifolds.

In chapter 5, another application of a D-brane instanton effect in the context of the LARGE volume scenario was studied: we considered a compactification manifold of swiss cheese type where gaugino condensation on two stacks of D7-branes leads to a racetrack superpotential. Taking into account D-brane instanton corrections to the gauge kinetic function, manifesting themselves as poly-instanton corrections to the racetrack superpotential, we constructed a scenario featuring exponential control over the parameters W_0^{eff} and A^{eff} in an effective superpotential of the form $W^{\text{eff}} = W_0^{\text{eff}} - A^{\text{eff}} \exp(-aT)$. In contrast to the usual LVS (and also KKLT) set-up, these can be arranged for exponential small values *without* fine-tuning.

Within this set-up, we were able to find minima of the resulting scalar potential realizing supersymmetric GUT scenarios with the string scale at the GUT scale $m_s = m_X \simeq 1.2 \cdot 10^{16} \text{ GeV}$ —in contrast to the usual LVS, where the string scale is at $m_s \simeq 10^{11} \text{ GeV}$. Also the gauge coupling took the usual GUT value of $\alpha^{-1} \simeq \alpha_X^{-1} \simeq 25$ and the gravitino mass was found to be in the TeV region without fine-tuning. However, despite the phenomenological interesting value of $m_{3/2}$, the soft terms in our first set-up were strongly suppressed. The reason was that the racetrack modulus is stabilized in a nearly supersymmetric minimum giving F-terms which are much smaller than expected. We proposed two resolutions of this issue and constructed the corresponding set-ups:

- First, we scaled our parameters such that effectively W_0^{eff} is scaled by a factor of 10^6 leading to a larger gravitino mass but also to larger soft masses. The gaugino masses are dominantly generated by anomaly mediation while the scalar masses are generated by gravity mediation leading to a stringy realization of split supersymmetry if the Higgs and Higgsino masses are tuned to small values.
- The second possibility we considered was to generate the soft terms not by the F-term of the racetrack modulus but also by the F-term of the small LVS Kähler modulus. The gaugino as well as the scalar masses are then generated by gravity mediation similarly to the original LARGE volume scenario. The lightest modulus was on the edge of posing problems with cosmology (CMP) and the μ-problem could be solved by the Giudice–Masiero mechanism.

We showed also that the exponential tuning of the effective superpotential parameters allows to construct a set-up with tree-level cosmological constant at the order of $\Lambda_0 \sim -10^{-120} m_{\rm P}^4$ which can be uplifted to a positive value without fine-tuning. However, although we obtained an encouraging value for Λ_0 , introducing the standard model in this set-up will spoil this feature.

Clearly, a more detailed analysis of the phenomenological implications of these set-ups along the lines of [32, 33] would be very interesting. A drawback was however, that we did not account for the problem concerning the intrinsic tension between moduli stabilization via instantons and a chiral matter sector raised in chapter 4.

Inspired by the cancellations appearing in the soft terms in these set-ups, we studied in chapter 6 in great detail the structure of gravity mediated soft terms that arise when combining LARGE volume moduli stabilization with *local* GUT-like theories. The motivation for local models came from our considerations on the chirality problem in chapter 4: the stabilization of the cycle supporting the GUT branes via D-terms is such that the corresponding four-cycle volume is driven to zero size. A similar geometry can be be found in local F-theory models.

We found that the modulus determining the size of the standard model cycle does not break supersymmetry and therefore the scale of gravity mediated soft terms is highly suppressed compared to the gravitino mass. Both "standard" gravity mediated terms of $\mathcal{O}(m_{3/2})$ and also known anomaly mediated terms of $\mathcal{O}(g^2 m_{3/2}/16\pi^2)$ vanished. The first non-zero terms appear to arise at $\mathcal{O}(m_{3/2}/\sqrt{\mathcal{V}}) \simeq m_{3/2}^{3/2}/m_{\rm P}^{1/2}$. However it is possible that additional cancellations occur and suppress the soft terms even further than this down to $\mathcal{O}(m_{3/2}^2/m_{\rm P})$. The appearance of these further cancellations is related to the (in)dependence of the physical Yukawa couplings on the fields breaking supersymmetry.

The cancellation of contributions to the soft masses of order $m_{3/2}$ introduces several subtleties. In particular, as the soft terms occur at a scale parametrically smaller than the gravitino mass, effects which are normally negligible become important. We have tried to include all known effects and have given general arguments as to when cancellations will take place. Nonetheless, it is important to look for any further possible contributions to soft terms which could possibly be dangerous. In this respect one would ideally like a direct stringy computation of soft terms that would bypass the need to go through the supergravity formalism.

Depending on the extent of cancellations in the soft terms, the volume modulus may or may not be subject to the cosmological moduli problem. We identified several possible scenarios with different sources for uplifting to de Sitter and considered also gauge mediation as supersymmetry breaking mediation mechanism. In all scenarios, the gravitino mass is as large as $m_{3/2} \ge 10^8$ GeV, relaxing the cosmological moduli problem for the light volume modulus in most cases. We were able to identify a minimal value for the overall volume of $\mathcal{V} \sim 10^6 - 10^7$ which is not only the range favored for moduli inflation but also implies that the unification scale is at the usual value of $m_{GUT} \sim 10^{16}$ GeV.

We consider our results bring closer local string/F-theory models to honest-to-God string compactifications since we incorporate the main properties of such models regarding supersymmetry breaking and moduli stabilization. Many questions remain open. Concrete examples where the cancellations illustrated here are realized, including an uplifting term, loop corrections, etc. are desirable. The presence of such sub-leading contributions to soft terms can be recast in the presence of corrections to the physical Yukawa couplings. Specifically, the scale of the soft terms can be related to the extent to which the (local) physical Yukawa couplings depend on the (bulk) supersymmetry breaking fields. In the limit of perfect sequestering the Kähler moduli contribution to soft masses vanish. It may be possible to study this issue more precisely using the techniques of orbifold CFT. Furthermore, for F-theory constructions, the 4d effective field theory for F-theory models is less under control. In particular the α' -corrections which are crucial in the large volume scenario, need to be computed for F-theory compactifications.

It is fair to say that with the appearance of the LARGE volume scenario, the discipline of string phenomenology received new impetus. Today's state of the art techniques suffice already to extract from the few well motivated assumptions one has to make a lot of distinctive features of the models we considered, both, particle physical and cosmological ones. The prospects of discovering some of those in the near future are better then ever. Still, a common expressed criticism concerning string theory is that it does not produce any unique, testable predictions. However one should bear in mind that string theory is still in an early stage of
development. The merits of this long-term research programme are only now starting to come to fruition.

A. Cohomology classes of line bundles

In this appendix we combinatorically compute the cohomology classes of general line bundles $\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{O}(m, n, l)$ over the resolution \mathcal{M} of the ambient space $\mathbb{P}_{[1,3,3,3,5]}$. The corresponding classes on the hypersurface \mathcal{X} can then be computed via the Koszul sequence.

$$0 \to \mathcal{L} \otimes \mathcal{O}(-15, -10, -5)_{\mathcal{M}} \to \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{M}} \to \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{X}} \to 0.$$
(A.1)

Let us recall the resolution

Then the classes $H^i(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{L})$ can be computed by counting monomials of degree (m, n, l) [170, 171] as listed in table A.1. This can be easily put on a computer. We have checked for many examples that the results are consistent with the Euler characteristic $\chi(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{L})$ in eq. (4.35).

| Cohomology | nology Monomials of degree (m, n, l) | | | | | | | |
|--------------------------------|--|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| $H^0(\mathcal{M},\mathcal{L})$ | $P(x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4, x_5, x_6, x_7)$ | | | | | | | |
| $H^1(\mathcal{M},\mathcal{L})$ | $\frac{P(x_1, x_2, x_3, x_6, x_7)}{x_4 x_5 Q(x_4, x_5)} \ \frac{P(x_1, x_2, x_3, x_5, x_7)}{x_4 x_6 Q(x_4, x_6)} \ \frac{P(x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4, x_6)}{x_5 x_7 Q(x_5, x_7)}$ | | | | | | | |
| | $\frac{P(x_1, x_2, x_3, x_7)}{x_4 x_5 x_6 Q(x_4, x_5, x_6)} \frac{P(x_1, x_2, x_3, x_6)}{x_4 x_5 x_7 Q(x_4, x_5, x_7)}$ | | | | | | | |
| $H^2(\mathcal{M},\mathcal{L})$ | 0 | | | | | | | |
| $H^3(\mathcal{M},\mathcal{L})$ | $\frac{P(x_4, x_5)}{x_1 x_2 x_3 x_6 x_7 Q(x_1, x_2, x_3, x_6, x_7)} \frac{P(x_4, x_6)}{x_1 x_2 x_3 x_5 x_7 Q(x_1, x_2, x_3, x_5, x_7)}$ | - | | | | | | |
| | $\frac{P(x_5,x_7)}{x_1x_2x_3x_4x_6Q(x_1,x_2,x_3,x_4,x_6)} \frac{P(x_4,x_5,x_6)}{x_1x_2x_3x_7Q(x_1,x_2,x_3,x_7)}$ | | | | | | | |
| | $rac{P(x_4,x_5,x_7)}{x_1x_2x_3x_6Q(x_1,x_2,x_3,x_6)}$ | | | | | | | |
| $H^4(\mathcal{M},\mathcal{L})$ | $\frac{1}{x_1x_2x_3x_4x_5x_6x_7Q(x_1,x_2,x_3,x_4,x_5,x_6,x_7)}$ | | | | | | | |

Table A.1.: Cohomology groups and corresponding monomials for $\mathbb{P}_{[1,3,3,3,5]}[15]$

B. The $\mathbb{P}_{[1,1,3,10,15]}[30]$ Calabi–Yau

Here we will briefly summarize some properties of the Calabi–Yau $\mathbb{P}_{[1,1,3,10,15]}[30]$ as another example of a swiss cheese like manifold. It has five Kähler moduli out of which four are toric. In the following we collect the toric data for the resolution of the toric singularities.

• The manifold is specified by the resolution

_

| | | | | | | | | i i |
|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-------|-----|
| x_1 | x_2 | x_3 | x_4 | x_5 | x_6 | x_7 | x_8 | p |
| 15 | 10 | 3 | 1 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 30 |
| 5 | 3 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 10 |
| 3 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 0 | 6 |
| 6 | 4 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 12 |

• The Stanley-Reisner ideal reads

$$SR = \{x_2x_7, x_2x_8, x_3x_8, x_1x_3x_6, x_1x_6x_7, \\ x_1x_6x_8, x_2x_4x_5, x_3x_4x_5, x_4x_5x_7\}.$$
(B.2)

• The triple triple intersection numbers in the basis $\eta_1 = D_5$, $\eta_2 = D_6$, $\eta_3 = D_7$, $\eta_4 = D_8$ are encoded in

$$I_{3} = -\eta_{1}^{3} + 18\eta_{2}^{3} + 8\eta_{3}^{3} + 9\eta_{4}^{3} + 2\eta_{1}^{2}\eta_{2} + \eta_{1}^{2}\eta_{4} - 6\eta_{1}\eta_{2}^{2} - 2\eta_{1}\eta_{3}^{2} + \eta_{3}^{2}\eta_{4} - 3\eta_{1}\eta_{4}^{2} - 3\eta_{3}\eta_{4}^{2} + \eta_{1}\eta_{3}\eta_{4}.$$
(B.3)

• If one expands the Kähler form in the basis $\{\eta_1,\eta_2,\eta_3,\eta_4\}$ as

$$J = t_1[\eta_1] + t_2[\eta_2] + t_3[\eta_3] + t_4[\eta_4],$$
(B.4)

then the volumes of the basis divisors are

$$\tau_{1} = \frac{1}{2} \left(-t_{1}^{2} + 4t_{1}t_{2} - 6t_{2}^{2} - 2t_{3}^{2} + 2(t_{1} + t_{3})t_{4} - 3t_{4}^{2} \right),$$

$$\tau_{2} = (t_{1} - 3t_{2})^{2},$$

$$\tau_{3} = \frac{1}{2} (-2t_{1} + 4t_{3} + 3t_{4})(2t_{3} - t_{4}),$$

$$\tau_{4} = \frac{1}{2} (t_{1} + t_{3} - 3t_{4})^{2}.$$
(B.5)

137

• The Kähler cone is found by imposing $\int_{\mathcal{C}} J > 0$ which gives the following conditions on the $\{t_i\}$

$$3t_2+t_3-3t_4>0,$$
 $t_1-3t_2>0,$ $t_4-t_3>0,$ $-t_1+2t_2+t_4>0.$ (B.6)

• Using these restrictions, the overall volume is expressed in terms of the four-cycle volumes as

$$\mathcal{V} = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{45} \left(\left(15\tau_1 + 5\tau_2 + 3\tau_3 + 6\tau_4 \right)^{3/2} - \left(3\tau_3 + \tau_4 \right)^{3/2} - \frac{5}{\sqrt{2}} \tau_2^{3/2} - 5\tau_4^{3/2} \right).$$
(B.7)

From this we see that by making τ_1 large while keeping the others small, we obtain a swiss cheese like structure.

• The Euler characteristic χ for the cycle $D = m\eta_1 + n\eta_2 + p\eta_3 + q\eta_4$ is

$$\chi(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{O}_D) = -3mn^2 + \frac{3}{2}q^3 + 3n^3 - \frac{1}{6}m^3 + \frac{1}{2}p^2q + mpq - \frac{3}{2}pq^2mp^2 - \frac{3}{2}mq^2 + \frac{4}{3}p^3 + \frac{1}{2}m^2q + m^2n - n - \frac{1}{3}p - \frac{1}{2}q + \frac{13}{6}m,$$
(B.8)

where \mathcal{X} stands for $\mathbb{P}_{[1,1,3,10,15]}[30]$. The interesting combinations for the present setup are those with $\chi = 1$ and m = 0. Up to wrapping numbers 100, these are

$$(m, n, p, q) = (0, 0, 0, 1), (0, 0, 1, 0), (0, 0, 1, 1).$$
(B.9)

• It is more convenient to work in a diagonal basis which we define guided by the form of the volume (B.7)

$$D_a = 15D_1 + 5D_2 + 3D_3 + 6D_4, \quad D_b = 3D_3 + D_4, D_c = D_2, \qquad D_d = D_4.$$
(B.10)

In this basis the total volume reads

$$\mathcal{V} = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{45} \left(\tau_a^{3/2} - \tau_b^{3/2} - \frac{5}{\sqrt{2}} \tau_c^{3/2} - 5\tau_d^{3/2} \right), \tag{B.11}$$

and the triple intersection numbers again diagonalize

$$I_3 = 225D_a^3 + 225D_b^3 + 18D_c^3 + 9D_d^3.$$
(B.12)

• Expanding also the Kähler form in this diagonal basis as $J = t_a[D_a] - t_b[D_b] - t_c[D_c] - t_b[D_b] - t_c[D_b] - t$

 $t_d[D_d]$, we find that the Kähler cone is defined by

$$5t_b > t_d > t_c > 0, \qquad t_a > t_b + 2t_c + t_d.$$
 (B.13)

We finally present a list of monomials to be counted in order to determine the cohomology classes Hⁱ(M, L) on the ambient toric variety. We use the shorthand notation (1, 2, 4, 5, 7, 8|3, 6) for all monomials of the form
 ^{P(x_1, x_2, x_4, x_5, x_7, x_8)}/_{x_3x_6Q(x_3, x_6)} and similarly for the others.

| Cohomology | Monomials of degree (m, n, p, q) | | | | | |
|--------------------------------|---|--|--|--|--|--|
| $H^0(\mathcal{M},\mathcal{L})$ | (1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8) | | | | | |
| $H^1(\mathcal{M},\mathcal{L})$ | (1, 2, 4, 5, 7, 8 3, 6) $(1, 2, 4, 5, 6, 8 3, 7)$ $(1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 7 6, 8)$ | | | | | |
| | (1, 2, 4, 5, 8 3, 6, 7) $(1, 2, 4, 5, 7 3, 6, 8)$ | | | | | |
| $H^2(\mathcal{M},\mathcal{L})$ | (3,4,5,6,8 1,2,7) (3,4,5,6,7 1,2,8) (2,3,4,5,8 1,6,7) | | | | | |
| | (1,3,6,7,8 2,4,5) $(1,2,6,7,8 3,4,5)$ $(1,2,3,6,7 4,5,8)$ | | | | | |
| | (1, 2, 7, 8 3, 4, 5, 6) $(1, 2, 6, 7 3, 4, 5, 8)$ $(2, 3, 4, 5 1, 6, 7, 8)$ | | | | | |
| | (2,4,5,8 1,3,6,7) $(1,2,3,7 4,5,6,8)$ $(1,2,6,8 3,4,5,7)$ | | | | | |
| | (3,4,5,6 1,2,7,8) $(3,4,5,8 1,2,6,7)$ $(1,6,7,8 2,3,4,5)$ | | | | | |
| | (1,3,6,7 2,4,5,8) $(4,5,6,8 1,2,3,7)$ $(3,4,5,7 1,2,6,8)$ | | | | | |
| | (1,2,7 3,4,5,6,8) $(1,2,8 3,4,5,6,7)$ $(1,6,7 2,3,4,5,8)$ | | | | | |
| | (2,4,5 1,3,6,7,8) $(3,4,5 1,2,6,7,8)$ $(4,5,8 1,2,3,6,7)$ | | | | | |
| $H^3(\mathcal{M},\mathcal{L})$ | (3,6 1,2,4,5,7,8) (3,7 1,2,4,5,6,8) (6,8 1,2,3,4,5,7) | | | | | |
| | (3, 6, 7 1, 2, 4, 5, 8) $(3, 6, 8 1, 2, 4, 5, 7)$ | | | | | |
| $H^4(\mathcal{M},\mathcal{L})$ | (1,2,3,4,5,6,7,8) | | | | | |

Table B.1.: Cohomology groups and corresponding monomials for $\mathbb{P}_{[1,1,3,10,15]}[30]$

C. Vanishing D-terms Including Matter

We will consider in this appendix a concrete example with a generic D-term including not only the field dependent FI-term but also a charged matter field. In general vanishing Dterms do not imply vanishing FI-term but a cancellation between the two terms entering the D-term potential. We argue here (following [172]) that once soft supersymmetry breaking terms are included, as long as the square of the scalar masses is positive the minimum of the scalar potential is for vanishing both matter field vev and FI-term.

Since in local models the standard model cycle is a del Pezzo surface that can and usually prefers to shrink to small size, it is dangerous to work in the regime where the cycle size is larger than the string scale. Even though at sizes of the order of the string scale the spectrum and couplings of the model are not understood, the regime close to a del Pezzo singularity is under a much better control, the spectrum is determined by the extended quiver diagrams and the low-energy effective theory can be reliably used in an expansion in the small blow-up mode.

This effective field theory has been recently discussed in [147]. We start with the same background geometry as before including one large τ_1 and two small cycles τ_2 , τ_3 . On the rigid cycle τ_2 we have the standard non-perturbative effect. Being at the singular locus for τ_3 , the effective field theory can be approximated by the following supergravity set-up:

$$\mathcal{K} = -2\log\left(\mathcal{V} + \frac{\hat{\xi}}{2}\right) + \frac{\alpha\tau_3^2}{\mathcal{V}} + Z|\varphi|^2,$$

$$W = W_0 + Ae^{-aT_2},$$

$$f = dT_3 + S,$$

(C.1)

where φ denotes a matter field that is charged under an anomalous U(1) on the standard model cycle, as is the cycle volume itself. As discussed in [147], the effective theory for τ_3 differs from the standard treatment for relatively large values of τ_3 since we are working close to the singularity. The anomalous U(1) generates a D-term potential with a Fayet–Iliopoulos term:

$$V_D = \frac{1}{2(d\tau_3 + s)} \left(Q_{\varphi} Z |\varphi|^2 + \frac{Q_{\tau_3} \tau_3}{\mathcal{V}} \right)^2.$$
 (C.2)

The matter metric Z is taken to have the general form

$$Z = \frac{1}{\mathcal{V}^{2/3}} \left(\beta + \gamma \tau_3^{\lambda} - \frac{\delta}{\mathcal{V}} \right), \tag{C.3}$$

141

where the constants β , δ can in principle depend on the dilaton and complex structure moduli.

The D-term potential determines the size of τ_3 and implies

$$\tau_3 \sim |\varphi|^2 \mathcal{V}^{1/3}.\tag{C.4}$$

For a vanishing vev of φ this implies as previously $\tau_3 = 0$. Expanding around $\varphi = 0$, the scalar potential is given by the standard LARGE volume potential and at next-to-leading order by a contribution quadratic in φ :

$$V = \frac{1}{\left(\mathcal{V} + \frac{\xi}{2}\right)^2} \left(\frac{8}{3} |aA|^2 \sqrt{\tau_2} \tau_1^{3/2} e^{-2a\tau_2} - 4W_0 aA\tau_2 e^{-a\tau_2} + \frac{W_0^2 3\xi}{4\tau_1^{3/2}} + Y - \frac{\beta |\varphi|^2}{3\tau_1} \left(\frac{8}{3} |aA|^2 \sqrt{\tau_2} \tau_1^{3/2} e^{-2a\tau_2} - 4W_0 aA\tau_2 e^{-a\tau_2} + \frac{9W_0^2 (5\frac{\delta}{\beta} + 2\xi)}{4\tau_1^{3/2}} \right) \right)$$
(C.5)
$$+ \frac{\beta |\varphi|^2}{\tau_1 \left(\mathcal{V} + \frac{\xi}{2}\right)^2} \left(\frac{8}{3} |aA|^2 \sqrt{\tau_2} \tau_1^{3/2} e^{-2a\tau_2} - 4W_0 aA\tau_2 e^{-a\tau_2} + \frac{3W_0^2 \xi}{4\tau_1^{3/2}} + Y \right),$$

where the last term arises from the expansion of $e^{\mathcal{K}}$ and Y denotes the F-term uplifting term, which allows for a stabilization at zero vacuum energy.

With zero vacuum energy, the mass of φ is given by

$$m_{\varphi}^{2} = \mathcal{K}_{\varphi\varphi}^{-1} \frac{-\beta}{3\tau_{1}^{4}} \left(\frac{8}{3} |aA|^{2} \sqrt{\tau_{2}} \tau_{1}^{3/2} e^{-2a\tau_{2}} - 4W_{0} aA\tau_{2} e^{-a\tau_{2}} + \frac{9W_{0}^{2} \left(2\xi - 5\frac{\delta}{\beta}\right)}{4\tau_{1}^{3/2}} \right)$$

$$= -\frac{1}{3\tau_{1}^{3}} \left(V_{\min} + \frac{45W_{0}^{2} \left(\frac{\xi}{3} - \frac{\delta}{\beta}\right)}{4\tau_{1}^{3/2}} \right) \approx \frac{15W_{0}^{2} \left(\frac{\delta}{\beta} - \frac{\xi}{3}\right)}{4\tau_{1}^{9/2}}.$$
 (C.6)

Different ratios of δ/β allow for tachyonic, zero or positive masses at this order. In particular:

$$\frac{\delta}{\beta} \begin{cases} <\frac{\xi}{3} & \text{tachyonic,} \\ =\frac{\xi}{3} & \text{zero,} \\ >\frac{\xi}{3} & \text{positive.} \end{cases}$$
(C.7)

With respect to the matter metric the condition $\frac{\delta}{\beta} = \frac{\xi}{3}$ can be understood as follows: The case of vanishing masses corresponds to the following matter metric:

$$Z = \frac{\beta}{\mathcal{V}^{2/3}} \left(1 - \frac{\xi}{3\mathcal{V}} \right) \approx \frac{\beta}{\left(\mathcal{V} + \frac{\xi}{2}\right)^{2/3}} = \beta e^{\mathcal{K}/3}, \tag{C.8}$$

which is the condition found in section 6.2.3 for extreme sequestering and cancellation of scalar masses at the $1/\mathcal{V}^{3/2}$ level. Without the uplifting term, the effect of the term arising from the expansion of $e^{\mathcal{K}}$ is generally sub-leading to the other contribution since it is suppressed with $1/a\tau_2$.

For positive scalar masses we can clearly see that combining the term $m_{\varphi}^2 \varphi^2$ with the Dterm potential, both the vev of φ and the FI-term vanish at the minimum as desired. For the tachyonic case this would indicate as usual that at the minimum the scalar field and the FIterm would be non-vanishing. If φ is a field charged under the standard model gauge group this is undesirable since it would break the standard model symmetries at high energies. If the condition $\frac{\delta}{\beta} = \frac{\xi}{3}$ is satisfied the positivity of the squared scalar masses at a higher order would have to be determined.

Bibliography

- [1] H. Georgi and S. L. Glashow, "Unity of All Elementary Particle Forces," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **32** (1974) 438–441.
- [2] H. Fritzsch and P. Minkowski, "Unified Interactions of Leptons and Hadrons," Ann. Phys. 93 (1975) 193–266.
- [3] Supernova Search Team Collaboration, A. G. Riess *et al.*, "Observational Evidence from Supernovæ for an Accelerating Universe and a Cosmological Constant," *Astron. J.* 116 (1998) 1009–1038, arXiv:astro-ph/9805201.
- [4] M. B. Green, J. H. Schwarz, and E. Witten, SUPERSTRING THEORY. VOL. 1: INTRODUCTION. Cambridge Monographs On Mathematical Physics. Cambridge, Uk: Univ. Pr., 1987.
- [5] M. B. Green, J. H. Schwarz, and E. Witten, SUPERSTRING THEORY. VOL. 2: LOOP AMPLITUDES, ANOMALIES AND PHENOMENOLOGY. Cambridge Monographs On Mathematical Physics. Cambridge, Uk: Univ. Pr., 1987.
- [6] D. Lüst and S. Theisen, "Lectures on string theory," Lect. Notes Phys. 346 (1989) 1–346.
- [7] J. Polchinski, String theory. Vol. 1: An introduction to the bosonic string. Cambridge, UK: Univ. Pr., 1998.
- [8] J. Polchinski, *String theory. Vol. 2: Superstring theory and beyond.* Cambridge, UK: Univ. Pr., 1998.
- [9] B. Zwiebach, A first course in string theory. Cambridge, UK: Univ. Pr., 2004.
- [10] K. Becker, M. Becker, and J. H. Schwarz, String theory and M-theory: A modern introduction. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge Univ. Pr., 2007.
- [11] E. Kiritsis, String theory in a nutshell. Princeton, USA: Univ. Pr., 2007.
- [12] A. Strominger and C. Vafa, "Microscopic Origin of the Bekenstein-Hawking Entropy," *Phys. Lett.* B379 (1996) 99-104, arXiv:hep-th/9601029.

- [13] J. M. Maldacena, "The large N limit of superconformal field theories and supergravity," Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 231-252, arXiv:hep-th/9711200.
- [14] C. D. Hoyle et al., "Sub-millimeter tests of the gravitational inverse-square law," Phys. Rev. D70 (2004) 042004, arXiv:hep-ph/0405262.
- [15] N. Arkani-Hamed, S. Dimopoulos, and G. R. Dvali, "The hierarchy problem and new dimensions at a millimeter," *Phys. Lett.* B429 (1998) 263–272, arXiv:hep-ph/9803315.
- [16] I. Antoniadis, N. Arkani-Hamed, S. Dimopoulos, and G. R. Dvali, "New dimensions at a millimeter to a Fermi and superstrings at a TeV," *Phys. Lett.* B436 (1998) 257-263, arXiv:hep-ph/9804398.
- [17] D. Lüst, S. Stieberger, and T. R. Taylor, "The LHC String Hunter's Companion," Nucl. Phys. B808 (2009) 1-52, arXiv:0807.3333 [hep-th].
- [18] D. Lüst, O. Schlotterer, S. Stieberger, and T. R. Taylor, "The LHC String Hunter's Companion (II): Five-Particle Amplitudes and Universal Properties," *Nucl. Phys.* B828 (2010) 139-200, arXiv:0908.0409 [hep-th].
- [19] R. Bousso and J. Polchinski, "Quantization of four-form fluxes and dynamical neutralization of the cosmological constant," *JHEP* 06 (2000) 006, arXiv:hep-th/0004134.
- [20] W. Lerche, D. Lüst, and A. N. Schellekens, "Chiral Four-Dimensional Heterotic Strings from Selfdual Lattices," *Nucl. Phys.* B287 (1987) 477.
- [21] F. Gmeiner, R. Blumenhagen, G. Honecker, D. Lüst, and T. Weigand, "One in a billion: MSSM-like D-brane statistics," *JHEP* 01 (2006) 004, arXiv:hep-th/0510170.
- [22] M. R. Douglas, "The statistics of string/M theory vacua," JHEP 05 (2003) 046, arXiv:hep-th/0303194.
- [23] S. Weinberg, "Anthropic Bound on the Cosmological Constant," Phys. Rev. Lett. 59 (1987) 2607.
- [24] L. Susskind, "The anthropic landscape of string theory," arXiv:hep-th/0302219.
- [25] C. Vafa, "Evidence for F-Theory," Nucl. Phys. B469 (1996) 403-418, arXiv:hep-th/9602022.

- [26] C. Beasley, J. J. Heckman, and C. Vafa, "GUTs and Exceptional Branes in F-theory - I," JHEP 01 (2009) 058, arXiv:0802.3391 [hep-th].
- [27] C. Beasley, J. J. Heckman, and C. Vafa, "GUTs and Exceptional Branes in F-theory II: Experimental Predictions," *JHEP* 01 (2009) 059, arXiv:0806.0102 [hep-th].
- [28] R. Donagi and M. Wijnholt, "Breaking GUT Groups in F-Theory," arXiv:0808.2223 [hep-th].
- [29] S. Kachru, R. Kallosh, A. Linde, and S. P. Trivedi, "De Sitter vacua in string theory," *Phys. Rev.* D68 (2003) 046005, arXiv:hep-th/0301240.
- [30] V. Balasubramanian, P. Berglund, J. P. Conlon, and F. Quevedo, "Systematics of Moduli Stabilisation in Calabi–Yau Flux Compactifications," *JHEP* 03 (2005) 007, arXiv:hep-th/0502058.
- [31] J. P. Conlon, S. S. AbdusSalam, F. Quevedo, and K. Suruliz, "Soft SUSY breaking terms for chiral matter in IIB string compactifications," *JHEP* 01 (2007) 032, arXiv:hep-th/0610129.
- [32] J. P. Conlon, C. H. Kom, K. Suruliz, B. C. Allanach, and F. Quevedo, "Sparticle Spectra and LHC Signatures for Large Volume String Compactifications," *JHEP* 08 (2007) 061, arXiv:0704.3403 [hep-ph].
- [33] L. Aparicio, D. G. Cerdeño, and L. E. Ibáñez, "Modulus-dominated SUSY-breaking soft terms in F-theory and their test at LHC," JHEP 07 (2008) 099, arXiv:0805.2943 [hep-ph].
- [34] R. Blumenhagen, M. Cvetič, and T. Weigand, "Spacetime instanton corrections in 4D string vacua—the seesaw mechanism for D-brane models," *Nucl. Phys.* B771 (2007) 113-142, arXiv:hep-th/0609191.
- [35] R. Blumenhagen, M. Cvetič, S. Kachru, and T. Weigand, "D-brane Instantons in Type II String Theory," arXiv:0902.3251 [hep-th].
- [36] R. Blumenhagen, S. Moster, and E. Plauschinn, "Moduli Stabilisation versus Chirality for MSSM like Type IIB Orientifolds," JHEP 01 (2008) 058, arXiv:0711.3389 [hep-th].
- [37] R. Blumenhagen, S. Moster, and E. Plauschinn, "String GUT Scenarios with Stabilised Moduli," *Phys. Rev.* D78 (2008) 066008, arXiv:0806.2667 [hep-th].

- [38] R. Blumenhagen, J. P. Conlon, S. Krippendorf, S. Moster, and F. Quevedo, "SUSY Breaking in Local String/F-Theory Models," *JHEP* 09 (2009) 007, arXiv:0906.3297 [hep-th].
- [39] F. Gliozzi, J. Scherk, and D. I. Olive, "Supergravity and the Spinor Dual Model," *Phys. Lett.* B65 (1976) 282.
- [40] F. Gliozzi, J. Scherk, and D. I. Olive, "Supersymmetry, Supergravity Theories and the Dual Spinor Model," *Nucl. Phys.* B122 (1977) 253–290.
- [41] M. Fukuma, T. Oota, and H. Tanaka, "Comments on T-dualities of Ramond-Ramond potentials on tori," *Prog. Theor. Phys.* 103 (2000) 425-446, arXiv:hep-th/9907132.
- [42] E. Bergshoeff, R. Kallosh, T. Ortín, D. Roest, and A. Van Proeyen, "New Formulations of D = 10 Supersymmetry and D8-O8 Domain Walls," *Class. Quant. Grav.* 18 (2001) 3359-3382, arXiv:hep-th/0103233.
- [43] L. Randall and R. Sundrum, "An alternative to compactification," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 83 (1999) 4690-4693, arXiv:hep-th/9906064.
- [44] J. Michelson, "Compactifications of type IIB strings to four dimensions with non-trivial classical potential," Nucl. Phys. B495 (1997) 127-148, arXiv:hep-th/9610151.
- [45] G. Dall'Agata, "Type IIB supergravity compactified on a Calabi-Yau manifold with H-fluxes," JHEP 11 (2001) 005, arXiv:hep-th/0107264.
- [46] J. Louis and A. Micu, "Type II theories compactified on Calabi-Yau threefolds in the presence of background fluxes," *Nucl. Phys.* B635 (2002) 395-431, arXiv:hep-th/0202168.
- [47] M. Bodner and A. C. Cadavid, "DIMENSIONAL REDUCTION OF TYPE IIB SUPERGRAVITY AND EXCEPTIONAL QUATERNIONIC MANIFOLDS," *Class. Quant. Grav.* 7 (1990) 829.
- [48] R. Böhm, H. Günther, C. Herrmann, and J. Louis, "Compactification of type IIB string theory on Calabi-Yau threefolds," *Nucl. Phys.* B569 (2000) 229-246, arXiv:hep-th/9908007.
- [49] S. Ferrara and S. S. Sabharwal, "DIMENSIONAL REDUCTION OF TYPE II SUPERSTRINGS," *Class. Quant. Grav.* 6 (1989) L77.

- [50] S. Ferrara and S. S. Sabharwal, "Quaternionic Manifolds for Type II Superstring Vacua of Calabi–Yau Spaces," *Nucl. Phys.* B332 (1990) 317.
- [51] B. de Wit, D.-J. Smit, and N. D. Hari Dass, "Residual Supersymmetry of Compactified D = 10 Supergravity," Nucl. Phys. B283 (1987) 165.
- [52] J. M. Maldacena and C. Nuñez, "Supergravity description of field theories on curved manifolds and a no go theorem," Int. J. Mod. Phys. A16 (2001) 822-855, arXiv:hep-th/0007018.
- [53] S. B. Giddings, S. Kachru, and J. Polchinski, "Hierarchies from fluxes in string compactifications," *Phys. Rev.* D66 (2002) 106006, arXiv:hep-th/0105097.
- [54] A. Dabholkar and J. Park, "Strings on Orientifolds," Nucl. Phys. B477 (1996) 701-714, arXiv:hep-th/9604178.
- [55] A. Sen, "F-theory and Orientifolds," Nucl. Phys. B475 (1996) 562-578, arXiv:hep-th/9605150.
- [56] B. S. Acharya, M. Aganagic, K. Hori, and C. Vafa, "Orientifolds, mirror symmetry and superpotentials," arXiv:hep-th/0202208.
- [57] I. Brunner and K. Hori, "Orientifolds and mirror symmetry," JHEP 11 (2004) 005, arXiv:hep-th/0303135.
- [58] I. Brunner, K. Hori, K. Hosomichi, and J. Walcher, "Orientifolds of Gepner models," JHEP 02 (2007) 001, arXiv:hep-th/0401137.
- [59] T. W. Grimm and J. Louis, "The effective action of N = 1 Calabi-Yau orientifolds," Nucl. Phys. B699 (2004) 387-426, arXiv:hep-th/0403067.
- [60] S. Gukov, C. Vafa, and E. Witten, "CFT's from Calabi-Yau four-folds," Nucl. Phys. B584 (2000) 69-108, arXiv:hep-th/9906070.
- [61] E. Cremmer, S. Ferrara, C. Kounnas, and D. V. Nanopoulos, "Naturally Vanishing Cosmological Constant in N=1 Supergravity," *Phys. Lett.* B133 (1983) 61.
- [62] J. R. Ellis, A. B. Lahanas, D. V. Nanopoulos, and K. Tamvakis, "No-Scale Supersymmetric Standard Model," *Phys. Lett.* B134 (1984) 429.
- [63] J. Dai, R. G. Leigh, and J. Polchinski, "New Connections Between String Theories," Mod. Phys. Lett. A4 (1989) 2073–2083.
- [64] J. Polchinski, "Dirichlet-Branes and Ramond-Ramond Charges," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 75 (1995) 4724–4727, arXiv:hep-th/9510017.

- [65] K. Becker, M. Becker, and A. Strominger, "Five-branes, membranes and nonperturbative string theory," *Nucl. Phys.* B456 (1995) 130–152, arXiv:hep-th/9507158.
- [66] A. Collinucci, F. Denef, and M. Esole, "D-brane Deconstructions in IIB Orientifolds," JHEP 02 (2009) 005, arXiv:0805.1573 [hep-th].
- [67] E. Plauschinn, "The Generalized Green-Schwarz Mechanism for Type IIB Orientifolds with D3- and D7-Branes," arXiv:0811.2804 [hep-th].
- [68] D. S. Freed and E. Witten, "Anomalies in string theory with D-branes," arXiv:hep-th/9907189.
- [69] M. Billó et al., "Classical gauge instantons from open strings," JHEP 02 (2003) 045, arXiv:hep-th/0211250.
- [70] L. E. Ibáñez and A. M. Uranga, "Neutrino Majorana masses from string theory instanton effects," JHEP 03 (2007) 052, arXiv:hep-th/0609213.
- [71] M. Cvetič and T. Weigand, "Hierarchies from D-brane instantons in globally defined Calabi-Yau Orientifolds," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 100 (2008) 251601, arXiv:0711.0209 [hep-th].
- [72] M. Buican, D. Malyshev, D. R. Morrison, H. L. Verlinde, and M. Wijnholt,
 "D-branes at singularities, compactification, and hypercharge," *JHEP* 01 (2007) 107, arXiv:hep-th/0610007.
- [73] L. E. Ibáñez and A. M. Uranga, "Instanton Induced Open String Superpotentials and Branes at Singularities," JHEP 02 (2008) 103, arXiv:0711.1316 [hep-th].
- [74] R. Blumenhagen, M. Cvetič, D. Lüst, R. Richter, and T. Weigand,
 "Non-perturbative Yukawa Couplings from String Instantons," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 100 (2008) 061602, arXiv:0707.1871 [hep-th].
- [75] R. Blumenhagen, V. Braun, T. W. Grimm, and T. Weigand, "GUTs in Type IIB Orientifold Compactifications," *Nucl. Phys.* B815 (2009) 1-94, arXiv:0811.2936 [hep-th].
- [76] N. Åkerblom, R. Blumenhagen, D. Lüst, E. Plauschinn, and
 M. Schmidt-Sommerfeld, "Non-perturbative SQCD Superpotentials from String Instantons," *JHEP* 04 (2007) 076, arXiv:hep-th/0612132.

- [77] M. Bianchi and E. Kiritsis, "Non-perturbative and Flux superpotentials for Type I strings on the Z₃ orbifold," *Nucl. Phys.* B782 (2007) 26–50, arXiv:hep-th/0702015.
- [78] R. Argurio, M. Bertolini, G. Ferretti, A. Lerda, and C. Petersson, "Stringy Instantons at Orbifold Singularities," JHEP 06 (2007) 067, arXiv:0704.0262 [hep-th].
- [79] M. Bianchi, F. Fucito, and J. F. Morales, "D-brane Instantons on the T⁶/Z₃ orientifold," JHEP 07 (2007) 038, arXiv:0704.0784 [hep-th].
- [80] E. Witten, "Non-Perturbative Superpotentials In String Theory," Nucl. Phys. B474 (1996) 343-360, arXiv:hep-th/9604030.
- [81] P. K. Tripathy and S. P. Trivedi, "D3 Brane Action and Fermion Zero Modes in Presence of Background Flux," JHEP 06 (2005) 066, arXiv:hep-th/0503072.
- [82] E. Bergshoeff, R. Kallosh, A.-K. Kashani-Poor, D. Sorokin, and A. Tomasiello, "An index for the Dirac operator on D3 branes with background fluxes," *JHEP* 10 (2005) 102, arXiv:hep-th/0507069.
- [83] J. Park, "D3 instantons in Calabi-Yau orientifolds with(out) fluxes," arXiv:hep-th/0507091.
- [84] D. Lüst, S. Reffert, W. Schulgin, and P. K. Tripathy, "Fermion Zero Modes in the Presence of Fluxes and a Non-perturbative Superpotential," JHEP 08 (2006) 071, arXiv:hep-th/0509082.
- [85] R. Blumenhagen, M. Cvetič, R. Richter, and T. Weigand, "Lifting D-Instanton Zero Modes by Recombination and Background Fluxes," *JHEP* 10 (2007) 098, arXiv:0708.0403 [hep-th].
- [86] S. Kachru, J. Pearson, and H. L. Verlinde, "Brane/Flux Annihilation and the String Dual of a Non-Supersymmetric Field Theory," JHEP 06 (2002) 021, arXiv:hep-th/0112197.
- [87] K. Becker, M. Becker, M. Haack, and J. Louis, "Supersymmetry breaking and α' -corrections to flux induced potentials," *JHEP* 06 (2002) 060, arXiv:hep-th/0204254.
- [88] M. B. Green, "Interconnections between type II superstrings, M theory and N = 4 Yang-Mills," arXiv:hep-th/9903124.
- [89] K. Bobkov, "Volume stabilization via α' corrections in type IIB theory with fluxes," JHEP 05 (2005) 010, arXiv:hep-th/0412239.

- [90] C. P. Burgess, R. Kallosh, and F. Quevedo, "de Sitter String Vacua from Supersymmetric D-terms," JHEP 10 (2003) 056, arXiv:hep-th/0309187.
- [91] F. Denef, M. R. Douglas, and B. Florea, "Building a better racetrack," JHEP 06 (2004) 034, arXiv:hep-th/0404257.
- [92] K. Benakli, "Phenomenology of low quantum gravity scale models," *Phys. Rev.* D60 (1999) 104002, arXiv:hep-ph/9809582.
- [93] C. P. Burgess, L. E. Ibáñez, and F. Quevedo, "Strings at the intermediate scale or is the Fermi scale dual to the Planck scale?," *Phys. Lett.* B447 (1999) 257-265, arXiv:hep-ph/9810535.
- [94] M. Berg, M. Haack, and B. Körs, "String loop corrections to Kähler potentials in orientifolds," JHEP 11 (2005) 030, arXiv:hep-th/0508043.
- [95] M. Berg, M. Haack, and E. Pajer, "Jumping Through Loops: On Soft Terms from Large Volume Compactifications," JHEP 09 (2007) 031, arXiv:0704.0737 [hep-th].
- [96] M. Cicoli, J. P. Conlon, and F. Quevedo, "Systematics of String Loop Corrections in Type IIB Calabi-Yau Flux Compactifications," *JHEP* 01 (2008) 052, arXiv:0708.1873 [hep-th].
- [97] G. Curio and V. Spillner, "On the modified KKLT procedure: A case study for the $\mathbb{P}_{11169}[18]$ model," Int. J. Mod. Phys. A22 (2007) 3463-3492, arXiv:hep-th/0606047.
- [98] J. P. Conlon, F. Quevedo, and K. Suruliz, "Large-volume flux compactifications: Moduli spectrum and D3/D7 soft supersymmetry breaking," JHEP 08 (2005) 007, arXiv:hep-th/0505076.
- [99] J. P. Conlon, D. Cremades, and F. Quevedo, "Kähler potentials of chiral matter fields for Calabi-Yau string compactifications," JHEP 01 (2007) 022, arXiv:hep-th/0609180.
- [100] V. S. Kaplunovsky and J. Louis, "Model independent analysis of soft terms in effective supergravity and in string theory," *Phys. Lett.* B306 (1993) 269–275, arXiv:hep-th/9303040.
- [101] A. Brignole, L. E. Ibáñez, and C. Muñoz, "Soft supersymmetry-breaking terms from supergravity and superstring models," arXiv:hep-ph/9707209.

- [102] L. Randall and R. Sundrum, "Out of this world supersymmetry breaking," Nucl. Phys. B557 (1999) 79-118, arXiv:hep-th/9810155.
- [103] J. A. Bagger, T. Moroi, and E. Poppitz, "Anomaly mediation in supergravity theories," *JHEP* 04 (2000) 009, arXiv:hep-th/9911029.
- [104] M. K. Gaillard and B. D. Nelson, "Quantum induced soft supersymmetry breaking in supergravity," Nucl. Phys. B588 (2000) 197-212, arXiv:hep-th/0004170.
- [105] P. Binétruy, M. K. Gaillard, and B. D. Nelson, "One loop soft supersymmetry breaking terms in superstring effective theories," *Nucl. Phys.* B604 (2001) 32–74, arXiv:hep-ph/0011081.
- [106] J. P. Conlon and F. Quevedo, "Kähler moduli inflation," JHEP 01 (2006) 146, arXiv:hep-th/0509012.
- [107] J. P. Conlon and F. Quevedo, "Astrophysical and Cosmological Implications of Large Volume String Compactifications," JCAP 0708 (2007) 019, arXiv:0705.3460 [hep-ph].
- [108] M. Endo, K. Hamaguchi, and F. Takahashi, "Moduli-induced gravitino problem," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 96 (2006) 211301, arXiv:hep-ph/0602061.
- [109] S. Nakamura and M. Yamaguchi, "Gravitino production from heavy moduli decay and cosmological moduli problem revived," *Phys. Lett.* B638 (2006) 389–395, arXiv:hep-ph/0602081.
- [110] D. H. Lyth and E. D. Stewart, "Thermal inflation and the moduli problem," *Phys. Rev.* D53 (1996) 1784–1798, arXiv:hep-ph/9510204.
- [111] V. Braun, Y.-H. He, B. A. Ovrut, and T. Pantev, "The exact MSSM spectrum from string theory," JHEP 05 (2006) 043, arXiv:hep-th/0512177.
- [112] R. Blumenhagen, S. Moster, R. Reinbacher, and T. Weigand, "Massless spectra of three generation U(N) heterotic string vacua," *JHEP* 05 (2007) 041, arXiv:hep-th/0612039.
- [113] L. E. Ibáñez, A. N. Schellekens, and A. M. Uranga, "Instanton Induced Neutrino Majorana Masses in CFT Orientifolds with MSSM-like spectra," JHEP 06 (2007) 011, arXiv:0704.1079 [hep-th].
- [114] I. García-Etxebarria and A. M. Uranga, "Non-perturbative superpotentials across lines of marginal stability," *JHEP* 01 (2008) 033, arXiv:0711.1430 [hep-th].

- [115] C. Petersson, "Superpotentials From Stringy Instantons Without Orientifolds," *JHEP* 05 (2008) 078, arXiv:0711.1837 [hep-th].
- [116] M. Haack, D. Krefl, D. Lüst, A. Van Proeyen, and M. Zagermann, "Gaugino condensates and D-terms from D7-branes," *JHEP* 01 (2007) 078, arXiv:hep-th/0609211.
- [117] M. P. García del Moral, "A new mechanism of Kähler moduli stabilization in type IIB theory," JHEP 04 (2006) 022, arXiv:hep-th/0506116.
- [118] T. Maillard, "Toward metastable string vacua from magnetized branes," arXiv:0708.0823 [hep-th].
- [119] E. Dudas and S. K. Vempati, "Large D-terms, hierarchical soft spectra and moduli stabilisation," Nucl. Phys. B727 (2005) 139-162, arXiv:hep-th/0506172.
- [120] G. Villadoro and F. Zwirner, "de Sitter vacua via consistent D-terms," Phys. Rev. Lett. 95 (2005) 231602, arXiv:hep-th/0508167.
- [121] A. Achúcarro, B. de Carlos, J. A. Casas, and L. Doplicher, "de Sitter vacua from uplifting D-terms in effective supergravities from realistic strings," JHEP 06 (2006) 014, arXiv:hep-th/0601190.
- [122] J. P. Conlon, "Moduli stabilisation and applications in IIB string theory," Fortsch. Phys. 55 (2007) 287-422, arXiv:hep-th/0611039.
- [123] A.-K. Kashani-Poor and A. Tomasiello, "A stringy test of flux-induced isometry gauging," Nucl. Phys. B728 (2005) 135-147, arXiv:hep-th/0505208.
- [124] B. Florea, S. Kachru, J. McGreevy, and N. Saulina, "Stringy Instantons and Quiver Gauge Theories," JHEP 05 (2007) 024, arXiv:hep-th/0610003.
- [125] J. P. Conlon, "The QCD axion and moduli stabilisation," JHEP 05 (2006) 078, arXiv:hep-th/0602233.
- [126] N. Arkani-Hamed and S. Dimopoulos, "Supersymmetric unification without low energy supersymmetry and signatures for fine-tuning at the LHC," JHEP 06 (2005) 073, arXiv:hep-th/0405159.
- [127] O. DeWolfe, A. Giryavets, S. Kachru, and W. Taylor, "Enumerating flux vacua with enhanced symmetries," *JHEP* 02 (2005) 037, arXiv:hep-th/0411061.
- [128] N. V. Krasnikov, "On Supersymmetry Breaking in Superstring Theories," *Phys. Lett.* B193 (1987) 37–40.

- [129] J. A. Casas, Z. Lalak, C. Muñoz, and G. G. Ross, "HIERARCHICAL SUPERSYMMETRY BREAKING AND DYNAMICAL DETERMINATION OF COMPACTIFICATION PARAMETERS BY NONPERTURBATIVE EFFECTS," *Nucl. Phys.* B347 (1990) 243–269.
- [130] P. G. Cámara, E. Dudas, T. Maillard, and G. Pradisi, "String instantons, fluxes and moduli stabilization," *Nucl. Phys.* B795 (2008) 453–489, arXiv:0710.3080 [hep-th].
- [131] N. Åkerblom, R. Blumenhagen, D. Lüst, and M. Schmidt-Sommerfeld, "Instantons and Holomorphic Couplings in Intersecting D-brane Models," *JHEP* 08 (2007) 044, arXiv:0705.2366 [hep-th].
- [132] R. Blumenhagen and M. Schmidt-Sommerfeld, "Power Towers of String Instantons for N = 1 Vacua," *JHEP* 07 (2008) 027, arXiv:0803.1562 [hep-th].
- [133] T. W. Grimm, "Non-Perturbative Corrections and Modularity in N = 1 Type IIB Compactifications," *JHEP* 10 (2007) 004, arXiv:0705.3253 [hep-th].
- [134] I. R. Klebanov and M. J. Strassler, "Supergravity and a confining gauge theory: Duality cascades and χ SB-resolution of naked singularities," *JHEP* 08 (2000) 052, arXiv:hep-th/0007191.
- [135] M. Cicoli, J. P. Conlon, and F. Quevedo, "General Analysis of LARGE Volume Scenarios with String Loop Moduli Stabilisation," JHEP 10 (2008) 105, arXiv:0805.1029 [hep-th].
- [136] K. Choi, A. Falkowski, H. P. Nilles, and M. Olechowski, "Soft supersymmetry breaking in KKLT flux compactification," *Nucl. Phys.* B718 (2005) 113–133, arXiv:hep-th/0503216.
- [137] I. Antoniadis and S. Dimopoulos, "Splitting supersymmetry in string theory," Nucl. Phys. B715 (2005) 120-140, arXiv:hep-th/0411032.
- [138] J. P. Conlon and F. Quevedo, "Gaugino and scalar masses in the landscape," JHEP 06 (2006) 029, arXiv:hep-th/0605141.
- [139] M. Endo, M. Yamaguchi, and K. Yoshioka, "A bottom-up approach to moduli dynamics in heavy gravitino scenario: Superpotential, soft terms and sparticle mass spectrum," *Phys. Rev.* D72 (2005) 015004, arXiv:hep-ph/0504036.
- [140] K. Choi, K.-S. Jeong, and K.-I. Okumura, "Phenomenology of mixed modulus-anomaly mediation in fluxed string compactifications and brane models," *JHEP* 09 (2005) 039, arXiv:hep-ph/0504037.

- [141] K. Choi and H. P. Nilles, "The gaugino code," JHEP 04 (2007) 006, arXiv:hep-ph/0702146.
- [142] G. F. Giudice and A. Masiero, "A Natural Solution to the μ -Problem in Supergravity Theories," *Phys. Lett.* **B206** (1988) 480–484.
- [143] K. Choi, "String or M theory axion as a quintessence," *Phys. Rev.* D62 (2000) 043509, arXiv:hep-ph/9902292.
- [144] P. Svrček, "Cosmological constant and axions in string theory," arXiv:hep-th/0607086.
- [145] L. Randall and R. Sundrum, "A large mass hierarchy from a small extra dimension," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 83 (1999) 3370–3373, arXiv:hep-ph/9905221.
- [146] G. Aldazabal, L. E. Ibáñez, F. Quevedo, and A. M. Uranga, "D-branes at singularities: A bottom-up approach to the string embedding of the standard model," *JHEP* 08 (2000) 002, arXiv:hep-th/0005067.
- [147] J. P. Conlon, A. Maharana, and F. Quevedo, "Towards Realistic String Vacua," JHEP 05 (2009) 109, arXiv:0810.5660 [hep-th].
- [148] R. Donagi and M. Wijnholt, "Model Building with F-Theory," arXiv:0802.2969 [hep-th].
- [149] R. Donagi and M. Wijnholt, "Higgs Bundles and UV Completion in F-Theory," arXiv:0904.1218 [hep-th].
- [150] J. Marsano, N. Saulina, and S. Schäfer-Nameki, "F-theory Compactifications for Supersymmetric GUTs," arXiv:0904.3932 [hep-th].
- [151] A. Collinucci, "New F-theory lifts II: Permutation orientifolds and enhanced singularities," arXiv:0906.0003 [hep-th].
- [152] R. Blumenhagen, T. W. Grimm, B. Jurke, and T. Weigand, "F-theory uplifts and GUTs," arXiv:0906.0013 [hep-th].
- [153] J. J. Heckman, J. Marsano, N. Saulina, S. Schäfer-Nameki, and C. Vafa, "Instantons and SUSY breaking in F-theory," arXiv:0808.1286 [hep-th].
- [154] J. J. Heckman and C. Vafa, "F-theory, GUTs, and the Weak Scale," arXiv:0809.1098 [hep-th].
- [155] R. Blumenhagen, "Gauge Coupling Unification in F-Theory Grand Unified Theories," *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 102 (2009) 071601, arXiv:0812.0248 [hep-th].

- [156] L. J. Dixon, V. S. Kaplunovsky, and J. Louis, "Moduli dependence of string loop corrections to gauge coupling constants," *Nucl. Phys.* B355 (1991) 649–688.
- [157] J. P. Conlon, "Gauge Threshold Corrections for Local String Models," JHEP 04 (2009) 059, arXiv:0901.4350 [hep-th].
- [158] J. P. Conlon and E. Palti, "Gauge Threshold Corrections for Local Orientifolds," arXiv:0906.1920 [hep-th].
- [159] M. Cvetič and T. Weigand, "A string theoretic model of gauge mediated supersymmetry beaking," arXiv:0807.3953 [hep-th].
- [160] E. Dudas, Y. Mambrini, S. Pokorski, A. Romagnoni, and M. Trapletti, "Gauge vs. Gravity mediation in models with anomalous U(1)'s," *JHEP* 03 (2009) 011, arXiv:0809.5064 [hep-th].
- [161] D. Green and T. Weigand, "Retrofitting and the μ Problem," arXiv:0906.0595 [hep-th].
- [162] L. Anguelova, V. Calò, and M. Cicoli, "LARGE Volume String Compactifications at Finite Temperature," arXiv:0904.0051 [hep-th].
- [163] J. D. Wells, "Implications of supersymmetry breaking with a little hierarchy between gauginos and scalars," arXiv:hep-ph/0306127.
- [164] J. D. Wells, "PeV-scale supersymmetry," *Phys. Rev.* D71 (2005) 015013, arXiv:hep-ph/0411041.
- [165] S. P. de Alwis, "Mediation of Supersymmetry Breaking in a Class of String Theory Models," JHEP 03 (2009) 023, arXiv:0806.2672 [hep-th].
- [166] S. P. de Alwis, "String phenomenology and the cosmological constant," *Phys. Lett.* B647 (2007) 194-199, arXiv:hep-th/0607148.
- [167] R. Kallosh and A. Linde, "Landscape, the scale of SUSY breaking, and inflation," JHEP 12 (2004) 004, arXiv:hep-th/0411011.
- [168] J. P. Conlon, R. Kallosh, A. Linde, and F. Quevedo, "Volume Modulus Inflation and the Gravitino Mass Problem," JCAP 0809 (2008) 011, arXiv:0806.0809 [hep-th].
- [169] M. Kreuzer and H. Skarke, "Complete classification of reflexive polyhedra in four dimensions," Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 4 (2002) 1209–1230, arXiv:hep-th/0002240.

- [170] J. Distler, B. R. Greene, and D. R. Morrison, "Resolving singularities in
 (0,2) models," *Nucl. Phys.* B481 (1996) 289-312, arXiv:hep-th/9605222.
- [171] R. Blumenhagen, "Target space duality for (0, 2) compactifications," Nucl. Phys. B513 (1998) 573-590, arXiv:hep-th/9707198.
- [172] J. F. G. Cascales, M. P. García del Moral, F. Quevedo, and A. M. Uranga, "Realistic D-brane models on warped throats: Fluxes, hierarchies and moduli stabilization," *JHEP* 02 (2004) 031, arXiv:hep-th/0312051.

Acknowledgments

I am indebted to Ralph Blumenhagen for supervising this thesis, the excellent support and the innumerable, informative discussions. Likewise I want to thank Dieter Lüst for his constant support and for agreeing to act as second referee for this thesis.

I am very grateful to Joe Conlon, Fernando Quevedo and Sven Krippendorf for the fruitful and interesting collaboration during the last period of my PhD. For work done in the beginning of my PhD not covered in this thesis, I want to thank my collaborators Timo Weigand and René Reinbacher.

For their patience in answering my questions I want to thank the string theory group leaders at the MPI Johanna Erdmenger, Stephan Stieberger and Marco Zagermann.

I am happy to thank all my colleagues, room mates and friends at the Max-Planck-Institute, making the last years so enjoyable. These are Martin Ammon, Daniel Härtl, Benjamin Jurke, René Meyer, Felix Rust and Oliver Schlotterer. Three people I want to mention in particular are my colleagues Nikolas Åkerblom, Maximilian Schmidt-Sommerfeld and Erik Plauschinn to whom I owe in addition lots of physical insights.

Special thanks go to Simon Schweizer for very useful hints on typography an LATEX.